
1 | P a g e  
The Village of Caledonia complies with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA). All meetings are wheelchair accessible.  

Contact the Village Clerk for special accommodations at 262-835-6414. 

 
  

   
PARK & RECREATION ADVISORY COMMITTEE MEETING 

Tuesday, February 11, 2025 at 5:00 p.m. 
Caledonia Village Hall - 5043 Chester Lane 

Caledonia, WI 53402 
 

1. Meeting called to order 
 

2. Approval of Minutes: Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee – January 14, 2025 
 
3. Public Comment – Provides a two-minute opportunity for citizens to voice opinions to the Park & 

Recreation Advisory Committee.  The Committee cannot respond as this may conflict with open 
meeting requirements. 
 

4. New Business 
A. A Park and Open Space Plan for the Village of Caledonia 2050: Review and consider a 

recommendation to approve the updated Park and Open Space Plan. 
B. Review and Discuss Chapla Park Prairie Conversion.  

 
5. Continuing Business 

A. Review and Discuss Crawford Park Phase III. 
 
6. Adjournment 



 

Park & Recreation Advisory Committee – Minutes Page 1 of 2 
 

Park & Recreation Advisory Committee Meeting 
January 14, 2025 

1 - Order 
Meeting called to order by Trustee McManus at 5:00 p.m. 

PRESENT: 5 – Trustee McManus, Trustee Lambrecht, Eugene Pagel, Larry Pedrazoli, Tom 
Dovorany 

ABSENT:  1 – Christian De Jong (unexcused) 

STAFF/OTHER:    Village Engineer Ryan Schmidt, Development Director Pete Wagner, Trustee 
Dale Stillman, Village President Tom Weatherston, Brian Walter (SEWRPC), 
Kendall Johnson (SEWRPC) 

 
2 – Approval of Minutes from November 12, 2024 

Motion to approve the Minutes from November 12, 2024 made by Eugene Pagel. Seconded 
by Larry Pedrazoli. Motion carried unanimously.  

 
3 - Public comment –  

The following people appeared to speak before the Committee: 
None 

 
4 – New Business 

A. Discuss Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee Member Position 
Trustee McManus updated the group as to the recent passing of member Carl Garnetzke 
and that the parks position is now open for applications. No motion required. 

 
B. Review and Discuss Oak Creek Zone Baseball Park Use Agreement – Gorney 

Park 
Staff presented a memorandum and draft Park Use Agreement for the east diamond at 
Gorney Park by Oak Creek Zone Baseball. Applicant could not make it and staff presented 
that the team is actually made up of 11/12 players being from the greater Racine area – 3 
from Caledonia specifically. Minor discussion amongst the committee and staff 
recommended approval.  
 
Motion was made by Trustee Lambrecht to recommend to the Village Board to approve 
the Park Use Agreement for Oak Creek Zone Baseball for the use of the East Diamond at 
Gorney Park in 2025. Seconded by Eugene Pagel. All aye. 

 
C. Review and Discuss St. Catherines High School Park Use Agreement – Crawford 

Park 
Staff presented a memorandum and draft Park Use Agreement for the Crawford Park’s ball 
diamonds by St. Catherine’s High School. Applicant could not make it and staff presented 
that this was the return of a successful program run at Crawford in 2024 and that most 
information is the same as last year. Minor discussion amongst the committee and staff 
recommended approval.  
 



 

Park & Recreation Advisory Committee – Minutes Page 2 of 2 
 

Motion was made by Trustee Lambrecht to recommend to the Village Board to approve 
the Park Use Agreement for St. Catherine’s High School Softball for the use of Crawford 
Park’s LCpl Daniel R. Wyatt Ballpark. Seconded by Eugene Pagel. All aye. 

 
D. Review and Discuss the Park and Open Space Plan Chapter 5 
Brian Walter with SEWRPC presented the Chapter 5 slide show presentation to the 
committee summarizing the previous meetings discussion and the information provided in 
the draft chapter 5. Development Director Wagner added the anticipated timeline for the 
committee and further explained the functionality of the POSP. No motion required. 

 
E. Review and Discuss Crawford Park Phase III 
Staff provided an update to the design features and progress of the Phase III project which 
includes the access road, parking lot, and pickleball courts. Minor discussion occurred 
amongst the committee regarding lighting, pickleball, fencing, and more. No motion 
required.  

 
5 – Continuing Business 

A. Crawford Park Mass Grading – Project Update 
Staff presented a very brief update. Project was rained out in 2024 and needs asphalt paving 
and restoration.  Will be completed in 2025 spring/summer. No motion is required and no 
longer will be placed on future agenda.   

 
B. Review and Discuss Condition of Public Park at 5 Mile Road and Waters Edge 

Drive. 
Staff updated the committee on the residential concern regarding trees in the new Waters 
Edge Park. No trees on the Village’s property were determined to be a hazard to public 
safety or a drainage concern and are part of the natural ecosystem.  Staff will address trees 
on their property when safety or drainage becomes a concern. No motion required. 

 
C. Review and Discuss Park Advertising – Crawford Park Outfield Signs. 
Staff presented the committee with the advertising program that started in 2018 and was 
postponed during 2020 when COVID hit. Staff provided a draft form that was used in the 
past and updated the committee of plans to bring the program back in 2025. Minor 
discussion amongst the committee.  No motion required. 

 
D. Review and Discuss Park Signage. 
Staff updated the committee about a damaged park sign at Maple Park. The Parks 
Department will repair the sign as required with updated logos as designated by the Village 
Board. All Park Signs have old logos that do not meet the new requirement and will 
eventually need updating. Staff presented this as an opportunity for the committee in the 
future to provide uniform updated signage. Minor discussion amongst the committee 
members about types of signs. No motion required.  
 

6 – Adjournment 
Trustee McManus adjourned the meeting at 5:54pm with no more items on the agenda. 



276090 – V. Caledonia POSP Preliminary Review Draft 
110-1262 
BMW 
2/6/2025 
 
 

 
PRELIMINARY DRAFT 

 
 

 

 

Community Assistance Planning Report No. 179 (4th Edition) 
 
 

A PARK AND OPEN SPACE PLAN FOR THE 
VILLAGE OF CALEDONIA: 2050 

 
 

 

 

 
Prepared by the 

 

Southeastern Wisconsin Regional Planning Commission 
W239 N1812 Rockwood Drive 

P.O. Box 1607 
Waukesha, WI 53187-1607 

www.sewrpc.org 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

February 2025 
  

http://www.sewrpc.org/


 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 2 

WD 271814-8 – V. Caledonia POSP Ch. 1 Text 
110-1262 
BMW/RMB 
2/5/2025; 1/30/2025; 9/3/2024; 8/9/2024 
 
 

Community Assistance Planning Report No. 179 (4th Edition) 

A PARK AND OPEN SPACE PLAN FOR THE VILLAGE OF CALEDONIA: 2050 

 
 

Chapter 1 
 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 
 
 

1.1 INTRODUCTION 

The park and open space plan for the Village of Caledonia serves as a strategic guide for developing, designing, and 

managing a system of parks and natural areas within the Village. The plan aims to enhance the quality of life and 

foster a vibrant and healthy community by providing recreational opportunities for residents and visitors and 

ensuring that green spaces are accessible, functional, and sustainable. A comprehensive system of parks and open 

space lands provides numerous community benefits, including opportunities for social interaction, promoting 

physical health and mental well-being, protecting natural resources, attracting tourism and development, and 

potentially increasing property values. 

  

Recognizing the importance of outdoor recreation1 and natural resource protection, this fourth edition of the 

Village’s plan promotes environmental stewardship and assesses current and future needs for parks, open spaces, 

and outdoor recreation in the Village. Recreational preferences vary between individuals, demographic groups, and 

geographic areas. The recommendations outlined in the plan will guide the preservation, acquisition, and 

development of park and open space lands in alignment with Caledonia’s unique characteristics and specific needs. 

Implementing the plan will ensure that the Village offers diverse recreational sites and facilities tailored to the 

community’s preferences while protecting and enhancing the Village’s natural resources. 

 

 

 
1 In the context of this report, recreation is considered as including only typically outdoor recreational activities. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 3 

1.2 PLANNING FRAMEWORK 

Regional and County Park and Open Space Planning 
On December 1, 1977, the Southeastern Wisconsin Regional Planning Commission (Commission) adopted a 

Regional Park and Open Space Plan2 that identifies existing and probable future park and open space needs within 

the Region and recommends a system of large resource-oriented parks, recreational corridors, a regional trail 

system, smaller nonresource-oriented urban parks, and attendant recreational facilities. County-level plans, adopted 

as amendments to the regional park and open space plan, refined and detailed the analysis and recommendations. 

The first Racine County Park and Open Space Plan was prepared in 1988 and was subsequently updated in 2001 

and 2012.3 Recommendations from the County plan that are related to the Village are summarized in Chapter 4 of 

this report. 

 

Village Plans 
 

Village Comprehensive Plan 
The Town of Caledonia, which incorporated as a Village in November 2005, adopted a land use plan in 1999 and 

neighborhood plans that refined and detailed the land use plan in 2006. In 2009, the Village adopted the Multi-

Jurisdictional Comprehensive Plan for Racine County,4 which incorporated the Village land use plan, as the Village’s 

comprehensive plan. Chapter 4 provides additional information regarding plans that provided a framework for this 

park and open space plan . 

 

Village Park and Open Space Plans 
The first edition of this park and open space plan, adopted in 1989, was created for the Town of Caledonia with a 

design year of 2010. The Town Board adopted update to the plan,5 with a design year of 2020, in April 2000. After 

 
2 SEWRPC Planning Report No. 27, A Regional Park and Open Space Plan for Southeastern Wisconsin: 2000, November 1977. 

3 SEWRPC Community Assistance Planning Report No. 134, 3rd Edition, A Park and Open Space Plan for Racine County, Wisconsin, 

February 2013, has a design year of 2035 and was adopted as an amendment to the regional park plan by the Commission in 

March 2013. 

4 SEWRPC Community Assistance Planning Report No. 301, A Multi-Jurisdictional Comprehensive Plan for Racine County: 2035, 

November 2009. 

5 SEWRPC Community Assistance Planning Report No. 179, 2nd Edition, A Park and Open Space Plan for the Town of Caledonia, 

Racine County, Wisconsin, April 2000. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 4 

Caledonia’s incorporation, the Village Board adopted two subsequent updates to the park plan in 20096 and 2018.7 

In September 2023, the Village of Caledonia requested that the Commission assist the Village in updating the park 

plan, which is documented in this report. 

 

This updated plan reflects recent park and open space acquisition and development activities within the Village and 

considers the recommendations of the Village comprehensive plan and other relevant plans. In addition to 

establishing updated park and open space recommendations to guide Village policy, this plan is intended to 

maintain Village eligibility to apply for and receive Federal and State aid in support of the acquisition and 

development of park and open space sites and related facilities. 

 
1.3 ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

The planning process was conducted under the guidance of Village officials and residents serving on the Caledonia 

Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee. Staff support was provided by the Village’s Public Works Department 

and Planning & Zoning Department. Caledonia Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee members and Village 

support staff are listed on the inside front cover of this report. 

 

1.4 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION AND PLAN ADOPTION 

Public participation was encouraged throughout the planning process to guide the development of the updated 

park and open space plan. Throughout 2024 and early 2025, the park and open space plan update was reviewed 

and discussed at a series of Village Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee. All meetings were open to the public 

with meeting agendas posted on the Village website in advance.  An online public community input survey, which 

received over 500 responses, was available from April through September 2024. Draft chapters and a comment form 

were made available on the Village’s website during the plan’s development. 

 

Call Out: Over 500 people responded to the public input survey 

 

Upon completion of a draft plan report, the Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee sponsored a public open 

house on February 19, 2025 to provide an opportunity for the public to discuss and review the plan with Commission 

 
6 Village of Caledonia, Parks and Open Space Plan for the Village of Caledonia 2007-2012, 2007. 

7 SEWRPC Community Assistance Planning Report No. 179, 3rd Edition, A Park and Open Space Plan for Village of Caledonia, 

Racine County, Wisconsin, October 2018. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 5 

and Village staff and provide comments. The draft plan, a plan summary, and a comment form were available at the 

open house and at the Village Hall prior to the public hearing on the plan. Written comments on the draft plan, 

summarized in Chapter 5, were accepted through February 20, 2025. The Village Plan Commission held a public 

hearing and provided an additional opportunity for public comment on the plan on February 24, 2025. 

 

This updated plan was approved by the Village of Caledonia Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee on [DATE 

TBA]. The Village Planning Commission approved the plan on [DATE TBA]. The updated plan was adopted by the 

Village Board on [DATE TBA]. 

 

1.5 PLANNING AREA 

The planning area, shown on Map 1.1, consists of the entire Village of Caledonia,8 located along the Lake Michigan 

shoreline in the northeastern portion of Racine County. The Village encompasses 29,175 acres, or about 46 square 

miles. The planning area includes Johnson Park and Golf Course and Johnson Park Dog Run, both of which are within 

the City of Racine but are completely surrounded by the Village of Caledonia.  

 

1.6 REPORT FORMAT 

Following this introductory chapter, Chapter 2 of this report presents information about the Village pertinent to 

park and open space planning, including information on the resident population; the land use pattern; existing park 

and open space sites and facilities; and important natural resource areas and features within the Village. Chapter 3 

reviews the implementation status of recommendations from the previous plan update. Chapter 4 summarizes other 

planning programs affecting this park and open space plan; describes the park and open space objectives, principles, 

and standards used to prepare this plan; assesses the Village’s provision of parks and recreational facilities relative 

to peer communities; and the results of applying those standards and benchmarks to the existing park system. 

Updated park and open space recommendations are presented in Chapter 5.

 
8 The Village of Caledonia is located in U.S. Public Land Survey Township 4 North and Ranges 22 and 23 East. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 6 

 
  



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 7 

WD 271815-9 – V. Caledonia POSP Ch. 2 Text 
110-1262 
BMW/RMB 
2/5/2025; 1/30/2025; 8/9/2024 
 
 

Community Assistance Planning Report No. 179 (4th Edition) 

A PARK AND OPEN SPACE PLAN FOR THE VILLAGE OF CALEDONIA: 2050 

 
 

Chapter 2 
 
 

INVENTORY FINDINGS 
 
 
 

2.1 INTRODUCTION 

Demographic data, land use information, and existing resources within the Village of Caledonia were inventoried 

for the park and open space plan update to assist with creating new and confirming previously established plan 

recommendations. This chapter presents inventory data and information about population, the land use pattern, 

existing park and open space sites and facilities, and natural resources within the Village. 

 

2.2 RESIDENT POPULATION 

Existing and projected9 resident population levels are key factors in park and open space planning, and 

understanding historical growth can help anticipate and plan for future developments and needs. Figure 2.1 and 

Table 2.1 present data on the Village’s historical, existing, and projected resident population.10 By the end of the 

20th century, Caledonia had grown to be the largest town in Wisconsin by population, with 23,614 residents reported 

by the 2000 Census. The Village’s population has continued to grow, to 25,361 persons in 2020, according to the 

U.S. Census Bureau. The Wisconsin Department of Administration estimated the 2024 Village population at 25,428 

residents. The projected 2050 Caledonia population is approximately 34,027 Village residents.11 

 
9More information about projected population levels is presented in Chapter 4 of this report, Framework for Plan Development. 
10 Population data prior to 2005 refer to the Town of Caledonia, which incorporated as a village in November 2005.  
11 Population projections are based on SEWRPC Community Assistance Planning Report No. 301, A Multi-Jurisdictional 

Comprehensive Plan for Racine County: 2035, November 2009 and SEWRPC Planning Report No. 55, VISION 2050: A Regional 

Land Use and Transportation Plan for Southeastern Wisconsin, July 2017.  



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 8 

 

Figure 2.1 
Historical and Projected Population Levels in the Village of Caledonia: 1950-2050 
 

 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau and Southeastern Wisconsin Regional Planning Commission 

 
Call Out: Caledonia’s population is projected to grow more than 33% by 2050 

 
Table 2.1 
Resident Population of the Village of Caledonia: 1900-2024 
 

Year Population 

Change from  
Preceding Census 

Number Percent 

1900 2,805 -- -- 
1910 3,073 268 9.6 
1920 3,479 406 13.2 
1930 3,031 -448 -12.9 
1940 4,019 988 32.6 
1950 5,713 1,694 42.1 
1960 9,696 3,983 69.7 
1970 16,748 7,052 72.7 
1980 20,940 4,192 25.0 
1990 20,999 59 0.3 
2000 23,614 2,615 12.5 
2010 24,705 1,091 4.6 
2020 25,361 656 2.7 
2024a 25,428 67 0.3 

Note:  
a Estimate from the Wisconsin Department of Administration, as of January 1, 2024. 

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, Wisconsin Department of Administration, and Southeastern Wisconsin Regional Planning Commission 

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

35,000

40,000

1950 1960 1970 1980 1990 2000 2010 2020 2030 2040 2050

Po
pu

la
tio

n

Year



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 9 

2.3 LAND USE BASE 

The extent, type, and spatial distribution of urban and rural land uses, as well as the historical conversion of rural 

lands to urban uses, are important considerations in determining the supply of land and the demand for parks, open 

space sites, outdoor recreation, and related facilities. 

 

Map 2.1 shows the historic pattern of urban growth, areas where concentrations of structures serving urban land 

uses have been built in relatively compact groups, within the Village since 1900.  Development prior to 1950 was 

primarily concentrated along county highways and railways in Franksville and the eastern portion of Caledonia. 

Caledonia grew rapidly between 1950 and 1970, with new areas of urban development scattered throughout the 

Town. Urban development since 1970 has occurred primarily in the eastern and southern portions of Caledonia. In 

the 21st century, most urban development continues to be concentrated in these areas as well as along the IH-94 

corridor in the western portion of the Village. 

 
The Village’s lands are approximately 1/3 urban and 2/3 nonurban uses. 

  

Residential

Transportation, 
Communication, 

and Utilities

Agricultural Lands

Wetlands Woodlands

Open Nonurban Land

Commercial

Industrial

Governmental 
and 

Institutional

Parks and 
Recreatio

nal

Open 
Urban Land

Extractive and 
Landfill

Surface Water



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 10 

 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 11 

 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 12 

Information on the amount of land devoted to various types of land uses in the Village in 2020 is shown on Map 

2.2 and enumerated in Table 2.2. Given that it is surrounded by other incorporated municipalities, the Village will 

be unable to annex land for additional future expansion. 

 

Table 2.2 
Existing Land Uses in the Village of Caledonia: 2020 
 

Land Use Categorya Acres 
Percent of 
Subtotal 

Percent of 
Total 

Urban    
Residential    

Single-Family Residential 4,977 52.5 17.1 
Multi-Family Residentialb 122 1.3 0.4 

Residential Subtotal 5,099 53.7 17.5 
Commercial 249 2.6 0.9 
Industrial 217 2.3 0.7 
Transportation, Communication, 
and Utilities (TCU)    

Streets and Highways 1,890 19.9 6.5 
Airports and Railways 225 2.4 0.8 
Communications, Utilities, and 
Other Transportation 

229 2.4 0.8 

TCU Subtotal 2,344 24.7 8.0 
Governmental and Institutional 307 3.2 1.1 
Parks and Recreationalc 643 6.8 2.2 
Undeveloped/Open Urban Land 629 6.6 2.2 

Urban Subtotal 9,488 100.0 32.5 
Nonurban    

Agricultural Lands 13,180 66.9 45.2 
Extractive 175 0.9 0.6 
Landfill 39 0.2 0.1 
Wetlands 2,260 11.5 7.7 
Woodlands 1,602 8.1 5.5 
Surface Water 414 2.1 1.4 
Undeveloped/Open Nonurban Land 2,026 10.3 6.9 

Nonurban Subtotal 19,696 100.0 67.5 
Total 29,184 -- 100 

a Includes associated off-street parking areas for each land use category. 
b Includes two-family residential areas and mobile home parks in addition to buildings with three 

or more apartments. 
c Includes only those lands developed and used for intensive recreational purposes (ball fields, tennis 

courts, group picnic areas, etc.). Developed land within park sites used for hiking trails or other passive 
uses is included in the “undeveloped/open land” category. Additional information about the Village 
park system and the total area within park and open space sites is presented in Table 2.3. 

Source: Southeastern Wisconsin Regional Planning Commission 
  

 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 13 

A community's transportation network shapes land use and can help to predict areas of future growth by influencing 

accessibility and development patterns. The Village is served by a well-developed highway transportation system 

and a network of arterial streets. Three railway rights-of-way carry freight traffic through the Village, including two 

lines owned by the Union Pacific Railroad and one line owned by Canadian Pacific Kansas City (CPKC) Limited on 

which Amtrak trains also operate. John H. Batten Airport, located adjacent to the Village in the City of Racine, is the 

largest privately owned, public-use, reliever airport in the United States and provides services to corporate, business, 

and private aircraft. General Mitchell International Airport is also within a convenient distance for Village residents 

and businesses.  

 

2.4 PARK AND OPEN SPACE SITES 

Existing Park and Open Space Sites 
Existing park and open space sites and outdoor recreation facilities in the Village of Caledonia planning area were 

inventoried in 2024. As shown on Map 2.3 and listed in Table 2.3, there are 67 park and open space sites in the 

planning area, including 27 publicly owned sites and 40 which are privately owned. 

 

 
 

  

Public Sites
1,859 Acres

60.1%

Private 
Sites

1,234 Acres
39.9%



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 14 

Table 2.3 
Park and Open Space Sites in the Village of Caledonia Planning Area: 2024 
 

Number on 
Map 2.3 Site Name Location Ownership 

Size 
(acres) 

 Public    
1 5 ½ Mile Park T4N, R23E, Section 17 Village of Caledonia 21 
2 32nd Division Memorial Marker and Wayside T4N, R22E, Section 12 State of Wisconsin 3 
3 Chapla Park T4N, R23E, Section 8 Village of Caledonia          9 
4 Cliffside Park T4N, R23E, Sections 7 and 8 Racine County 223 
5 County Line Park T4N, R22E, Section 2 Village of Caledonia 18 
6 Crawford Park T4N, R23E, Section 20 Village of Caledonia 35 
7 Franksville Memorial Park T4N, R22E, Section 33 Racine County 52 
8 Gorney Park T4N, R22E, Section 3 Village of Caledonia 41 
9 Johnson Park and Golf Course T4N, R22E, Sections 25, 26, and 35 City of Racine 335 
10 Johnson Park Dog Run T4N, R22E, Section 26 City of Racine 28 
11 Linwood Park T4N, R22E, Section 14 Village of Caledonia 12 
12 Maple Park T4N, R23E, Section 28  Village of Caledonia 2 
13 Nicholson Wildlife Refuge T4N, R22E, Section 21  Village of Caledonia 127 
14 Olympia Brown Elementary School T4N, R23E, Section 17 Racine Unified School District 29 
15 Renak-Polak Maple Beech Woods T4N, R22E, Section 14 University of Wisconsin – 

Parkside 
122 

16 River Bend Nature Center T4N, R23E, Section 31 Racine County 75 
17 Root River Parkway T4N, R22E, Section 4 Milwaukee County 38a 
18 Root River Parkway T4N, R22E, Sections 3, 4, 5, 10, 11, 

14, 23, 25, and 26 
T4N, R23E, Sections 19, 30, and 31 

Racine County 613b 

19 Tabor Sokol Memorial Park T4N, R23E, Section 19 Racine County 1 
20 Village Land – Markay Stormwater Basin T4N, R23E, Section 28 Village of Caledonia 22 
21 Village Land – SCORE Stormwater Basin T4N, R22E, Section 33 Village of Caledonia 21 
22 Village Land – Caddy Vista Stormwater Basin T4N, R22E, Section 4 Village of Caledonia 7 

23 Village Land – (East Side of Terrace High 
and North of Richmond Drive) 

T4N, R22E, Section 36 Village of Caledonia 4 

24 Village Land – (South Side of Four Mile Road 
and West of Green Bay Road) 

T4N, R23E, Section 19 Village of Caledonia 3 

25 Village Land – (Southwest Quadrant of Six 
Mile Road and Union Pacific Railroad) 

T4N, R23E, Section 18 Village of Caledonia 3 

26 Waters Edge Park T4N, R23E, Section 16 Village of Caledonia 3 
27 W. Allen Gifford School T4N, R22E, Section 34 Racine Unified School District 12 

Subtotal – 27 Sites 1,859 
 Private    

28 Armstrong Park T4N, R23E, Sections 30 and 31 Private 142 
29 Auburn Hills I/II Homeowners Open Space T4N, R22E, Section 36 Private 33 
30 Bear Paw Adventure Park T4N, R22E, Section 4 Commercial 149 
31 Caledonia Conservancy – Aboagye/ 

South Country 
T4N, R22E, Section 25 Organizational 7 

32 Caledonia Conservancy – Ehrlich T4N, R22E, Section 24 Organizational 58 
33 Caledonia Conservancy – Ehrlich T4N, R22E, Section 24 Organizational 2 
34 Caledonia Conservancy – Ehrlich  

Right-of-Way 
T4N, R22E, Section 14 Organizational 18 

35 Caledonia Conservancy – Estes Family 
Right-of-Way 

T4N, R22E, Section 14 Organizational 1 

Table continued on next page. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 15 

Number on 
Map 2.3 Site Name Location Ownership 

Size 
(acres) 

 Private (continued)    
36 Caledonia Conservancy – Halberstadt 

Right-of-Way 
T4N, R22E, Section 14 Organizational 1 

37 Caledonia Conservancy – King’s Corner T4N, R22E, Section 24 Organizational 33 
38 Caledonia Conservancy – Neighborhood 

Central Walk 
T4N, R23E, Section 20 Organizational 15 

39 Caledonia Conservancy – New Marshall 
Right-of-Way 

T4N, R22E, Section 11 Organizational 2 

40 Caledonia Conservancy – Rohner 
Right-of-Way 

T4N, R22E, Section 11 Organizational 1 

41 Caledonia Conservancy – Schumann 
Right-of-Way 

T4N, R22E, Sections 2 and 3 Organizational 6 

42 Caledonia Conservancy – Short Road/ 
Lorence Woods 

T4N, R22E, Sections 13 and 14 Organizational 21 

43 Caledonia Conservancy – Short Right-of-Way T4N, R22E, Section 13 Organizational 1 
44 Caledonia Conservancy – Tabor Woods T4N, R22E, Section 13 Organizational 35 
45 Caledonia Conservancy – Trout Ponds Prairie T4N, R22E, Sections 24 and 25 Organizational 28 
46 Caledonia Conservancy – Tepley T4N, R22E, Section 24 Organizational 3 
47 Caledonia Conservancy – Tracks Trail T4N, R22E, Section 2 Organizational 33 
48 Crestview Homeowners Park T4N, R23E, Section 17 Organizational 16 
49 Greater Racine Kennel Club T4N, R22E, Section 11 Commercial 20 
50 Husher’s Pub and Grill T4N, R22E, Section 9 Commercial 2 
51 Mulligan’s Mini-Golf T4N, R23E, Section 18 Commercial 24 
52 Oldfield Settlement Homeowners Open Space T4N, R22E, Section 19 Private 43 
53 Orrin C. Stearns Park T4N, R22E, Section 35 Private 3 
54 Prairie Pathways Homeowners Open Space T4N, R22E, Section 33 Private 55 
55 Prince of Peace Lutheran Church/School T4N, R23E, Section 7 Organizational 3 
56 Racine Area Soccer Association (Soccer 

Complex of Racine - SCORE) 
T4N, R22E, Section 33 Organizational 59 

57 Racine County Line Rifle Club Range T4N, R23E, Section 6 Organizational 74 
58 Racine County Pony Club T4N, R22E, Section 25 Organizational 71 
59 Racine Tennis Club T4N, R23E, Section 21 Commercial 2 
60 Serbian Soccer Club of Milwaukee/ 

St. Nikola Church 
T4N, R22E, Section 6 Organizational 46 

61 St. Louis Church/Discovery Stage Preschool T4N, R22E, Section 18 Organizational 9 
62 St. Rita School T4N, R23E, Section 29 Organizational 8 
63 The Ponds I/II Homeowners Open Space T4N, R22E, Sections 18 and 19 Private 118 
64 Trinity Lutheran Church/School T4N, R22E, Section 9 Organizational 4 
65 Witt’s End T4N, R22E, Section 17 Commercial 1 
66 Wooded Valley Homeowners Open Space T4N, R22E, Section 13 Private 14 
67 Yogi Bear’s Jellystone Park T4N, R22E, Section 4 Commercial 73 

Subtotal – 40 Sites 1,234 
Total – 67 Sites 3,093 

a Additional parkway lands are located in Milwaukee County. 
b Includes only the acreage located within the Village. The remaining lands (55 acres) under Racine County ownership are located in the Village of Raymond.  

Source: Village of Caledonia and Southeastern Wisconsin Regional Planning Commission 
 

 

 

  



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 16 

 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 17 

Public park and open space sites in Caledonia are owned by the State of Wisconsin, Racine County, Milwaukee 

County, the Village of Caledonia, the City of Racine, UW-Parkside, and the Racine Unified School District. Note that 

school events and school district policies may limit public access to recreational facilities that are located on public 

school grounds. Table 2.4 details the recreational facilities available at publicly and privately owned park and open 

space sites within the planning area. 

 

Public sites in the planning area offer a full range of recreational facilities, including, but not limited to, baseball and 

softball diamonds, basketball hoops, playfields, playgrounds, sand volleyball courts, soccer fields, and tennis or 

pickleball courts. Public sites within the planning area also include an 18-hole regulation golf course, driving range, 

disc golf course, horseshoe pits, and a dog exercise area. Additional publicly owned recreational facilities include a 

boardwalk, campgrounds, canoe launches, a fieldhouse, fishing areas, a nature study area, a wayside, and a variety 

of trails suited to different activities.  

 

Facilities at privately owned sites within the Village include swimming areas, miniature golf, waterslides, a ropes 

course, an outdoor theater, an equestrian center, horse and cross-country skiing trails, a shooting/archery range, a 

kennel club, an aquatic center, and a recreation and fitness center. In addition, opportunities at the numerous 

private, commercial horse-riding stables and equestrian facilities within the planning area may include horse riding 

lessons, boarding lessons, dressage lessons, horse maintenance and education, day camps, and training programs 

for finishing and showing horses. 

 

  



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 18 

Table 2.4 
Selected Outdoor Recreation Facilities for General Use in the Village of Caledonia Planning Area: 2024 

 
Number 
on Map 

2.3 Site Name 
Baseball 

Diamonds 

Softball- 
League 

Diamonds 

Softball- 
Sandlot 

Diamonds Playfield 
Play- 

Ground 
Tennis 
Courts 

Basketball 
Hoops 

Soccer 
Field 

Ice 
Skating 

Rink 
Pool or 
Beach Other 

 Public            
1 5 ½ Mile Park -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Undeveloped Park, Open Space 
2 32nd Division Memorial Marker and Wayside -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Passive Use, Informal Picnic Areas 
3 Chapla Park -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Passive Use, Scenic Overlook 
4 Cliffside Park 1 3 -- X X -- 3 2 -- -- Campgrounds (95 Sites), Group and Informal 

Picnic Areas, Bicycle and Hiking Trails, 
Shelters, Restrooms 

5 County Line Park -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Undeveloped Park, Open Space 
6 Crawford Park 2 -- -- X X 2 2 -- -- -- Sand Volleyball Courts, Shelters, Restrooms, 

Pathways, Concessions 
7 Franksville Memorial Park -- 1a 2 X X 2 2 5 -- -- Sand Volleyball Courts, Formal Picnic Areas, 

Restrooms, Kids Connection Playground, 
Horseshoe Pits, Shelters 

8 Gorney Park 1 1 -- X X -- -- 2 -- -- Hiking Trail, Fishing, Shelters, Picnic Areas, 
Restrooms, Pier 

9 Johnson Park and Golf Course -- -- -- X X -- -- -- -- -- 18-Hole Golf Course, Picnic Areas, Fishing, 
Driving Range, Disc Golf Course, Shelters, 
Restrooms, Concessions, Historical Exhibit, 
Nature Area 

10 Johnson Park Dog Run -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Dog Exercise Area 
11 Linwood Park -- -- -- X -- -- -- -- -- -- Horseshoe Pits, Fishing, Shelter, Picnic Areas 
12 Maple Park -- -- -- X X -- -- -- -- -- Shelter 
13 Nicholson Wildlife Refuge -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Conservancy Area, Nature Trails, Boardwalk 
14 Olympia Brown Elementary School -- -- -- X X -- 2 1 -- -- -- 
15 Renak-Polak Maple Beech Woods -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Conservancy Area 
16 River Bend Nature Center -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Nature Study Area, Canoe Launch, Hiking 

and Cross-Country Skiing Trails, Informal 
Picnic Areas, Pavilion/Shelter, Restrooms 

17 Root River Parkway -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Conservancy Area, Fishing 
18 Root River Parkway -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Conservancy Area, Canoe Launch, Fishing 
19 Tabor Sokol Memorial Park -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Passive Use, Informal Picnic Areas 
20 Village Land – Markay Stormwater Basin -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Open Space 
21 Village Land – SCORe Stormwater Basin -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 6 -- -- -- 
22 Village Land – Caddy Vista Stormwater Basin -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Open Space 
23 Village Land – (East Side of Terrace High 

and North of Richmond Drive) 
-- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Open Space 

24 Village Land – (South Side of Four Mile Road 
and West of Green Bay Road) 

-- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Open Space 

25 Village Land – (Southwest Quadrant of Six Mile 
Road and Union Pacific Railroad) 

-- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Open Space 

 Public (continued)            
26 W. Allen Gifford School -- -- -- X X -- 2 -- -- -- -- 
27 Waters Edge Park -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Passive Use, Walking Trail 
 Subtotal – 27 Sites 4 5 2 9 8 4 11 16 -- -- -- 

Table continued on next page. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 19 

Number 
on Map 

2.3 Site Name 
Baseball 

Diamonds 

Softball- 
League 

Diamonds 

Softball- 
Sandlot 

Diamonds Playfield 
Play- 

Ground 
Tennis 
Courts 

Basketball 
Hoops 

Soccer 
Field 

Ice 
Skating 

Rink 
Pool or 
Beach Other 

 Private            
28 Armstrong Park -- 2 -- X X 4 2 -- -- -- Sand Volleyball Courts, Hiking Trails, Group 

and Informal Picnic Areas, Recreation and 
Fitness Center, Miniature Golf, Driving 
Range, Horseshoe Pits, Fishing, Shelters, 
Aquatic Center 

29 Auburn Hills I/II Homeowners Open Space -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Open Space 
30 Bear Paw Adventure Park -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- X Obstacle Course, Ropes Course 
31 Caledonia Conservancy – Aboagye/South 

Country 
-- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Conservancy Area, Hiking Trail 

32 Caledonia Conservancy – Ehrlich -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Conservancy Area 
33 Caledonia Conservancy – Ehrlich -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Conservancy Area, Hiking Trails, Cross-

Country Skiing, Horse Trails 
34 Caledonia Conservancy – Ehrlich 

Right-of-Way 
-- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Conservancy Area, Hiking Trail 

35 Caledonia Conservancy – Estes Family 
Right-of-Way 

-- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Conservancy Area, Hiking Trail 

36 Caledonia Conservancy – Halberstadt 
Right-of-Way 

-- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Conservancy Area, Hiking Trail 

37 Caledonia Conservancy – King’s Corner -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Conservancy Area, Hiking Trails, Cross-
Country Skiing, Horse Trails 

38 Caledonia Conservancy – Neighborhood 
Central Walk 

-- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Conservancy Area, Hiking Trails 

39 Caledonia Conservancy – New Marshall 
Right-of-Way 

-- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Conservancy Area, Hiking Trail 

40 Caledonia Conservancy – Rohner  
Right-of-Way 

-- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Conservancy Area, Hiking Trail 

41 Caledonia Conservancy – Schumann 
Right-of-Way 

-- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Conservancy Area, Hiking Trail 

42 Caledonia Conservancy – Short Road/ Lorence 
Woods 

-- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Conservancy Area, Hiking Trail 

43 Caledonia Conservancy – Short Right-of-Way -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Conservancy Area, Hiking Trail 
44 Caledonia Conservancy – Tabor Woods -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Conservancy Area, Hiking Trails 
45 Caledonia Conservancy – Trout Ponds Prairie -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Conservancy Area, Hiking Trails, Horse Trail, 

Cross-Country Skiing, Fishing, Picnic Areas 
46 Caledonia Conservancy – Tepley -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Conservancy Area 
47 Caledonia Conservancy – Tracks Trail -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Conservancy Area, Hiking Trail, Horse Trail 
48 Crestview Homeowners Park -- -- -- X X 1 2 -- -- -- Shelter 
49 Greater Racine Kennel Club -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Kennel Club 
50 Husher’s Pub and Grill -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Horseshoe Pits 
51 LifeSport Tennis Club -- -- -- -- -- 9b 1 -- -- -- Volleyball Court 
52 Mulligan’s Mini-Golf -- 1 -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Miniature Golf, Driving Range 
53 Oldfield Settlement Homeowners Open Space -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Open Space, Hiking Trails 
54 Orrin C. Stearns Park -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- X Informal Picnic Areas, Passive Use 
55 Prairie Pathways Homeowners Open Space -- -- -- X X -- -- -- -- -- Open Space, Hiking Trail 
56 Prince of Peace Lutheran Church/School -- -- -- -- X -- -- -- -- -- -- 
57 Racine Area Soccer Association 

(Soccer Complex of Racine - SCORe) 
-- -- -- -- -- -- -- 35 -- -- Shelters, Restrooms 

58 Racine County Line Rifle Club Range -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Shooting Range, Archery Range 

Table continued on next page. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 20 

Number 
on Map 

2.3 Site Name 
Baseball 

Diamonds 

Softball- 
League 

Diamonds 

Softball- 
Sandlot 

Diamonds Playfield 
Play- 

Ground 
Tennis 
Courts 

Basketball 
Hoops 

Soccer 
Field 

Ice 
Skating 

Rink 
Pool or 
Beach Other 

 Private (continued)            
59 Racine County Pony Club -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Equestrian Center 
60 Serbian Soccer Club of Milwaukee/ 

St. Nikola Church 
-- -- -- X -- -- -- 2 -- -- Shelters, Picnic Area, Restrooms 

61 St. Louis Church/School -- -- 1 X X -- 2 -- -- -- -- 
62 St. Rita School -- -- 1 X X -- 5 1 -- -- -- 
63 The Ponds I/II Homeowners Open Space -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Open Space, Hiking Trails, Gazebo 
64 Trinity Lutheran Church/School -- -- 1 X X -- 3 1 -- -- -- 
65 Witt’s End -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Horseshoe Pits 
66 Wooded Valley Homeowners Open Space -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- Open Space 
67 Yogi Bear’s Jellystone Park -- -- 1 X X -- 2 -- -- X Campgrounds (280 Sites), Sand Volleyball 

Courts, Horseshoe Pits, Miniature Golf, 
Waterslide, Outdoor Theater, Fishing, Bath 
Houses 

Subtotal – 40 Sites -- 3 5 8 8 14 17 39 -- 3 -- 
Total – 67 Sites 4 8 8 19 18 18 36 57 -- 3 -- 

Notes:  
a May also serve as a baseball diamond. 
b The tennis courts are located indoors. 

Source: Village of Caledonia and Southeastern Wisconsin Regional Planning Commission 
  



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 21 

Conservation Easements 
A conservation easement is a voluntary, legally binding contract between a landowner and a conservation 

organization or government agency that restricts certain types of development and land use to protect a property’s 

natural, ecological, or cultural values. The landowner retains ownership and can continue to use the land for 

purposes such as farming or recreation but agrees to limitations that preserve the land's conservation values in 

perpetuity. Future owners must abide by the terms of the conservation easement, helping to safeguard habitats and 

maintain open spaces. Conservation easements may or may not include provision for public access. Nine 

conservation easements, shown on Map 2.4 and listed on Table 2.5, provide for the permanent protection of 

resources on 319 acres of land in the Village by the Caledonia Conservancy, the Kenosha Racine Land Trust, and the 

Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources. 

 

Table 2.5 
Conservation Easements in the Village of Caledonia: 2024 
 

Number on 
Map 2.4 Site Name Location Holder of Easement 

Size 
(acres) 

1 Caledonia Conservancy Easement T4N, R22E, Section 11 Caledonia Conservancy 1 
2 Duda Easement T4N, R22E, Section 14 Kenosha Racine Land Trust 12 
3 Erlandsson Easement T4N, R22E, Section 13 Caledonia Conservancy 1 
4 Greater Racine Kennel Club Easement T4N, R22E, Section 11 Caledonia Conservancy 1 
5 McCalvy Easement T4N, R22E, Section 12 Caledonia Conservancy 26 
6 Myers Easement T4N, R23E, Section 19 Kenosha Racine Land Trust 224 
7 Neubauer Trail Easement T4N, R22E, Section 24 Caledonia Conservancy 13 
8 Ryder Easement T4N, R22E, Sections 13 and 14 Kenosha Racine Land Trust 36 
9 Wetland Easement T4N, R22E, Sections 18 and 19 Wisconsin Department of 

Natural Resources 
5 

Total – 9 Sites 319 

Source: Village of Caledonia and Southeastern Wisconsin Regional Planning Commission 
  



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 22 

 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 23 

Village of Caledonia Park System 
As of 2024, the Village of Caledonia owns nine parks and six open space sites. Totaling 328 acres, these sites range 

from two acres (Maple Park) to 127 acres (Nicholson Wildlife Refuge) in size. Park and open space sites owned by 

the Village are shown on Map 2.5, listed in Table 2.6, and briefly described below. 

 

Call Out: The Village of Caledonia owns 15 park and open space sites 

 

Table 2.6 
Village of Caledonia Park System: 2024 
 

Number on 
Map 2.5 Site Name Location Type 

Size 
(acres) 

1 5 ½ Mile Park T4N, R23E, Section 17 Undeveloped Neighborhood Park 21 
2 Chapla Park T4N, R23E, Section 8 Neighborhood Park 9 
3 County Line Park T4N, R22E, Section 2 Undeveloped Neighborhood Park 18 
4 Crawford Park T4N, R23E, Section 20 Community Park 35 
5 Gorney Park T4N, R22E, Section 3 Community Park 41 
6 Linwood Park T4N, R22E, Section 14 Neighborhood Park 12 
7 Maple Park T4N, R23E, Section 28  Neighborhood Park 2 
8 Nicholson Wildlife Refuge T4N, R22E, Section 21  Conservancy Area 127 
9 Village Land – Markay Stormwater Basin T4N, R23E, Section 28 Open Space Site 22 
10 Village Land – SCORE Stormwater Basin T4N, R22E, Section 33 Open Space Site 21 

11 Village Land – Caddy Vista 
Stormwater Basin 

T4N, R22E, Section 4 Open Space Site 7 

12 Village Land – (East Side of Terrace High 
and North of Richmond Drive) 

T4N, R22E, Section 36 Open Space Site 4 

13 Village Land – (South Side of Four Mile 
Road and West of Green Bay Road) 

T4N, R23E, Section 19 Open Space Site 3 

14 Village Land - (Southwest Quadrant of Six 
Mile Road and Union Pacific Railroad) 

T4N, R23E, Section 18 Open Space Site 3 

15 Waters Edge Park T4N, R23E, Section 16 Undeveloped Neighborhood Park 3 
Total – 15 Sites 328 

Source: Village of Caledonia and Southeastern Wisconsin Regional Planning Commission 
  



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 24 

 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 25 

5 ½ Mile Park 
5 ½ Mile Park is a 21-acre undeveloped neighborhood park located in the eastern portion of the Village. The park 

is located south of 5 ½ Mile Road and Olympia Brown Elementary School and west of Charles Street. The entire site 

encompasses wetlands within an isolated natural resource area.12 

 

Chapla Park 
Chapla Park is a nine-acre neighborhood park located in the northeastern portion of the Village adjacent to Lake 

Michigan. The park is a passive use site that provides a scenic overlook of Lake Michigan and encompasses eight 

acres of primary environmental corridor. 

 

County Line Park 
County Line Park is an 18-acre undeveloped neighborhood park located in the northeastern portion of the Village, 

south of County Line Road and east of Foley Street. The site encompasses wetlands within 13 acres of an isolated 

natural resource area. 

 

Crawford Park 
Crawford Park is a 35-acre community park located in the southeastern portion of the Village, adjacent to the Village 

Campus north of Four Mile Road (CTH G) and east of Douglas Avenue (STH 32). Facilities at this site include two ball 

diamonds, two tennis courts, two basketball hoops, a playfield, three playgrounds, restrooms, concessions, 

pathways, a sledding hill, and picnic shelters. A wetland and stormwater retention pond are also located within the 

park. In October 2022, the Village adopted a multi-phased, $10 million improvement plan for Crawford Park13 which 

is expected to be implemented over the next fifteen years. The Village had completed the initial phase of 

improvements and was in the process of implementing the master plan as this plan update was under preparation. 

 

Gorney Park 
Gorney Park is a 41-acre community park located in the north-central portion of the Village along Seven Mile Road 

and Nicholson Road. Facilities at this site include a two ball diamonds, two soccer fields, a playfield, two playgrounds, 

a hiking trail, shelters, picnic areas, and restrooms. The site also has a pond with a pier that provides opportunities 

for fishing and launching nonmotorized watercraft. 

 

 
12 Information on natural resource features is presented later in this chapter. 
13 Documented in the Village of Caledonia’s Crawford Park Master Plan, October 2022. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 26 

Linwood Park 
Linwood Park is a 12-acre neighborhood park centrally located in the Village along Five Mile Road and east of STH 

38. Facilities at this site include a playfield, a playground, horseshoe pits, a shelter, picnic areas, fishing, and an 

informal canoe launch. The site is adjacent to the Root River and encompasses wetlands and woodlands within 11 

acres of primary environmental corridor. 

 

Maple Park 
Maple Park is a two-acre neighborhood park located in the southeastern portion of the Village south of Four Mile 

Road and east of Charles Street. Facilities at this site include pathways, a playfield, a playground, a picnic area, and 

an open-air shelter. 

 

Nicholson Wildlife Refuge 
Nicholson Wildlife Refuge is a 127-acre conservancy area centrally located in the Village between Four Mile Road 

and Five Mile Road and CTH H and Nicholson Road. The site, which is also used for educational purposes, contains 

nature trails and a boardwalk. Nicholson Wildlife Refuge is classified as a natural area of local significance and 

encompasses 103 acres of secondary environmental corridor, consisting of wetlands and woodlands. 

 

Waters Edge Park 
Waters Edge Park is a three-acre neighborhood park located in the eastern portion of the Village near the terminus 

of 5 Mile Road which consists of woodlands within a primary environmental corridor. The site was dedicated to the 

Village for park use by an adjacent residential development in 2023, and the Village has developed a walking trail 

at the park. 

 

Village Land (Markay Stormwater Basin) 
This site is a 22-acre open space site located in the southeastern portion of the Village south of Four Mile Road and 

west of Erie Street. The site is a stormwater detention basin, which is typically dry, except during periods of heavy 

rain. 

 

Village Land (SCORe Stormwater Basin) 
This site is a 21-acre open space site located in the south-central portion of the Village adjacent to the Franksville 

Memorial Park and the Soccer Complex of Racine (SCORe). The site includes six soccer fields. The stormwater 

detention basin, which is typically dry, may also serve as a playfield when the site is not inundated with water during 

periods of heavy rain. 

 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 27 

Village Land (Caddy Vista Stormwater Basin) 
This site is a seven-acre open space site located in the north-central portion of the Village south of the Caddy Vista 

South subdivision. The site is a stormwater detention basin, which is typically dry, except during periods of heavy 

rain. 

 

Village Land (East Side of Terrace High and North of Richmond Drive) 
This site is a four-acre open space site located in the southeastern portion of the Village, west of STH 31 and north 

of Northwestern Avenue (STH 38). The site contains wetlands and woodlands. 

 

Village Land (South Side of Four Mile Road and West of Green Bay Road) 
This site is a three-acre open space site located in the southeastern portion of the Village along Four Mile Road, 

east of STH 31, and west of Green Bay Road. The site is dedicated to the utility district. 

 

Village Land (Southwest Quadrant of Six Mile Road and Union Pacific Railroad) 
This site is a three-acre open space site located in the east-central portion of the Village along Six Mile Road, east 

of Douglas Avenue (STH 32), and the west side of the Union Pacific Railroad. The site is dedicated to the utility 

district and contains wetlands and a retention basin. 

 

Racine County Parks 
Racine County owns five park or open space sites within the Village of Caledonia: Cliffside Park, Franksville Memorial 

Park, River Bend Nature Center, Root River Parkway, and Tabor Sokol Memorial Park (see Map 2.3 and Table 2.3). 

The County also owns Horlick Park and Quarry Lake Park, both located along the Root River in the City of Racine 

just south of Caledonia. 

 

Cliffside Park is 223-acre major park14 located in the northeastern portion of the Village along the Lake Michigan 

shoreline, north of Six Mile Road and on the east side of Michna Road. The park includes four ball  diamonds, two 

soccer fields, a playground, a playfield, three basketball hoops, a 95-site campground, shelters, picnic areas, hiking 

and biking trails, and restrooms. The park also contains the Cliffside Park Woods and Clay Banks, a 55-acre natural 

 
14 SEWRPC Planning Report No. 27, A Regional Park and Open Space Plan for Southeastern Wisconsin: 2000, November 1977, 

establishes the park and open space planning standards used as a basis for this report and describes a classification system for 

public park and open space sites. Major parks are defined as large, publicly owned outdoor recreation sites containing significant 

natural resource amenities which provide opportunities for resource-oriented activities and which are generally 100 acres or more 

in size. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 28 

area of countywide or regional significance consisting of woodlands and wetlands within a primary environmental 

corridor, and the Cliffside Park Old Field, a 55-acre critical species habitat site in which wetland portions of the site 

are within a primary environmental corridor or an isolated natural resource area. Both sites are identified in the 

regional natural areas plan,15 which is described later in this chapter. 

 

Franksville Memorial Park is a 52-acre community park16 located in the southern portion of the Village in the 

Franksville area. The Villages of Caledonia and Mount Pleasant transferred ownership to the County in 2021. Facilities 

at this site include two basketball hoops, five soccer fields, a playfield, a playground, two ball diamonds, two tennis 

courts, sand volleyball courts, the Kids Connection Playground, horseshoe pits, informal and group picnic areas and 

shelters, and restrooms. Franksville Memorial Park also hosts a seasonal beer garden. The privately-owned Soccer 

Complex of Racine (SCORe) is adjacent on the west and north sides of the park. In 2023, the Racine County Board 

adopted a resolution17 supporting the creation of public-private partnership to develop an indoor ice skating center 

at the park. Fundraising and planning for the facility, tentatively the Racine County Ice Center, was underway at the 

time this plan update was completed. 

 

The River Bend Nature Center is in the southeastern portion of the Village along the Root River, on the west side of 

Green Bay Road and south of Three Mile Road. The 75-acre site is operated through a public-private partnership 

between Racine County and River Bend Nature Center, Inc. and is self-sustaining through private support, program 

revenue, special events, and equipment and facilities rental. Amenities include two indoor facilities for staff and 

environmental education programs and meetings, hiking and cross-country skiing trails, a canoe launch, a 

pavilion/shelter, picnic areas, and restrooms. The site also includes the 14-acre River Bend Upland Woods, a critical 

species habitat site consisting of woodlands and wetlands within a primary environmental corridor. 

 

The Root River Parkway consists of numerous areas of conservancy lands located along the Root River for natural 

resource protection purposes, including portions of four natural areas and five critical species sites. Racine County 

currently owns approximately 613 acres of parkway within the Village. Milwaukee County also owns a 38-acre 

 
15 SEWRPC Planning Report No. 42, A Regional Natural Areas and Critical Species Habitat Protection and Management Plan for 

Southeastern Wisconsin, September 1997. An update to the plan was adopted by the Commission in December 2010 and a second 

update was in progress as the park plan update was under preparation. 
16 Community parks are defined as moderately sized publicly owned outdoor recreation sites serving multiple neighborhoods, relying 

more on an area’s development characteristics than natural resource features for location, and are generally 25-99 acres in size. 
17 Resolution No. 2023-12-S was adopted by the County Board on June 27, 2023. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 29 

portion of parkway lands within the Village, along the County line and north of the Caddy Vista subdivision. The 

public can use these areas for nature viewing and river access for canoeing or fishing. 

 

Tabor Sokol Memorial Park is a one-acre passive use site located on the southeast corner of Douglas Avenue (STH 

32) and Five Mile Road. The site has informal picnic areas. 

 

Call Out: Racine County and the City of Racine maintain 7 parks within the Village planning area 

 

City of Racine Parks 
 

The City of Racine owns and maintains two park and open space sites within the Village planning area, also shown 

on Map 2.3 and described in Table 2.3. These sites, Johnson Park and Golf Course and Johnson Park Dog Run, 

comprise the entirety of two ‘islands’ of the City of Racine which are completely surrounded by the Village of 

Caledonia in the south-central portion of the planning area. 

 

Johnson Park and Golf Course is a 335-acre major park located between STH 38 and STH 31 on the banks of the 

Root River. The site includes an 18-hole regulation golf course, disc golf course, fishing, picnic areas with shelter, 

concessions, restrooms, and a clubhouse with a restaurant. Located at a separate site just north of the golf course, 

Johnson Park Dog Run is a 28-acre community park which includes wetlands within a primary environmental 

corridor. The site has a dog exercise area, trails, and informal access to the Root River. 

 

Trail Facilities 
Trail facilities within the Village provide opportunities for outdoor recreation activities including bicycling, hiking, 

nature study, and cross-country skiing. Trails included within park and open space sites primarily serve recreational 

purposes, while other trails may also provide connectivity within the Village’s transportation network. Long-distance 

public trails and bikeways and private trails open to the public are shown on Map 2.6 and noted in Table 2.4. 

 

Call Out: Trails within the Village provide important links within the regional trail network. 

 

  



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 30 

 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 31 

Racine County maintains approximately four miles of off-street trails within the planning area. The County-owned 

MRK Trail is approximately three linear miles within the Village and can be used for hiking, biking and cross-country 

skiing. The off-street trail runs north-south through the Village adjacent to the Union Pacific Railroad and also 

includes an on-street segment between Six Mile Road and Seven Mile Road. The County also maintains nearly one 

mile of the off-street WE Energies Trail from Seven Mile Road north to the County line. Portions of the MRK Trail 

are also connected to City of Racine’s Lake Michigan Pathway and Root River Pathway, providing trail access to 

destination points in the City of Racine. Racine County has also developed nearly 100 miles of signed, on-street bike 

routes throughout the County, approximately ten of which are within the Village. Approximately 34 linear miles of 

on-street bike routes, shown on Map 2.6, are identified within the Village planning area. The facilities provided on 

roadways designated as on-street bike routes vary widely, and it should be noted that not all segments of the on-

street bikeway network offer dedicated bicycle lanes. 

 

The Caledonia Conservancy, a nonprofit conservation organization, also provides trails at numerous conservancy-

owned sites within the Village. All of the Conservancy’s sites in the Village are privately owned, but some of the sites 

are open to the public. Trails at these sites are typically intended for horse riding, hiking, and cross-country skiing. 

 

2.5 NATURAL RESOURCE FEATURES 

Natural resources are important part of providing a pleasant and habitable environment for all forms of life and 

maintaining the Village’s social and economic well-being. The park and open space plan aims to preserve the most 

significant remaining features of the natural resource base to help maintain ecological balance and retain 

Caledonia’s natural beauty. This section presents a description of natural resources within the Village, including 

surface water resources, wetlands, woodlands, environmental corridors and isolated natural resource areas, natural 

areas, critical species habitat and aquatic sites, and geological areas. 

 

Call Out: Natural resource features are often focal points for park and open space sites. 

 

Surface Water Resources 
Surface water resources and associated floodplains, shown on Map 2.7, are important elements of the Village’s 

natural resource base. The Village is encompassed by two watersheds that flow into Lake Michigan, the Root River 

watershed and a direct drainage tributary. 

 

  



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 32 

 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 33 

Surface water resources influence the Village’s physical development, enhance the area’s aesthetic quality, and 

provide recreational opportunities to residents and visitors. Lakes and streams constitute a focal point for water-

related recreational activities. In addition to serving as the major water source for public water utilities serving 

portions of the Village, Lake Michigan provides numerous opportunities for water-related recreational activities, 

including swimming, fishing, canoe/kayaking, and other watercraft activities. Approximately 23 linear miles of 

perennial streams18 flow through the Village, including the Root River, Hoods Creek, Husher Creek, Crayfish Creek, 

and two unnamed tributaries and a drainage ditch that drain directly into Lake Michigan. The Root River provides 

opportunities for fishing and canoe/kayaking within the Village. 

 

Floodplains are the wide, gently sloping areas contiguous to a river or stream channel that experience occasional or 

periodic flooding. Stream discharges increase markedly during flood events to the point that the channel may not 

be able to contain and convey all of the flow. As a result, water levels rise and the river or stream spreads laterally 

over the floodplain. The periodic flow of a river or stream onto its floodplains is a normal phenomenon and can be 

expected to occur periodically in the absence of successful flood mitigation. 

 

For planning and regulatory purposes, floodplains are normally defined as areas subject to inundation during a one-

percent-annual-probability (100-year recurrence interval) flood event. The one-percent-annual-probability 

floodplain encompasses 1,737 acres of the planning area, or about 6 percent of the Village. These areas are generally 

unsuitable for development due to the flood hazard and the presence of high water tables and soils poorly suited 

to urban use. However, floodplain areas often contain woodlands, wetlands, and wildlife habitat which can make 

them prime locations for needed open space areas. The Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) Map 

Modernization Program periodically updates floodplain maps for Racine County, most recently in January 2024. 

Floodplains in the Village have been identified along all major streams and tributaries, including the Root River, 

Hoods Creek, and Husher Creek and along the Lake Michigan shoreline. Map 2.7 includes both “detailed” delineated 

floodplains based on computed flood elevations and “approximate” floodplains delineated on less precise methods 

such as soil type and vegetative growth.  

 

 
18 Perennial streams are defined as watercourses that maintain, at a minimum, a small continuous flow throughout the year except 

under unusual drought conditions. Intermittent streams are defined as watercourses that do not maintain a continuous flow 

throughout the year. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 34 

The increase in impervious areas resulting from the dispersal of urban land uses over large areas increases 

stormwater runoff, which must be accommodated by a stream network or by engineered stormwater management 

systems. Stormwater management facilities may include curbs and gutters, catch basins and inlets, storm sewers, 

infiltration facilities, and dry and wet detention basins for quantity and quality control, respectively. Detention basins 

serve to moderate peak rates of runoff following rainstorms and wet detention basins further provide a permanent 

volume of water to capture and store pollutants. In addition to floodwater and stormwater management, ponds or 

basins may provide opportunities for limited outdoor recreation use, such as fishing and ice skating. Dry basins are 

also sometimes used for field sports. There are numerous stormwater basins located in the Village, including within 

parks or open space sites. Three large Village-owned basins, the Markay Basin (22 acres), the SCORe Basin (21 acres), 

and the Caddy Vista Basin (seven acres), are shown on Map 2.3 and described in Table 2.3. 

 

Wetlands 
For planning and regulatory purposes,19 wetlands are commonly defined as areas in which the water table is at, near, 

or above the land surface and which are characterized by both hydric soils and the growth of wetland vegetation 

including sedges and cattails. Wetlands generally occur in depressions and near the bottom of slopes, along 

lakeshores and stream banks, and on large areas of poorly drained land. 

 

Wetlands perform an important set of natural functions and provide opportunities for scientific, educational, and 

recreational pursuits. These areas support a wide variety of desirable, and sometimes unique, forms of plant and 

animal life are. Wetlands provide groundwater discharge areas and contribute to atmospheric oxygen and water 

supplies. They are also invaluable in protecting shorelines from erosion and maintaining the quality of surface water 

resources by stabilizing stream flows and lake levels, entrapping and storing plant nutrients in runoff that contribute 

to noxious weed and algae growth, and entrapping soil particles suspended in runoff that contribute to stream 

sedimentation. 

 

Wetlands within the Village of Caledonia encompassed 2,260 acres, or nearly 8 percent of the Village, in 2020. As 

shown on Map 2.2, the majority of the Village’s wetlands are located along the Root River and other perennial and 

intermittent streams. 

 

 
19 Wetlands are regulated under Chapters 103 and 117 of the Wisconsin Administrative Code and Section 404 of the Federal Clean 

Water Act. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 35 

Woodlands 
The Commission defines woodlands as upland areas one acre or more in size with 17 or more deciduous trees per 

acre, each measuring at least four inches in diameter at breast height, and having 50 percent or more tree canopy 

coverage. 

 

Woodlands provide an attractive natural resource of immeasurable value that serves a variety of beneficial functions. 

In addition to contributing to clean air and water and regulating surface water runoff, woodlands can support a 

diversity of plant and animal life. Woodlands may require a century or more to develop but can be destroyed 

through mismanagement within a comparatively short time. The deforestation of hillsides contributes to rapid 

stormwater runoff, the siltation of lakes and streams, and the destruction of wildlife habitat. 

 

Woodlands, shown on Map 2.2, encompass 1,602 acres, or about 5.5 percent of the Village. Woodlands are scattered 

throughout the Village with larger areas of woodlands located in the northern and northeastern portions of the 

Village, including areas within the State-owned Renak-Polak Maple-Beech Woods area, Tabor Woods, and in and 

near the County-owned Cliffside Park. 

 

Environmental Corridors and Isolated Natural Resource Areas  
One of the most important tasks completed under the regional planning program for Southeastern Wisconsin has 

been identifying and delineating the areas in which concentrations of remaining natural resources occur, termed 

“environmental corridors” by the Commission. Protecting and preserving such areas in essentially natural, open uses 

is crucial in maintaining both the ecological balance and natural beauty of the Region, the County, and the Village. 

Environmental corridors within the Village are presented on Map 2.8 and Table 2.7. 

 

Environmental corridors are identified based upon the presence of one or more of the following important natural 

resources: rivers, streams, lakes, and associated shorelands and floodplains; wetlands; woodlands; prairies; wildlife 

habitat areas; wet, poorly drained, and organic soils; and rugged terrain and high relief topography. Park and open 

space sites, natural areas, historic sites, and scenic viewpoints are also considered for their recreational, aesthetic, 

ecological, and natural resource values in the delineation of environmental corridors.20 Delineating these natural 

resource and resource-related elements on a map results in an essentially linear pattern of relatively narrow,  

 
20 Delineation of environmental corridors is described in detail in Southeastern Wisconsin is presented in SEWRPC Technical Record, 

Vol. 4, No. 2, Pages 1 through 21, Refining the Delineation of Environmental Corridors in Southeastern Wisconsin, March 1981. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 36 

 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 37 

elongated areas which are classified as primary environmental corridors, secondary environmental corridors, and 

isolated natural resource areas, as described below.   

 

Preserving the integrity of environmental corridors and isolated natural resource areas in essentially natural, open 

uses is important to the movement of wildlife and for the dispersal of seeds for a variety of plant species. Because 

of the many interrelationships between living organisms and their environment, damaging any one element of the 

natural resource base may lead to a chain reaction of deterioration and destruction. Although the effects of any one 

environmental changes may not in and of themselves be overwhelming, the combined effects will eventually create 

serious environmental and developmental problems including flooding, water pollution, deterioration and 

destruction of wildlife habitat, loss of groundwater recharge areas, and destruction of the unique natural beauty of 

the area. Preserving corridors can also help reduce flood flows, reduce noise pollution, and maintain air and water 

quality. 

 

Table 2.7 
Environmental Corridors and Isolated 
Natural Resource Areas in the Village of 
Caledonia: 2020 
 

Corridor Type Acres Percenta 
Primary Environmental Corridor 1,859 6.4 
Secondary Environmental Corridor 393 1.3 
Isolated Natural Resource Area 1,452 5.0 

Total 3,704 12.7 

Note:  
a Percent of the Village land area (29,175 acres) with corridor. 

Source: Southeastern Wisconsin Regional Planning Commission 
 

Primary Environmental Corridors  
Primary environmental corridors include a wide variety of important natural resource and resource-related elements 

and are at least 400 acres in size, two miles in length, and 200 feet in width. Primary environmental corridors are 

composites of the best remaining residual elements of the Village’s natural resource base and include the best 

remaining woodlands, wetlands, and wildlife habitat areas. These corridors have truly immeasurable environmental 

and recreational value which can be protected and maintained by preserving them in an essentially open, natural 

state. 

 

As of 2020, primary environmental corridors encompassed a total area of 1,881 acres, or about 6.4 percent of the 

Village. Primary environmental corridors in Caledonia are located along the Lake Michigan shoreline, the Root River, 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 38 

portions of Hoods Creek and Husher Creek, and in the Hunts Woods, Renak-Polak Maple Beech Woods and Tabor 

Woods natural areas. 

 

Secondary Environmental Corridors 
Secondary environmental corridors encompass concentrations of natural resources between 100 and 400 acres in 

size and are at least one mile long. Secondary environmental corridors may also serve to link primary corridors, in 

which case no minimum area or length criteria apply. Secondary environmental corridors facilitate surface water 

drainage and provide for the movement of wildlife.  

 

Secondary environmental corridors encompassed 406 acres, or about 1.4 percent of the Village in 2020. Secondary 

environmental corridors in the Village are located along a portion of Hoods Creek, along an intermittent stream in 

the eastern portion of the Village, and within the Nicholson Wildlife Refuge area. 

 

Isolated Natural Resource Areas 
Smaller concentrations of natural resource base elements at least five acres in size which are generally separated 

from the environmental corridors by urban or agricultural development are classified as isolated natural resource 

areas. These areas may provide the only available wildlife habitat in an area, provide good locations for local parks 

and open space areas, and lend aesthetic character and natural diversity to an area. Isolated natural resource areas 

are scattered throughout the Village and encompassed 1,505 acres, or about 5.2 percent of the Village, in 2020. 

 

Natural Areas, Critical Species Habitat Sites, Aquatic Areas, and Geological Sites 
The Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (WDNR) and the Commission completed a comprehensive 

inventory of natural areas, critical species habitat sites, and geological sites in Southeastern Wisconsin in 1994. This 

inventory was subsequently updated in 2010 and 2020.21 Natural areas are defined as tracts of land or water so little 

modified by human activity, or sufficiently recovered from the effects of such activity, that they contain intact native 

plant and animal communities believed to be representative of the pre-European-settlement landscape. Natural 

areas are classified as natural areas of Statewide or greater significance (NA-1), natural areas of countywide or 

regional significance (NA-2), or natural areas of local significance (NA-3). Classification is based on consideration of 

 
21 The results of the 1994 inventory are documented in SEWRPC Planning Report No. 42, A Regional Natural Areas and Critical 

Species Habitat Protection and Management Plan for Southeastern Wisconsin, September 1997. An amendment to this plan, 

including updated inventory information, was published in December 2010 and a second amendment was in progress as this park 

plan update was under preparation. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 39 

the diversity of plant and animal species and community types present, the structure and integrity of the native 

plant or animal community, and the extent of disturbance by human activity, such as logging, grazing, water level 

changes, and pollution. The commonness of the plant and animal communities present, any unique natural features 

within the area, the size of the area, the educational value, and animal communities believed to be representative 

of the landscape before European settlement are also considered when classifying a natural area. 

 

Fourteen natural areas encompassing 889 acres, shown on Map 2.9 and described in Table 2.8, were identified in 

the Village of Caledonia. The 138-acre Renak-Polak Maple-Beech Woods State Natural Area, identified as a site of 

Statewide or greater significance, is centrally located in the Village east of the Root River and along East River Road. 

Three natural areas considered to be of countywide or regional significance and ten natural areas of local 

significance were also identified within the Village. The 2020 inventory update reclassified the Nicholson Wildlife 

Refuge from NA-2 to NA-3 due to habitat degradation attributed to nearby agriculture. 

 

Call Out: Habitat degradation and destruction are ongoing threats to the Village’s natural environment. 

 

Critical species habitat sites are defined by the Commission as areas outside natural areas that support rare, 

threatened, or endangered plant or animal species. Shown on Map 2.9 and listed on Table 2.8, 14 critical species 

habitat sites encompassing 338 acres have been identified within the Village. The 2020 inventory update found that 

one critical species habitat site had been lost since the prior inventory and identified two additional sites. 

 

Aquatic habitat areas consist of rivers, streams, and lakes that support endangered, threatened, or rare fish, herptile, 

or mussel species, support extensive beds of mussel species, or are located within or adjacent to a natural area. 

Aquatic areas are designated as aquatic areas of Statewide or greater significance (AQ-1), aquatic areas of 

countywide or regional significance (AQ-2), or aquatic areas of local significance (AQ-3). Two aquatic habitat areas 

of local significance, spanning approximately 13 linear miles within the Village, are also shown on Map 2.9 and 

described in Table 2.8. Approximately two linear miles of aquatic habitat along Husher Creek were lost between the 

2010 and 2020 inventory updates. 

 

Geological sites are areas identified as having a significant glacial or bedrock feature, selected based on scientific 

importance, significance in industrial history, natural aesthetics, ecological qualities, educational value, and public 

access potential. Geological sites are designated as having Statewide or greater significance (GA-1), countywide or 

regional significance (GA-2), or local significance (GA-3). Two geological sites of local significance, the 14-acre 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 40 

Cliffside Park Clay Banks and the 19-acre Root River Outcrops, are located in the Village and are identified on Map 

2.9 and in Table 2.8. The Cliffside Park Clay Banks is a glacial feature located along the Lake Michigan shoreline near 

the County-owned Cliffside Park and the Village-owned Chapla Park. The Root River Outcrops is a bedrock feature 

located along the Root River near the Johnson Park Dog Run site. 

  



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 41 

 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 42 

Table 2.8 
Natural Areas, Critical Species Habitat Sites, Geological Sites, and Aquatic Habitat Areas in the Village of Caledonia: 2020 

 
Site 

Typea 
Number on 

Map 2.9 Area Name Location Ownership 
Size 

(acres) Description and Comments 

N
A

-1
 (S

N
A

) 

1 Renak-Polak Maple-Beech 
Woods State Natural Area 

T4N, R22E Section 14 University of Wisconsin – Parkside, 
Caledonia Conservancy, and 
other private 

138 Outstanding, mostly old-growth low-lying 
southern mesic forest on east side of Root River. 
Wet-mesic hardwoods, shrub-carr, and shallow 
marsh lie along an intermittent stream which 
crosses the tract. Noted for spectacular displays of 
spring wildflowers. Probably the best such woods 
remaining in the Region 

N
A

-2
 

2 Cliffside Park Woods and 
Clay Banks 

T4N, R23E Sections 7 and 8 Racine County and Village of 
Caledonia 

55 Second-growth mesic woods, ravine, and steep clay 
banks along Lake Michigan harbor a rich and diverse 
flora, including such uncommon species as 
buffaloberry, cream gentian, stiff gentian, balsam 
poplar, and the State-designated endangered blue-
stemmed goldenrod (Solidago caesia) 

3 Hunts Woods T4N, R22E Sections 2 and 3 Racine County and private 36 A small but undisturbed remnant of southern mesic 
hardwoods, dominated by mature beeches and 
sugar maples. The woods to the south and east are 
younger, while to the north are lowland hardwoods. 
The relatively rich ground flora includes the State-
designated endangered blue-stemmed goldenrod 
(Solidago caesia) 

4 Root River Wet-Mesic 
Woods—East  

T4N, R22E Section 5 Racine County  2b Wet-mesic and mesic woods Bordering a gravel-
bottom stream that is tributary to the Root River. 
Contains a rich, diverse flora, including several rare 
species 

N
A

-3
 

5 Caledonia Low Woods T4N, R22E Sections 10, 11, and 14 Racine County and private 107 Moderate-quality lowland hardwoods bordering the 
Root River. Adjoining upland woods contains three 
State-designated special concern species: American 
gromwell (Lithospermum latifolium), red trillium 
(Trillium recurvatum), and black haw (Viburnum 
prunifolium) 

6 Dominican Ravine T4N, R23E Section 21 Private 18 Small woodland containing blue-stemmed 
goldenrod (Solidago caesia), a State-designated 
endangered species 

7 Foley Road Woods—East T4N, R22E Section 11 Private 24 Moderate-quality mesic woods with a rich ground 
flora; reportedly contains the State-designated 
endangered blue-stemmed goldenrod (Solidago 
caesia) 

Table continued on next page. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 43 

Site 
Typea 

Number on 
Map 2.9 Area Name Location Ownership 

Size 
(acres) Description and Comments 

N
A

-3
 (c

on
tin

ue
d)

 
8 Foley Road Woods—West T4N, R22E Section 11 Private 19 Medium-age mesic and wet-mesic woods with a 

large population of black haw (Viburnum 
prunifolium) 

9 Nicholson Wildlife Refuge T4N, R22E Section 21 Village of Caledonia and private 166 An open wetland with seasonal ponds that attract a 
large number of migrating birds such as whistling 
swans, snow geese, golden plovers, and willets. The 
pond is one of the few secure stopover areas in the 
Region, and it is a very good observation area 

10 Power Plant Ravine Woods T4N, R23E Section 6 WE Energies 32 Mesic woods bordering a steep ravine that leads to 
Lake Michigan. Although the woods has suffered 
from disturbance, it contains a rich flora, including a 
large population of the State-designated 
endangered blue-stemmed goldenrod (Solidago 
caesia). The exposed ravine slopes and Lake 
Michigan clay banks contain a number of unusual 
species 

11 Root River Riverine Forest T4N, R22E Sections 3, 4, 5, and 6 Racine County, Milwaukee 
County, and private 

185c A significant portion of the Root River corridor 

12 Seven Mile Road Woods T4N, R22E Section 8 Private 20 Second-growth maple-ash-oak woods of about 75 
years of age that has been subjected to past 
selective cutting. Contains a rich and diverse ground 
flora. Low areas contain ephemeral ponds 

13 Tabor Woods T4N, R22E Sections 13 and 14 Caledonia Conservancy and other 
private 

106 Relatively large but irregularly shaped mesic, dry-
mesic, and wet-mesic woods that have suffered 
various degrees of disturbance. Portions of the 
woods are dominated by beech. Threatened by 
increasing residential development in the area 

14 Zirbes Woods T4N, R22E Section 9 Private 13 A small but relatively undisturbed mesic woods 
dominated by basswood, white ash, red oak, and 
sugar maple, with a rich ground flora. Future high-
grading is indicated by a number of the larger oaks 
which were marked 

CS
H

 

15 Caledonia Low Woods – 
South 

T4N, R23E Section 30 Racine County and private 30 Small woodland supporting two State-designated 
special concern species: red trillium (Trillium 
recurvatum) and hoptree (Ptelea trifoliata) 

16 Caledonia Sanitary Sewer 
Right-of-Way 

T4N, R22E Section 25 Caledonia Conservancy, Racine 
County, and private 

74d Shrubland containing blue-stemmed goldenrod 
(Solidago caesia), a State-designated endangered 
species, and two species of special concern 

17 Cliffside Park Old Field T4N, R23E Sections 7 and 8 Racine County 55 Old field/grassland complex within county park 
containing breeding habitat for a number of 
grassland-nesting birds 

18 Forked Aster Site T4N, R22E Section 23 Racine County and private 18 Woodland supporting forked aster (Aster furcatus), a 
State-designated threatened species 

Table continued on next page. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 44 

Site 
Typea 

Number on 
Map 2.9 Area Name Location Ownership 

Size 
(acres) Description and Comments 

 19 Four Mile Road Woods T4N, R23E Sections 19 and 30 Private 31 Small woodland supporting a population of a State 
designated special concern species 

 

20 Lakeside Woods T4N R23E Section 6 WE Energies 2 Small woodland on grounds of Oak Creek Power 
Plant containing blue-stemmed goldenrod (Solidago 
caesia), a State-designated endangered species 

CS
H

 (c
on

tin
ue

d)
 

21 River Bend Upland Woods T4N, R23E Section 31 Racine County 14 Dry-mesic woods containing blue-stemmed 
goldenrod (Solidago caesia), a State-designated 
endangered species 

22 Riverpark Bluff Woods T4N, R23E Section 31 Private 1 Thinly wooded river bluff supporting a rare species 
23 Root River Bluff T4N, R22E Section 26 Racine County and private  39e Small woodland supporting hoptree (Ptelea 

trifoliata), a State-designated special concern 
species 

24 Root River Ravine Woods T4N R23E Section 30 Private 5 Small woodland supporting red trillium (Trillium 
recurvatum), a State-designated special concern 
species 

25 Root River Strip Woods T4N, R23E Section 31 Racine County and private 2 Small woodland supporting a State-designated 
special concern species, hoptree (Ptelea trifoliata) 

26 Sherwood Property T4N, R22E Section 2 Private 4 Wetland containing a population of hoplike sedge 
(Carex lupuliformis), a State-designated endangered 
species 

27 WEPCO Oak Woods T4N, R22E Section 1 
T4N, R23E Section 6 

WE Energies 14 Small woodland on grounds of Oak Creek Power 
Plant containing blue-stemmed goldenrod (Solidago 
caesia), a State-designated endangered species 

28 WEPCO Woods T4N, R22E Section 1 WE Energies 18 Small woodland on grounds of Oak Creek Power 
Plant containing blue-stemmed goldenrod (Solidago 
caesia), a State-designated endangered species 

G
A

-3
 

29 Cliffside Park Clay Banks T4N, R23E Sections 7 and 8 Racine County, Village of 
Caledonia, and WE Energies 

14 Clay banks along Lake Michigan shoreline 

30 Root River Outcrops T4N, R22E Section 26 Racine County and private 19f Low outcrops of Racine Dolomite along Root River; 
one of few places in Racine County where rock is 
exposed 

A
Q

-3
 (R

SH
) 31 Root River downstream 

from County Line Road to 
Nicholson Road 

T3N, R22E Sections 4 and 5 -- 1.9g 

miles 
Bisects identified Natural Areas 

32 Root River downstream from 
Nicholson Road to STH 38 

T3N, R22E Sections 3, 10, 11, 14, 23, 
25, and 26 

T3N, R23E Sections 19, 30, and 31 

-- 10.0g 

miles 
Critical herptile species habitat 

Table continued on next page. 

 

 

 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 45 

Note:  
a Site types are classified as follows: 

NA-1 identifies Natural Areas of statewide or greater significance 
NA-2 identifies Natural Areas of countywide or regional significance 

NA-3 identifies Natural Areas of local significance 

CSH identifies Critical Species Habitat sites 

GA-3 identifies Geological Areas of local significance 

SNA, or State Natural Area, identifies those sites officially designated as State Natural Areas by the State of Wisconsin Natural Areas Preservation Council 

RSH, or Rare Species Habitat, identifies those Aquatic Areas which support habitat for endangered, threatened, or ”special concern” species officially designated by the Wisconsin Department of Natural 
Resources  

AQ-3 identifies Aquatic Areas of local significance. 

b Includes only the acreage located in the Village. Total acreage is 52 acres. Milwaukee County owns the remaining 50-acre portion of the site. 

c Includes only the acreage located in the Village. Total acreage is 331 acres. Milwaukee County owns a 143-acre portion of the site and the Wisconsin Department of Transportation owns a two-acre 
portion of the site. The remaining one acre is under private ownership. 

d Includes only the acreage located in the Village. Total acreage is 94 acres. The remaining 20 acres are located in the City of Racine and owned by the City of Racine as part of Johnson Park and Golf 
Course. 

e Includes only the acreage located in the Village. Total acreage is 50 acres. The remaining 11 acres are located in the City of Racine and owned by the City of Racine as part of Johnson Park Golf 
Course or the Johnson Park Dog Run. 

f Includes only the acreage located in the Village. Total acreage is 25 acres. The remaining six acres are located in the City of Racine and owned by the City of Racine as part of the Johnson Park Dog 
Run. 

g Portion of the site extends outside of the Village and miles given are entirely within the Village. 

Source: Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources and Southeastern Wisconsin Regional Planning Commission 

 
  



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 46 

WD 272036-6 – V. Caledonia POSP Ch. 3 Text 
110-1262 
MLP/BMW 
2/5/2025; 1/30/2025; 10/01/2024; 8/13/2024 
 
 

Community Assistance Planning Report No. 179 (4th Edition) 

 
A PARK AND OPEN SPACE PLAN FOR THE VILLAGE OF CALEDONIA: 2050 

 
 

Chapter 3 
 
 

STATUS OF PREVIOUS VILLAGE PARK PLAN 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
 
 

3.1 INTRODUCTION 

The 2018 edition of the Park and Open Space Plan for the Village of Caledonia22 includes comprehensive 

recommendations for the Village of Caledonia and other agencies regarding park and open space preservation and 

developing recreational facilities. This chapter summarizes and identifies the status of those recommendations as 

of the end of 2024. Recommendations that had not been implemented were reevaluated as part of this plan update. 

Plan recommendations for the year 2050 are presented in Chapter 5. 

 

3.2 STATUS OF PARK PLAN RECOMMENDATIONS TO BE IMPLEMENTED BY THE VILLAGE OF 
CALEDONIA 

The Village has continued to make improvements to its existing park system, including significant investments to 

improve existing facilities and develop new amenities. Notably, the Village has begun implementing a master plan 

for Crawford Park, which will enhance existing facilities and develop new facilities to support a range of additional 

activities in the most densely populated area of the Village. The Village also recently acquired Waters Edge Park, a 

 
22 SEWRPC Community Assistance Planning Report No. 179, 3rd Edition, A Park and Open Space Plan for the Village of Caledonia, 

Racine County, Wisconsin, October 2018. 

 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 47 

wooded site near Lake Michigan, where it has developed a walking trail. The following sections provide additional 

information on the status of recommendations for the Village which were included in the previous Village park plan. 

 

Outdoor Recreation 
 

Parks Recommendations 
Through the end of 2024, the Village has completed the following recommendations cited in the previous plan 

relating to developing and improving parks and trails: 

 

• Adopted a multi-phased, $10 million master plan for Crawford Park, which is anticipated to be fully 

implemented over the next fifteen years. 

 

• Acquired ten acres of land adjacent to Crawford Park and the Village Campus and completed grading 

and seeding of the site. 

 

• Begun the development of a walking pathway at Crawford Park. 

 

• Developed a playground near the lower shelter at Gorney Park. 

 

• Added playground equipment at Linwood Park. 

 

• Developed a picnic area with shelter, playground equipment, and pathways at Maple Park. 

 

• Repaved the parking area23 at Caledonia-Mt. Pleasant Memorial Park, which was transferred to Racine 

County ownership and renamed Franksville Memorial Park in 2022. 

 

• Continued to maintain existing park facilities at Chapla Park, Crawford Park, Gorney Park, Linwood Park, 

Maple Park, and the Nicholson Wildlife Refuge. 

 

 
23 Repaving the parking area was recommended as a Village improvement in the previous plan but was completed by the County 

after the transfer of ownership. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 48 

The Village has also pursued new developments and improvements at various park sites that were not specifically 

recommended in the previous park plan. These include developing a stormwater retention pond at Crawford Park, 

adding pathways at Maple Park, and acquiring the site for Waters Edge Park,24 where a trail has been developed. 

Additional amenities at other parks, including a dog park and a kayak rental system, have also been explored, 

although these projects have not yet advanced further. 

 

Call Out: The Village has made a substantial investment in Crawford Park since the 2018 park plan update 

 

The following recommendations from the previous Village park plan have not been implemented as of 2024 and 

were reevaluated as part of this plan update: 

 

• Acquiring and developing one new community park. 

 

• Acquiring and developing fourteen new neighborhood parks. 

 

• Developing hiking trails, a shelter with restrooms, a parking area, and a disc golf course at 5 ½ Mile Park. 

 

• Developing playground equipment, a canoe/kayak access site, permanent benches and picnic tables, a 

shelter or gazebo, an outdoor fitness area, a boardwalk, and a beach volleyball court at Chapla Park. 

 

• Developing a parking area, disc golf course, hiking trail, and shelter with restrooms at County Line Park. 

 

• Developing an additional shelter with restrooms, dugouts, a dog park, a community center, additional 

picnic areas, a sledding hill, soccer fields, a skating area, an outdoor fitness area, an amphitheater, a full-

court basketball or futsal court, a pickleball court, and a splash pad or water park at Crawford Park. 

 

• Acquiring an additional 15 acres of land and developing soccer fields, additional parking areas, a 

maintenance garage, outdoor lighting, an additional shelter with restrooms, a concessions building, sand 

volleyball courts, a full-court basketball court, and fishing areas at Gorney Park. 

 
24 Waters Edge Park is approximately ½ mile north of a proposed neighborhood park site, indicated by number 13 on Map 4.2 in 

the 3rd edition of the Village park plan. The park may serve the need for a neighborhood park in that area of the Village if additional 

amenities are developed. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 49 

 

• Developing basketball hoops, sand volleyball courts, and pickleball courts at Maple Park. 

 

• Acquiring an additional 49 acres of land and developing a boardwalk to the rear of the site, an 

observation area, an outdoor classroom area, a shelter with restrooms, a picnic area, and a play area with 

the playground at the Nicholson Wildlife Refuge. 

 

Call Out: The Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee reviewed all recommendations from the prior plan to 

determine if they were still priorities for the Village 

 

Trails Recommendations  
The previous Village park plan recommended developing a trail along Hoods Creek, connecting with the Village of 

Mt. Pleasant at the southern boundary of the Village. Additional trails running north from Crawford Park along the 

Klema Ditch and from CTH K to Five Mile Road, between STH 38 and the Union Pacific Railroad, were also 

recommended. The plan also recommended developing trail connections between park and open space sites. These 

trails remain undeveloped as of 2024. 

 

The prior plan also recommended developing 32 miles of on-street bikeways and an additional five miles of off-

street trails within the Village; as of 2024, the Village has not developed any additional on-street bikeways. Just over 

1/3 mile of recreational trail segments have been added within Crawford Park and Waters Edge Park, but no 

significant off-street trail projects have been undertaken. Existing trails and bikeways within the Village are shown 

on Map 2.5 in Chapter 2. In addition, the plan recommended that the Village work with the County to develop the 

Root River Water Trail and maintain and enhance the Lake Michigan Water Trail, which was designated as a state 

trail in 2017. Water trail recommendations have not been implemented as of 2024. 

 

Open Space Preservation 
The previous edition of the plan recommended that all primary and secondary environmental corridors, isolated 

natural resource areas, 100-year recurrence interval floodplain areas, and stream and lakeshore buffers, together 

identified as open space preservation areas, currently in public ownership be preserved in essentially natural, open 

space uses. In 2018, 1,099 acres of open space preservation areas in the Village were publicly owned. As of 2024, 

approximately 1,350 acres of open space preservation areas within the Village are publicly owned. Note that this 

change reflects both changes in ownership and in areas identified for open space preservation. 

 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 50 

3.3 STATUS OF PLAN RECOMMENDATIONS TO BE IMPLEMENTED BY OTHER UNITS OF 
GOVERNMENT 

Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources 
To qualify for State and Federal grant programs for acquiring and developing land for outdoor recreation and 

resource protection purposes, the Village must adopt a park plan that complies with Wisconsin Department of 

Natural Resources (WDNR) requirements. The WDNR approved the previous Village park plan, and it is anticipated 

that this plan will also meet the WDNR standards. WDNR approval will maintain Caledonia’s eligibility to apply for 

available State and Federal grant funds to support plan implementation. 

 

Wisconsin Department of Transportation 
Construction of bikeways within State trunk highways, under Wisconsin Department of Transportation (WisDOT) 

jurisdiction, was recommended during any reconstruction or resurfacing. Several resurfacing projects have occurred 

along STH-38, which runs through the central portion of the Village, since the prior plan was adopted, including a 

resurfacing underway as this plan update was under development. WisDOT plans for the 2024 resurfacing project 

included striping wider shoulders, which may improve comfort and safety for some bicyclists.   

 

Racine County 
 

County Parks Recommendations  
The previous Village park plan recommended that Racine County continue to provide and maintain facilities at the 

River Bend Nature Center, Tabor Sokol Memorial Park, Quarry Lake Park, and Horlick Park. Since the 2018 plan was 

adopted, the County has also taken ownership of Franksville Memorial Park from the Villages of Caledonia and 

Mount Pleasant. In addition to maintaining existing facilities at the park, the County has developed the seasonal 

Franksville Craft Beer Garden and is planning for the addition of the Racine County Ice Center at the site.  

 

The plan also recommended that the County acquire additional environmentally sensitive lands, especially along 

the Root River, and develop additional recreational facilities at Cliffside Park. These recommendations had not been 

implemented as of 2024; however, the County began a wetland restoration project at Cliffside Park, funded by a 

WDNR grant, in 2023. 

 

County Trails Recommendations  
The previous Village park plan calls for Racine County to continue to maintain bicycle routes within the Village 

associated with the Racine County Route System. The County has continued to maintain existing facilities but has 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 51 

not developed additional on-street bicycle facilities or off-street trails. Notably, the previous plan recommended the 

County acquire additional lands along the Root River and develop recreational facilities, access sites, and other 

facilities for resource-oriented activities. These facilities would support the development of a recreational trail in the 

Root River corridor as well as the development of water trail on the river. Although the Root River water trail has 

also been identified as a recommendation in County plans, it has not been developed as of 2024. 

  



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 52 

WD 271816-9 – V. Caledonia POSP Ch. 4 Text 
110-1262 
JED/MLP/BMW 
2/5/2025; 1/30/2025; 11/04/2024; 10/02/2024; 8/13/2024 
 
 

Community Assistance Planning Report No. 179 (4th Edition) 
 

A PARK AND OPEN SPACE PLAN FOR THE VILLAGE OF CALEDONIA: 2050 
 
 

Chapter 4 
 
 

FRAMEWORK FOR PLAN DEVELOPMENT 
 
 
 

This chapter describes the important factors that were considered, in conjunction with the information presented in 

prior chapters, to guide the updated park and open space plan for the Village of Caledonia. Specifically, this chapter 

describes relevant Village, County, and regional plans; projected 2050 population levels and land use in the Village; 

outlines regional park and open space objectives, principles, and standards; and summarizes the results of a public 

input survey. 

 

4.1 VILLAGE PLANS AFFECTING THE PARK AND OPEN SPACE PLAN 

To promote sound and cohesive planning, the updated Village park plan aligns with and relates to other adopted 

local, county, and regional plans. This section describes relevant plans which were considered and incorporated into 

the planning process. 

 

Village of Caledonia Park and Open Space Plans  
The Park and Open Space Plan for the Village of Caledonia: 2050 is the fourth park and open space plan prepared for 

the Village.25 The Commission prepared the original 1989 plan, the 2018 third edition, and this plan update, and 

Village staff prepared the 2009 second edition. Chapter 3 provides background information and the implementation 

status of recommendations from the previous park and open space plan. 

 

 
25 The first edition of the Commission-prepared park plan was adopted by the then-Town of Caledonia. In November 2005, the 

Town incorporated as the Village of Caledonia. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 53 

Crawford Park Master Plan 
In 2022, the Village of Caledonia consulted with MSA Professional Services to prepare a master plan for Crawford 

Park, centrally located in the eastern portion of the Village and adjacent to the recently constructed Village Hall and 

Public Safety Building. The prior edition of the Village park plan recommended acquiring additional land to expand 

the existing park, upgrading its facilities, and adding new recreational facilities to the park. The Crawford Park Master 

Plan incorporates the Village park plan’s recommendations and community input and is intended to guide future 

development of the park. 

 

Adopted by the Village Board in October of 2022, the completed Crawford Park Master Plan includes a phased $10 

million project to expand, develop, and enhance Crawford Park with a range of improvements prioritized into three 

tiers. The first phase focused on rough grading, improving stormwater management, restoring turf and native prairie 

on the site, and developing a sledding hill. The second phase, which was in progress as the 2050 Village park plan 

was under preparation, includes the addition of a trail loop, updates to the playground, sports court, and parking 

facilities, and continues work on phase one projects. Future phases will include a skatepark, splashpad, additional 

shelter with restrooms, and fine grading for sports fields and a winter skating rink. The plan incorporates tree 

plantings, landscaping enhancements, and installation of public art and benches into all phases of implementation. 

 

Village of Caledonia Land Use Plan and Multi-Jurisdictional Comprehensive Plan for Racine County 
The Caledonia Village Board adopted an updated land use plan and a series of detailed neighborhood plans26 in 

2006. In 2009, the Village Board adopted the Multi-Jurisdictional Comprehensive Plan for Racine County27 with a 

design year of 2035 as the Village’s comprehensive plan. The multi-jurisdictional comprehensive plan includes 

population and household projections; recommendations for future land uses, parks, and natural resource 

preservation; and goals, objectives, policies, and programs relevant to park and open space planning. Map 4.1 shows 

the Village of Caledonia land use plan, with amendments adopted by the Village Board through January 14, 2025. 

 

 
26 Documented in a report entitled, Village of Caledonia Final Land Use Plan, August 2006.  

27 SEWRPC Community Assistance Planning Report No. 301, A Multi-Jurisdictional Comprehensive Plan for Racine County: 2035, 

November 2009. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 54 

 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 55 

The “Environmental Linkage” Policy included in the 2006 Village land use plan encouraged the connection of 

environmental corridors, isolated natural resource areas, and other significant natural resource areas to form larger 

habitat systems or corridors. The Village’s policy, highlighted below, is intended to preserve large tracts of land with 

the ability to support diverse wildlife habitats for conservation purposes. This policy has helped to shape 

development patterns within the Village and preserve the community’s natural character, which has an important 

relationship to park and open space planning. Substantial and interconnected portions of the Village that have been 

preserved as open space provide abundant opportunities for both active and passive outdoor recreation and the 

development of new park sites. Recognizing the value of the Village’s policy, Racine County incorporated the policy 

into the multi-jurisdictional plan as a land use objective: 

 

Support carefully planned efforts to restore open space lands to more natural conditions that could result in the 

expansion of the environmental corridor network. This should include linkages between existing environmental 

corridors and isolated natural resources, especially those areas that are identified in local and neighborhood land use 

plans. 

 

The multi-jurisdictional comprehensive plan anticipates that the Village will continue to maintain its existing park 

and open space sites, and the Village’s land use plan map identifies both existing active park sites and areas that 

may serve as future parks as a “Recreational” land use. Chapter 5 of this park and open space plan identifies these 

sites as well as existing sites where future expansion and/or development of additional recreation facilities may 

serve Village residents. 

 

Goals, Objectives, Policies, and Programs 
The Multi-Jurisdictional Comprehensive Plan for Racine County identifies the following goals, objectives, policies, 

and programs28 that complement the Commission’s Regional Park and Open Space Objectives, Principles, and 

Standards29 related to the development of the Village park and open space system: 

 

 
28 Detailed descriptions of and definitions related to the goals, objectives, policies, and programs referenced here are presented in 

SEWRPC Community Assistance Planning Report No. 301, A Multi-Jurisdictional Comprehensive Plan for Racine County: 2035, 

November 2009 
29 Regional Park and Open Space Objectives, Principles, and Standards are included in Appendix A of this report. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 56 

Goals 
• Preserve open space to enhance the total quality of the environment, maximize essential natural resource 

availability, give form and structure to urban development, and provide opportunities for a full range of 

outdoor recreation activities. 

 

• Maintain the environmental assets of the community and develop methods to protect and preserve valuable 

natural features, including wetlands, wildlife habitats, lakes, woodlands, open spaces, groundwater resources, 

and floodplains. 

 

Objectives 
• Preserve the natural character and vistas in Racine County. 

 

• Preserve open spaces and natural resources as part of future development proposals in the County. 

 

• Provide a comprehensive system of parks and open spaces within Racine County to enhance the quality of 

the environment and life. 

 

• Provide County residents adequate opportunities to participate in resource and non-resource-oriented 

outdoor recreation activities, including water-based outdoor recreation activities. 

 

• Support recommendations in regional, county, and local plans related to land use, transportation, water 

quality management, water supply, lake districts, and parks and open spaces. 

 

• Provide a comprehensive system of parks, and outdoor recreation sites and facilities to allow County residents 

adequate opportunities to participate in resource and non-resource-oriented outdoor recreation activities, 

including water-based outdoor recreation activities that are consistent with enjoyable surface water use and 

maintenance of adequate water quality. 

 

• Provide an integrated and accessible system of trails that will provide County residents with a transportation 

alternative to motor vehicles. 

 

• Foster social, educational, recreational, and leisure-time opportunities for residents. 

 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 57 

Policies and Programs 
• Implement strategies regarding the preservation and protection of environmental corridors, natural areas, 

and critical species habitat sites recommended in the County land and water resource management plan and 

the Racine County park and open space plan, including updates to the plans. 

 

• Implement strategies regarding the protection and restoration of wetlands, stream corridors, floodplain areas, 

the Lake Michigan shoreline and bluff, and protection of natural systems, pollution reduction and control, 

and protection of public safety and public recreation and access recommended in the County land and water 

resource management plan. 

 

• Implement the recommendations of the Racine County park and open space plan and any subsequent 

updates. 

 

• Consider the preparation and implementation of local park and open space plans. 

 

• Update County and local park and open space plans as necessary to maintain eligibility for Wisconsin 

Department of Natural Resources (WDNR) Stewardship funding. 

 

• Continue to partner with appropriate Federal, State, and Nonprofit Conservation Organizations (NCOs) to 

promote natural resource enhancements and restorations in Racine County. 

 

• Support carefully planned efforts to restore open space lands to more natural conditions that could result in 

the expansion of the environmental corridor network. This should include linkages between existing 

environmental corridors and isolated natural resources, especially those areas that are identified in local and 

neighborhood land use plans. 

 

• Work with the Kenosha/Racine Land Trust and other NCOs to protect environmental corridors, natural areas, 

and critical species habitat sites through Purchase of Development Rights (PDR), easements, and/or land 

purchases. 

 

• Work with local governments to provide a system of public neighborhood and community parks in urban 

areas that complement the County park and trail system. 

 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 58 

• Continue to provide information to local governments about County park and open space sites and 

recreational facilities, and coordinate with local governments for the joint development and use of facilities, 

where appropriate.  

 

• Identify and seek grant funds to study future needs and demands for recreational programs and facilities for 

school-age children and teenagers. 

 

• Consider park and recreation standards developed by SEWRPC, the National Recreation and Park Association, 

and the Wisconsin Park and Recreation Association when updating the County and local park and open space 

plans to ensure an appropriate number, size, and distribution of parks and recreational facilities. 

 

• Coordinate county-wide on-street and off-street (multi-use) bicycle, pedestrian, equestrian, and waterway 

trail planning and development to provide connections to local trails and trails in adjacent counties. 

 

• Racine County and its communities should continue to work with the WDNR and non-government 

organizations to acquire and develop parks, trails, and other recreation facilities, and to acquire and protect 

valuable natural resource areas as called for in County or local park and open space plans. 

 

Population Projections 
The Village previously selected a 2035 projection of 30,342 residents and 11,731 households for inclusion in the 

multi-jurisdictional comprehensive plan. Projections included in this Village park plan follow the same model, as 

updated in the Commission’s 2050 regional land use plan. In 2020, the Village’s population was 25,361 residents, 

and there were 10,263 households. This plan projects that the Village’s population and households will increase by 

approximately 34 and 39 percent, respectively, to 34,027 residents and 14,314 households in 2050. These projections 

represent significant growth at a faster rate than the Village has experienced in recent years, which necessitates 

careful planning for improvements to ensure that the park and open space needs of current and future residents 

are addressed. 

 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 59 

4.2 COUNTY AND REGIONAL PLANS AFFECTING THE PARK AND OPEN SPACE PLAN 

Regional and County Park and Open Space Plans 
The adopted regional park, outdoor recreation, and open space plan30 identifies existing and probable future park 

and open space needs within the Region and recommends a system of large regional resource-oriented parks, 

recreation corridors, smaller urban parks, and recreational facilities to meet these needs. The Park and Open Space 

Plan for Racine County, originally adopted in 1988 and updated in 2001 and 2012, further revised and refined the 

regional park plan. The third edition of the County plan, adopted by the County Board in 2012, has the design year 

of 2035 and consists of both an open space preservation element and an areawide outdoor recreation element 

intended to, respectively, protect areas containing important natural resources and to provide resource-oriented 

recreational sites and facilities, including trails. Map 4.2 summarizes the outdoor recreation element of the County 

park plan. 

 

Outdoor recreation sites recommended by the County park plan include one major park within the Village of 

Caledonia, the 223-acre Cliffside Park, located in the northeastern portion of the Village along the Lake Michigan 

shoreline. The plan recommends that the County provide additional picnic facilities and trails and develop a nature 

study center focused on lakeshore resources at the park. The plan also recommends that the County consider 

establishing a public-private partnership to fund the development of a disc golf course at the park. Johnson Park 

and Golf Course, a 335-acre park located in and maintained by the City of Racine, is surrounded by the Village in 

the south-central portion of the planning area. The plan recommends that the City of Racine continue to maintain 

and provide additional facilities for resource-oriented activities at the park. 

  

 
30 SEWRPC Planning Report No. 27, A Regional Park and Open Space Plan for Southeastern Wisconsin: 2000, November 1977. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 60 

 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 61 

The County park plan recommends continued maintenance at other County-owned sites within the Village of 

Caledonia, including the River Bend Nature Center, Root River Parkway lands, and Tabor Sokol Memorial Park. The 

plan recommends that the County continue to maintain the nature center and accommodate resource-oriented 

activities through a public-private partnership with a nonprofit organization. The plan also recommends that the 

County continue to acquire lands along the Root River as part of the parkway system for resource protection, where 

feasible, and develop appropriate recreational facilities associated with the Root River and other resource-oriented 

activities in these areas. Recommendations for continued maintenance and additional facilities provision are also 

included for other County parks located near the Village, including the 39-acre Quarry Lake Park and the 15-acre 

Horlick Park, both located just south of the Village in the City of Racine and the Village of Mount Pleasant, 

respectively. 

 

Call Out: Nearby parks in other municipalities may serve some recreational needs for Village residents 

 

The Racine County plan recommends that the County develop trails within the Lake Michigan and Root River 

Recreation Corridors in the Village. The MRK Trail has been developed within the Lake Michigan corridor, 

approximately three miles of which are within the Village on a combination of off-street and on-street segments. 

The majority of the trail is located on WE Energies property or in a utility corridor. The City of Racine has developed 

the Lake Michigan Pathway within the City, which links the MRK Trail in the Village of Caledonia to the North Shore 

Trail in the Village of Mount Pleasant. The Racine County trail connects to the North Shore Trail in Kenosha County 

and is planned to, but does not currently, connect with the Oak Leaf Trail in Milwaukee County. It is recommended 

that Racine County continue to maintain those portions of the trail located within the Villages of Caledonia and 

Mount Pleasant. 

 

The plan also recommends that Racine County develop a Root River Trail within the Village. The proposed trail 

would connect to the existing four-mile Root River Pathway within the City of Racine and continue north along the 

Root River into Milwaukee County, eventually connecting to an existing segment of the trail in the City of Franklin. 

The County plan also recommends the County continue to maintain signage and other route amenities associated 

with the on-street Racine County Bicycle Route, approximately 34 miles of which are within the Village planning 

area. 

 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 62 

The County park plan recognizes the popularity of water-related activities and recommends the development of 

water trails on the Root River and along the Lake Michigan31 shoreline within and adjacent to the Village, connecting 

with water trails in adjacent counties. The plan recommends providing public canoe/kayak access points along with 

parking every 10 miles on major streams within Racine County. Existing public canoe access sites are currently 

located at River Bend Nature Center and Horlick Park, and specific locations for the development of additional 

access sites are recommended in the Root River watershed plan (see Appendix C). As lakeshore property within the 

Village becomes available, Racine County and the Village should jointly evaluate the recreational potential and 

consider acquiring the land for public access and recreational use, including beach swimming, shore fishing, and 

other lake-oriented activities. 

 

Call Out: The topography of the Village’s Lake Michigan shoreline poses challenges for the development of recreational 

facilities 

 

Regional Natural Areas Plan 
The 1994 regional natural areas study identified natural areas and critical species habitat sites in Southeastern 

Wisconsin. The inventory of natural areas, critical species habitat sites, and geological sites32 was updated in 201033 

and 2020.34 Recommendations for the protection of the 14 natural areas, 14 critical species habitat sites, and two 

geological areas identified in the Village35 are included in Chapter 5. 

 

Natural areas and critical species habitat sites are defined as tracts of land or water so little modified by human 

activity, or sufficiently recovered from its effects, that they contain intact native plant and animal communities 

 
31 In July 2017, the Department of Natural Resources designated the Lake Michigan Water Trail as a State Trail. 

32 SEWRPC Planning Report No. 42, A Regional Natural Areas and Critical Species Habitat Protection and Management Plan for 

Southeastern Wisconsin, September 1997. 

33 SEWRPC Amendment to Planning Report No. 42, Natural Areas and Critical Species Habitat Protection and Management Plan 

for Southeastern Wisconsin, December 2010. 

34 SEWRPC 2nd Amendment to Planning Report No. 42, Natural Areas and Critical Species Habitat Protection and Management 

Plan for Southeastern Wisconsin, was under preparation as the park and open space plan update was being developed. Updated 

2020 inventory data from the draft amendment has been incorporated into the park plan update. 

35 Natural areas, critical species habitat sites, and geological areas are shown on Map 2.9 and described in Table 2.8 in Chapter 2 

of this report. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 63 

believed to be representative of the pre-European-settlement landscape or are areas that support rare, threatened, 

or endangered plant or animal species. The regional natural areas plan recommends protecting and preserving such 

areas in the Region. The plan identifies potential sites to be placed in public or private protective ownership, and 

other sites to be protected, insofar as it is possible, through zoning and other regulatory means without protective 

ownership. It also recommends preparing and implementing a detailed management plan for each site placed under 

protective ownership. The plan further recommends that boundaries of the natural areas, critical species habitat 

sites, and geological sites should be precisely identified based on a field delineation prior to acquisition by a public 

agency or nonprofit conservation organization. Acquisition may be through fee-simple purchase or by establishing 

a conservation easement. 

 

Root River Watershed Restoration Plan 
The Commission prepared the Restoration Plan for the Root River Watershed36 at the request of Racine County, the 

Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage District (MMSD), the Southeastern Wisconsin Watersheds Trust, Inc. (Sweet 

Water), and the Root-Pike WIN. The plan addresses concerns about watershed degradation through a 

comprehensive approach to guide the management and restoration of water resources. The watershed plan builds 

upon the findings and recommendations of the 2007 Regional Water Quality Management Plan Update37 and is 

designed to assist government agencies, nongovernmental organizations, and private landowners by providing 

specific, targeted recommendations and identifying methods that will restore and improve the natural resources of 

the watershed. The watershed restoration plan is focused on four issues: water quality, recreational use and access, 

habitat conditions, and flooding.38 

 

As shown on Map 2.7 in Chapter 2, approximately 12 linear miles of the Root River, and about 22,945 acres of the 

Root River watershed (or about 18 percent of the total watershed), are located within the Village of Caledonia. 

Publicly-owned sites within the Village’s portion of the watershed (Racine County-owned River Bend Nature Center, 

Milwaukee and Racine County-owned parkway lands, City of Racine-owned Johnson Park, and Village-owned 

Linwood Park) encompass about 942 acres. Four privately-owned sites (three Caledonia Conservancy properties and 

 
36 SEWRPC Community Assistance Planning Report No. 316, A Restoration Plan for the Root River Watershed, July 2014.  

37 SEWRPC Planning Report No. 50, A Regional Water Quality Management Plan Update for the Greater Milwaukee Watersheds, 

Parts One and Two, December 2007. 

38 Flood mitigation approaches were addressed in the Root River plan for the Racine County portion of the watershed. Flooding in 

the Milwaukee County portion of the watershed is being addressed through separate studies.  



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 64 

the privately-owned S.C. Johnson Armstrong Park) within the Village’s portion of the watershed encompass 

approximately 177 acres. Together, these sites protect about 1,119 acres of the Root River watershed. 

 

The Root River provides many recreational opportunities for Village residents, including fishing, hunting, boating, 

wading, canoeing, kayaking, wildlife watching, and scenic viewing. In April 2024, the Racine County Board of 

Supervisors approved the removal of the Horlick Dam, located just south of the Village in the City of Racine, 

beginning in 2025. The dam’s removal is anticipated to have numerous upstream benefits which will affect the 

River’s health within the Village, including reducing sediment buildup, improved water quality, and restoration of 

natural habitat conditions which are beneficial to wildlife. The U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) anticipates that 

removal of the dam will improve the Qualitative Habitat Evaluation Index (QHEI) score upstream from the dam site, 

including approximately four miles of the Root River within the Village, from 27 (very poor) to 87 (excellent).39 The 

restored connection of approximately 160 miles of stream and over 6,000 acres of connected wetlands to Lake 

Michigan will also allow native fish species to migrate upstream, potentially increasing opportunities for fishing 

throughout the Root River, its tributaries, and connected wetlands. This connection will also enhance boating, 

canoeing, and kayaking on the Root River and allow paddlers direct access between the River within the Village and 

Lake Michigan. 

 

Call Out: The removal of the Horlick Dam provides many environmental benefits and new recreational opportunities 

for the Village 

 

The watershed plan recommends expanding and/or protecting riparian buffers along the River and its tributaries, 

which include Hoods Creek, Husher Creek, Crayfish Creek, and the Kilbournville tributary in the Village. It contains 

site-specific recommendations to promote water quality, improve habitat, and provide recreational opportunities 

as well as recommendations for green infrastructure and floodplain mitigation planning throughout the Village. The 

plan includes a recommendation from the regional water quality management plan to restore marginally productive 

agricultural lands to wetland or prairie conditions. Pertinent recommendations from the Root River watershed 

restoration plan are detailed in Chapter 5 and Appendix C. 

 

 
39 An analysis of the impact of the Horlick Dam’s removal was conducted by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers in Horlick Dam: Root 

River Restoration Section 506 GLFER, Final Integrated Feasibility Report and Environmental Assessment, December 2023. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 65 

4.3 REGIONAL PARK AND OPEN SPACE OBJECTIVES, PRINCIPLES, AND STANDARDS 

In 1977, the Regional Planning Commission formulated a comprehensive set of preservation, acquisition, and 

development objectives that address neighborhood, community, and multi-community or regional park and open 

space sites and facilities as integral parts of an areawide system. Attaining these objectives is intended to provide 

local communities with opportunities for high-quality recreational experiences. The objectives, principles, and 

standards developed for the Regional Park and Open Space Plan, included in Appendix A, were used to prepare 

both the Racine County and Village of Caledonia park and open space plans. The regional standards have been 

updated over time to incorporate newer State regulations and standards for changing recreational activities.  

 

The Regional and County park and open space plans describe shared responsibility among various levels of 

government for providing the necessary parks, open space lands, and associated recreational facilities. State and 

county governments are largely responsible for acquiring and developing major resource-oriented parks and 

recreational facilities,40 although larger cities sometimes provide major parks. The continued maintenance and 

development of Cliffside Park by Racine County and Johnson Park and Golf Course by the City of Racine will meet 

the need for major parks within the Village of Caledonia. Additionally, Milwaukee County owns and maintains the 

300-acre Bender Park in the City of Oak Creek just north of the Village, which includes a beach on the Lake Michigan 

shoreline, boat launches with trailer parking, hiking trails, fishing, and a recreation building with restrooms. The 

regional objectives, principles, and standards delegate the responsibility for providing smaller community and 

neighborhood parks and facilities to cities, villages, and towns. 

 

4.4 PARK AND OPEN SPACE NEEDS 

Needs Analysis 
A needs analysis was conducted to help determine the need for additional outdoor recreation sites and facilities to 

serve the Village’s anticipated future resident population. For this update, two different approaches were utilized to 

assess the need for additional parks and recreational facilities: applying the per capita and accessibility standards in 

Appendix A for the size, number, and spatial distribution of public and private parks and outdoor recreation facilities; 

and utilizing the park metrics in Appendix B to benchmark Caledonia’s current sites and facilities relative to peer 

communities. 

 
40 Resource-oriented recreational facilities include camping, golfing, picnicking, skiing, and beach swimming. Such facilities are 

dependent on the natural resources, such as woodlands and rivers or lakes, of the site in which they are located. Facility requirements 

for these activities are set forth under Objective No. 3 in Appendix A. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 66 

 

Per capita standards determine the number of acres of parkland or the number of recreational facilities to be 

provided for every 1,000 Village residents. As noted in Chapter 2, the Village’s 2020 population was 25,361, and the 

projected 2050 population upon which the needs analysis is based is about 34,027 persons. Recreational facilities 

include ball diamonds, soccer fields, tennis/pickleball courts, basketball goals (hoops), playgrounds, and similar 

facilities. Accessibility standards apply a recommended service area to community and neighborhood parks and 

recreational facilities. They are intended to ensure that these sites are well-distributed throughout the Village and 

convenient to all residents.  

 

The National Recreation and Park Association (NRPA) introduced NRPA Park Metrics41 in 2009 as a methodology 

for evaluating the provision of park and recreation sites and facilities relative to other communities with similar 

characteristics. In conjunction with public feedback, performance benchmarking with these metrics allows for a 

baseline analysis of the current park system’s adequacy while recognizing that standards alone cannot account for 

an individual community’s unique characteristics, needs, and desires. Caledonia was benchmarked relative to other 

communities with populations ranging from 20,000 to 40,000, having 20 to 40 park sites, and located in the East 

North Central Division as defined by the U.S. Census Bureau.42 Lower, median, and upper quartile performance 

metrics for 2023, the most recent year for which complete data were available, were considered in the analysis. The 

park metrics for this peer group of communities are included in Appendix B. 

 

Call Out: The needs analysis addresses both the current and future provision of parks and recreational facilities in the 

Village 

 

Community and Neighborhood Parks 
Objective 2 in Appendix A defines regional standards for the provision of adequate sites and facilities for non-

resource-oriented recreation activities, which do not depend upon the presence of natural resources such as 

woodlands, slopes, lakes, rivers, or large expanses of land. Non-resource-oriented facilities, typically provided at 

community and neighborhood parks and public schools, include ball diamonds, soccer fields, tennis/pickleball 

courts, swimming pools, and basketball courts or hoops. 

 

 
41 Annual updates to the NRPA Park Metrics are provided in a variety of formats on the NRPA website at www.nrpa.org. 
42 The U.S. Census Bureau includes the states of Illinois, Indiana, Michigan, Ohio, and Wisconsin in the East North Central Division 

of the larger Midwest Region. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 67 

Community parks range in size from 25 to 99 acres, have a service radius of two miles, and generally provide 

community-oriented facilities such as baseball or softball diamonds, tennis courts, and swimming pools. 

Neighborhood parks range in size from five to 24 acres and have a service radius of 0.5 miles in high-density 

residential areas, 0.75 miles in medium-density residential areas, and 1.0 miles in low-density residential areas. The 

needs analysis applied a service radius of 0.75 miles to reflect the prevalence of medium-density residential areas 

in the Village of Caledonia. Neighborhood parks provide facilities for children’s outdoor recreation activities, such 

as playground and playfield activities, basketball, and other court games. 

 

Community parks generally include typical neighborhood park facilities (playfields and playgrounds) in addition to 

community park facilities (ball diamonds and tennis courts) and can, therefore, fill an area’s need for neighborhood 

parks. Both community and neighborhood parks should also provide landscaped areas for passive recreation uses 

such as picnicking, walking, and general relaxation. 

 

Although not generally perceived as parks, public school outdoor recreation sites often provide areas for the pursuit 

of non-resource-related activities and are therefore taken into account in the application of the per capita acreage 

and service area standards for urban outdoor recreation sites and facilities. Because school sites generally do not 

provide areas for picnicking and other passive uses, they are not considered when applying the service area 

standards for community and neighborhood parks. Two school sites in the Village have been closed since the 2018 

plan update. It should be noted that Racine Unified School District events and policies may limit the availability and 

use of certain facilities to the general public. 

 

Neighborhood park sites provide facilities for children’s outdoor recreation activities, which should be accessible 

through a convenient and safe pedestrian circulation pattern. In the service area analysis, features such as rivers and 

railroads were considered as barriers preventing pedestrian access from residential areas to neighborhood parks 

and recreation facilities unless a bridge or street provided convenient access. Arterial streets were also considered 

barriers to neighborhood parks, except in cases where stop signs or signals provided convenient pedestrian access 

from surrounding residential areas. 

 

Site Needs Based on Per Capita Standards 
Table 4.1 presents the per capita standards for the amount of land needed for community and neighborhood parks 

to serve Village residents in the year 2050. Applying the regional per capita standards indicates a need for additional 

public school site outdoor recreation lands; however, the total acreage of lands available for public outdoor 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 68 

recreation exceeds the regional standards due to the acreage of existing public park sites within the Village planning 

area. Based on the Village’s estimated 2024 population, the Village currently proves 30.6 acres of parks per 1,000 

residents. Park metrics benchmarking, which does not differentiate park and public school sites, indicates that the 

Village’s current per capita acreage exceeds the 2023 peer community upper quartile of 20.0 acres of parks per 

1,000 residents. Additional parks may still be needed to provide an appropriate spatial distribution throughout the 

Village. 

 

Table 4.1 
Per Capita Acreage Needs Analysis for Community and 
Neighborhood Parks in the Village of Caledonia 
 

Park and School Sites 

Minimum Net 
Acreage Standard 
(developable acres 
per 1,000 persons)b 

Existing 
Net 

Acreage 

Per Capita Acreage Requirements 
Existing 2020 Population: 

25,361 Residents 
Planned 2050 Population: 

34,027 Residents 
Net Acreage 

Need Based on 
Standardc 

Additional Net 
Acreage Needd 

Net Acreage 
Need Based on 

Standardc 
Additional Net 
Acreage Needd 

Parksa 3.9 751e 99 -- 133 -- 
Schools 2.5 23f 63 40 85 52 

Total 6.4 774 162 -- 218 -- 

a Includes eight Village-owned community and neighborhood park sites, including 5 ½ Mile Park, Chapla Park, County Line Park, Crawford Park, Gorney 
Park, Linwood Park, Maple Park, and Water’s Edge Park. Also included are two sites owned by Racine County (Cliffside Park and Franksville Memorial 
Park) and one site owned by the City of Racine (Johnson Park and Golf Course), which provide community and neighborhood recreational facilities to 
Village residents. 

b Per capita acreage standards are set forth under Objective No. 1 in Appendix A. 
c The acreage need for park and school sites was determined by multiplying the acreage standard by the appropriate population in thousands of persons. 
d Additional acreage need was determined by subtracting the existing acres from the need identified by applying the standard. Since the remainder was a 
negative number, no need for additional parks was identified based on per capita standards. See Maps 4.2 and 4.3 for areas located outside the 
recommended service area for community and neighborhood parks, respectively. 

e Includes about 189 acres of existing developed (143 acres) and potential developable (46 acres) areas at 11 existing major, community, and neighborhood 
parks. Developable area excludes wetlands, lowland portions of primary and secondary environmental corridors and isolated natural resource areas, and 
floodplains within existing parks. 

f This total includes acreage available for outdoor recreation purposes at two public school sites within the Village of Caledonia. 

Source: Village of Caledonia and Southeastern Wisconsin Regional Planning Commission 
 

 

  



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 69 

Site Needs Based on Service Area Standards 
The regional service area standards are intended to ensure that the spatial distribution of public park and open 

space sites is convenient and efficient for the population they serve. Areas developed or planned for nonresidential 

uses, including commercial, industrial, and institutional uses, need not be served with community or neighborhood 

parks and are not considered in determining the need for additional park sites. 

 

Map 4.3 shows the application of the two-mile service area radius to existing parks providing community facilities, 

including Cliffside Park, Crawford Park, Franksville Memorial Park, and Gorney Park in the Village and Johnson Park 

and Golf Course in the City of Racine. Developed areas in the Village as of 2024 are within the recommended service 

area of existing community parks, but planned residential areas west of CTH V are not adequately served by a 

community park. 

 

Map 4.4 shows the application of the 0.75-mile service area radius to existing parks providing neighborhood 

facilities, including Chapla Park, Linwood Park, Maple Park, and the community parks noted above. As of 2024, 

Caledonia’s neighborhood parks are concentrated in the eastern portion of the Village, and much of the Village 

west of STH 32 is not adequately served by a neighborhood park. The presence of railroads or arterial streets is also 

a barrier to access, and as a result, there are areas of the Village that are considered inadequately served despite 

being within the 0.75-mile service area radius.  



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 70 

 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 71 

 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 72 

Facility Needs Based on Per Capita Standards 
The regional facility standards described under Objective No. 2 in Appendix A are concerned with providing an 

adequate number and distribution of outdoor recreation facilities to afford Village residents opportunities to 

participate in intensive outdoor recreation activities such as baseball, softball, soccer, and tennis. Table 4.2 presents 

the regional per capita facility standards relative to the Village’s projected 2050 population level, including existing 

facilities located in public and private sites within the Village. Facilities at public sites include those at community 

parks, neighborhood parks, and public schools. Facilities at private sites include those at private schools and 

commercial and organizational recreation sites. 

 

Applying the regional per capita standards identifies a need for twenty additional public basketball hoops, five 

additional public playfields, four additional public playgrounds, eight additional public softball diamonds,43 and 

eight additional public tennis/pickleball courts. These needs should be fulfilled by investment in additional public 

facilities, as the public sector has no control over the provision of or access to additional privately owned recreational 

facilities. 

 

Call Out: Per capita standards and benchmarks do not account for the condition, quality, or distribution of facilities 

 

Public recreational preferences are continually evolving, and the types of facilities needed to serve them also change 

over time. The six most prevalent types of outdoor recreation facilities identified by NRPA are the same as those set 

forth in the regional standards noted above, with the additional inclusion of dog parks. Table 4.3 presents 

benchmarks of the Village’s current public facilities provision along with the lower, median, and upper quartile’s 

residents per facility in peer communities. Analysis of public outdoor recreation facilities using park metrics indicates 

that the Village’s provision of ball diamonds, basketball hoops, dog parks, rectangular playfields, and 

tennis/pickleball courts meets or exceeds that of peer communities. However, this analysis indicates that the Village 

may not be providing adequate playground facilities to meet the current demand. Note that these benchmarks do 

not account for the condition, quality, or distribution of current facilities. In addition, park metrics are intended to 

provide a basis for comparison and do not constitute standards. Benchmarking performance alone does not 

necessarily indicate whether an individual community’s demand and preference for specific facilities is adequately 

served.  

 
43 A net total of two ball diamonds is needed to meet per capita needs as the needs analysis indicates that the provision of public 

baseball diamonds, which may also serve as softball diamonds, currently exceeds the per capita standard. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 73 

Table 4.2 
Per Capita Needs Analysis for Selected Outdoor Recreation Facilities in the Village of Caledonia 
 

Minimum Per Capita Facility Standardsa Facility Need 
Based on 
Standardb 

Existing 
Number of 
Facilities 

Additional 
Facility Needc Activity Facility Owner 

Facility per 1,000 
Residents 

Baseball Diamond Public  
Nonpublic 
Total 

0.09 
0.01 
0.10 

4 
1 
5 

11d 
0 

11 

-- 

Basketball Hoop Public  
Nonpublic 
Total 

0.91 
0.22 
1.13 

31 
8 

39 

11 
17 
28 

20 Public 

Playfield 
Activities 

Playfield Public  
Nonpublic 
Total 

0.39 
0.11 
0.50 

14 
4 

18 

9 
8 

19 

5 Public 

Playground 
Activities 

Playground Public  
Nonpublic 
Total 

0.35 
0.07 
0.42 

12 
3 

15 

8 
8 

18 

4 Public 

Soccer Field Public  
Nonpublic 
Total 

0.69 
0.17 
0.86 

24 
6 

30 

23e 
39 
64 

1 public 

Softball Diamond Public  
Nonpublic 
Total 

0.53 
0.07 
0.60 

19 
3 

21 

11f 
3 

14 

8 Public 

Tennis/ 
Pickleball 

Court Public  
Nonpublic 
Total 

0.41 
0.09 
0.50 

14 
4 

15 

6g 
14h 
18 

8 Public 

a Per capita facility standards are set forth under Objective No. 2 in Appendix A. 
b The facility need was determined by multiplying the facility standard per 1,000 residents anticipated under the adopted Village of Caledonia comprehensive 
plan (34,027 residents). 
c The need for additional facilities was determined by subtracting the existing number of facilities from the facility need based on application of the standard.  
In cases where the existing number of facilities exceeds the facility need based on the standard, no additional facility need was identified.  In cases where 
either the number of existing public facilities or the total number of facilities was less than the number called for under the standards, a need for additional 
public facilities to fulfill the standard was identified. 
d Includes six baseball diamonds at the County-owned Haban Park, located in the Village of Mount Pleasant, and a league softball diamond at Franksville 
Memorial Park, which may also be used for baseball. 
e Includes seven soccer fields at Haban Park when the ball diamonds are not being used for baseball or softball. 
f Includes six softball diamonds at Haban Park. 
g Includes two tennis courts located at Village Green Park, located in the Village of Wind Point. 
h Includes nine indoor tennis courts located at the LifeSport Tennis Club. 

Source: Village of Caledonia and Southeastern Wisconsin Regional Planning Commission 
 

 

  



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 74 

Table 4.3 
Per Capita Performance Benchmarks for Selected Public Outdoor Recreation Facilities in the Village of 
Caledonia 
 

Activity Facility 

Number of 
Existing 

Facilitiesa Benchmark Residents Per Facility 

Facility Need 
to Meet 

Benchmarkb 
Additional 

Facility Needc 

Baseball 
Softball Diamond 22d 

Upper 25% 
Median 
Lower 25% 

1927 
2593 
3685 

18 
3 
9 

- 
- 
- 

Basketball Hoop 11 
Upper 25% 
Median 
Lower 25% 

1925 
3878 
7443 

18 
9 
5 

7 
- 
- 

Dog Park 1 
Upper 25% 
Median 
Lower 25% 

35100 
36141 
37183 

1 
1 
1 

- 
- 
- 

Playground 
Activities Playground 8 

Upper 25% 
Median 
Lower 25% 

1323 
1620 
2375 

26 
21 
14 

18 
13 
6 

Soccer Rectangular 
Field 32e 

Upper 25% 
Median 
Lower 25% 

1310 
1310 
1310 

26 
26 
26 

- 
- 
- 

Tennis 
Pickleball Court 6f 

Upper 25% 
Median 
Lower 25% 

3764 
5563 
9834 

9 
6 
3 

3 
- 
- 

a Includes only public facilities. 
b The facility need to meet the benchmark was determined by dividing the Village of Caledonia’s estimated 2024 population (25,428 residents) by the 
benchmark residents per facility for each quartile. 
c The need for additional facilities was determined by subtracting the existing number of facilities from the calculated facility need to meet the benchmark 
for each quartile. In cases where the existing number of facilities exceeds the benchmark facility need, no additional facility need was identified. In cases 
where the number of existing public facilities was less than the benchmark facility need, a need for additional public facilities was identified. 
d Includes six baseball and six softball diamonds at the County-owned Haban Park, located in the Village of Mount Pleasant, and a league softball diamond 
at Franksville Memorial Park, which may also be used for baseball. 
e Includes seven soccer fields at Haban Park when the ball diamonds are not being used for baseball or softball and rectangular playfields that may also be 
used as soccer fields. 
f Includes two tennis courts located at Village Green Park, located in the Village of Wind Point. 

Source: Village of Caledonia, National Recreation and Park Association, and Southeastern Wisconsin Regional Planning Commission 
 
 

 

  



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 75 

Facility Needs Based on Service Area Standards 
The spatial distribution of outdoor recreation facilities should provide ready access for Village residents. Applying 

Objective No. 2’s service radius standards determined which portions of the Village may lack adequate access to 

selected non-resource-oriented outdoor recreation facilities, as identified below. 

 

Ball Diamonds 
Map 4.5 shows the four public outdoor recreation sites that provide baseball diamonds and the five public outdoor 

recreation sites that provide league or sandlot softball diamonds in the Village in 2024. Applying the two-mile 

service area radius standard of a baseball diamond and the one-mile service area radius standard of a softball 

diamond indicates that areas in the south-central and western portions of the Village are not served by the existing 

distribution of ball diamonds. Note that although baseball and softball diamonds have different dimensions and 

base spacing, many ball diamonds can be adjusted for either sport in a recreational context. 

 

Basketball Hoops 
Map 4.6 shows the five public outdoor recreation sites in the Village that provide basketball hoops in 2024. Applying 

the 0.5-mile service area radius standard for a basketball hoop indicates that much of the Village west of STH 32, 

apart from the Franksville area, is not served by the existing distribution of basketball hoops. Railroads also create 

access barriers in some areas of the Village which are inadequately served, although they are within the 0.5-mile 

service area radius. 

 

Playfields 
Nine public outdoor recreation sites in the Village provided playfields in 2024, as shown on Map 4.7. Applying the 

0.5-mile service area radius standard of a playfield indicates that, aside from the Franksville and Johnson Park areas, 

much of the Village west of STH 32 is not served by the existing distribution of playfields. Natural and man-made 

barriers also restrict access in limited areas of the Village which, although within the 0.5-mile service area radius, are 

considered inadequately served. 

 

Playgrounds 
Eight public outdoor recreation sites in the Village provided playgrounds in 2024, also shown on Map 4.7. As with 

playfields, which have nearly the same distribution within the Village, applying the 0.5-mile service area radius 

standard of a playground indicates that much of the Village west of STH 32 is not served by the existing distribution 

of playgrounds. Limited areas of the Village which are within the 0.5-mile service area radius are also considered 

inadequately served due to the presence of natural and man-made barriers. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 76 

 

Soccer Fields 
Five public outdoor recreation sites in the Village provided soccer fields in 2024, as shown on Map 4.8, The privately-

owned Soccer Complex of Racine (SCORE), adjacent to the Franksville Memorial Park, also provides soccer fields 

within the Village. Applying the one-mile service area radius standard for soccer fields indicates that areas in the 

eastern, east-central,44 and western portions of the Village are not served by the existing distribution of soccer fields. 

Note that playfields and the outfields of ball diamonds may be able to serve as junior soccer fields and that the 

presence of these facilities may fulfill some of the recreational soccer field needs. 

 

Tennis/Pickleball Courts 
Two public outdoor recreation sites in the Village provided tennis or pickleball courts in 2024, as shown on Map 4.9. 

The maximum service radius for a tennis court is one mile. Application of the service area standard indicates that 

much of the Village is not served by the existing distribution of tennis or pickleball courts. 

 

Swimming Pool or Beach 
Bender Park, north of the Village in the City of Oak Creek, and North Beach, south of the Village in the City of Racine, 

provide Village residents access to public beaches on Lake Michigan. Beaches along Lake Michigan have a 10-mile 

service radius, which encompasses the entire Village within the service area of both existing public beaches. The 

County-owned Quarry Lake Park, which is located just south of the Village in the Village of Mount Pleasant, also 

provides a public beach.  

 
44 The adopted master plan for Crawford Park includes a planned soccer field which, when completed, will improve service area 

coverage in the eastern and east-central portions of the Village. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 77 

 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 78 

 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 79 

 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 80 

 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 81 

 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 82 

Community-Specific Site and Facility Needs 
It is important to recognize that recreational preferences vary from individual to individual and that varied 

demographic characteristics and development patterns within different areas of the Village may influence the 

demand and preference for specific outdoor recreation sites and facilities in different areas. Although the regional 

objectives, principles, and standards were formulated to support an integrated, areawide system of park and open 

space sites, community-specific conditions should be considered in the type and distribution of sites and facilities 

at the local level. 

 

Village of Caledonia Parks Survey 
The Village of Caledonia conducted an electronic survey of park users in the Village about the usage and preferences 

for parks, trails, and recreational facilities from April through September 2024. Village staff prepared the survey, and 

Commission staff compiled and analyzed the responses, which are detailed in Appendix D of this report. The survey, 

which was promoted on the Village’s website and accessible via QR codes posted at the Village Hall and all Village 

parks, received 534 unique responses. 97% of respondents were residents of the Village. Figures 4.1 and 4.2 show 

the age and location distribution of survey respondents. 

 

 

Call Out: Less than a third of survey respondents agreed 

that the Village’s current parks met their needs 

 

Across all age groups and geographic areas, less than 

29% of survey respondents agreed that the parks 

currently in the Village of Caledonia met their needs.  

Over 60% of respondents expressed a desire for more 

features or amenities in existing parks and nearly 42% 

identified better maintenance of facilities as an 

important priority. Younger age groups, particularly, 

also identified a desire for additional neighborhood 

parks (44% of those under the age of 35) and felt that 

having a variety of activity offerings at a park was 

highly important, second only to safety and cleanliness. 

 

Figure 4.1
Survey Respondents by Age Range 

 

11 7

86

149

105

94

82

Under 18 years old 18-24 years old
25-34 years old 35-44 years old
45-54 years old 55-64 years old
65 years old and over



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 83 

Walking or jogging (68%) and enjoying nature (54%) were the primary activities that respondents from all age 

groups and geographic areas participate in at parks in the Village. Potentially coinciding with this, over 80% of 

respondents felt that preserving natural areas was somewhat or very important and there was broad support for 

improved bicycle and pedestrian infrastructure and safer, more accessible routes. More than three quarters of all 

respondents rated the Village’s current bicycle and pedestrian facilities as neutral or low quality. Residents east of 

STH 32 or west of STH 32 and south of 4 Mile Road expressed a strong desire for sidewalk enhancements (45%), 

additional bike lanes (41%), and pedestrian-friendly intersection improvements (51%), while those west of STH 32 

and north of 4 Mile Road did not prioritize these improvements as strongly (33%, 35%, and 29%, respectively). 

Additional trails to support a variety of activities were desired throughout the community, with 44% of respondents 

identifying trails as an amenity they would like more of. 

 

Similarly, there are age and geographic differences in preferred 

activities and amenities. Younger respondents tended to express 

a strong interest in amenities tailored to children and families, 

while older age groups shifted towards social or outdoor 

recreational amenities such as beer gardens, gathering spaces, 

pavilions, and trails. Respondents under the age of 44, especially 

those in the eastern portion of the Village, expressed a strong 

desire for additional playground amenities (53%), inclusive play 

areas (38%), and splash pads (60%). Nearly half of respondents 

(48%) across all adult age groups expressed a desire for more 

beer gardens, which were the most requested additional 

amenity. Respondents who live outside of the Village enjoy 

similar activities to residents, but 41% also included playing 

baseball or softball as a preferred activity in Caledonia’s parks, indicating that the ball diamonds may be drawing 

outside visitors to travel to the Village’s parks. Additional sports facilities (ball diamonds, rectangular fields, etc.) 

were generally not ranked as a high priority by the majority of respondents with two notable exceptions. 

Tennis/pickleball courts were prioritized by approximately 30% of respondents, particularly those ages 45 and older. 

Respondents under the age of 24 expressed a desire for a variety of sports facilities including multi-use fields (44%), 

basketball courts (39%), and sand volleyball courts (39%). 

  

Figure 4.2 
Survey Respondents by Geographic Area 

 

East of Douglas Ave (STH 32)

West of Douglas Ave (STH 32) & South of 4 Mile Rd

West of Douglas Ave (STH 32) & North of 4 Mile Rd

Outside of Caledonia



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 84 

WD 271817-2 – V. Caledonia POSP Ch. 5 Text 
110-1262 
BRMJED/BMW 
1/31/2025; 1/9/2025; 11/7/2024 
 
 

Community Assistance Planning Report No. 179 (4th Edition) 
 

A PARK AND OPEN SPACE PLAN FOR THE VILLAGE OF CALEDONIA: 2050 
 
 

Chapter 5 
 
 

PARK AND OPEN SPACE PLAN 
 
 
 

5.1 INTRODUCTION 

The recommended park and open space plan presented in this chapter is intended to guide the Village’s continued 

development of a high-quality parks system providing cultural, environmental, recreational, and aesthetic benefits 

to Caledonia’s residents and visitors. The plan provides a long-range vision to the year 2050 and includes 

recommendations to acquire additional land for parks and open space preservation, develop or improve recreational 

facilities at existing and proposed parks, protect important natural resources, and continue to develop a Village-

wide system of trails and bikeways. To facilitate implementation, the Village park and open space recommendations 

in this chapter include both a five year short-term “action plan” and long-term recommendations for the next 25 

years. 

 

Preliminary steps in developing this plan included collecting updated inventory information regarding land use, 

population, natural resources, and park and open space sites and recreational facilities, and reviewing the current 

status of park acquisition and development activities recommended in the third edition of the plan. Pertinent 

recommendations from the Village’s comprehensive land use plan map, Root River Watershed Restoration Plan, 

Multi-Jurisdictional Comprehensive Plan for Racine County, Racine County Park and Open Space Plan, and the 

Regional natural areas plan, were identified and incorporated into this plan update, as appropriate. The preceding 

chapters provide detailed information related to these preliminary steps. 

 

Several levels of government share responsibility for implementing recommendations to meet park and open space 

objectives. State and County governments typically address resource-oriented outdoor recreation objectives for 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 85 

large parks, areawide trail facilities, and facilities for such activities as golfing, camping, and boating, although larger 

cities and villages sometimes provide large parks and associated recreational facilities and segments of areawide 

trails. Local governments are typically responsible for nonresource-oriented outdoor recreation objectives for 

community and neighborhood parks for activities such as softball, tennis, soccer, and children’s playground 

activities. Objectives intended to protect such important natural resource features as environmental corridors, 

isolated natural resource areas, natural areas, and critical species habitat sites, are the responsibility of all levels of 

government. 

 

The next section of this chapter details the open space preservation recommendations related to protecting primary 

and secondary environmental corridors, isolated natural resource areas, natural areas, and critical species habitat 

sites in both Racine County and the Village of Caledonia. The third section summarizes the areawide park and open 

space recommendations presented in the Racine County Park and Open Space Plan45 pertaining to resource-

oriented outdoor recreation sites and facilities and developing an area-wide trail system within and adjacent to the 

Village of Caledonia portion of Racine County. The fourth section of this chapter provides recommendations for 

Village park and open space sites and facilities. Actions needed to successfully implement the plan are described in 

the final (fifth) section of the chapter. 

 

5.2 OPEN SPACE PRESERVATION 

Preserving open space lands in essentially natural, open uses protects the Village’s natural beauty, maintains a high 

level of environmental quality, provides valuable recreational opportunities, and helps to avoid critical and costly 

environmental and developmental problems. Many important natural resources, including wetlands, floodplains, 

woodlands, surface water, natural and geological areas, and critical species habitat sites, are located within 

environmental corridors and isolated natural resource areas as described in Chapter 2. The frequency and intensity 

of severe weather events in Racine County has been increasing in recent years, and this trend is anticipated to 

continue for the foreseeable future.46 Preserving open space lands can help to mitigate the damages that often 

result from these events. For example, wetlands absorb and reduce water flows associated with heavy precipitation, 

and preserving floodplains as open space reduces damage to property and structures when these events occur. 

 
45 SEWRPC Community Assistance Planning Report No. 134, 3rd Edition, A Park and Open Space Plan for Racine County, Wisconsin, 

February 2013. 

46 Information on historical and projected climate conditions affecting the Village of Caledonia is included in SEWRPC Community 

Assistance Planning Report No. 266, 4th Edition, Racine County Hazard Mitigation Plan Update: 2023-2028, July 2024.  



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 86 

 

Recommended open space preservation areas may change over time due to a variety of man-made and natural 

causes including but not limited to the impacts of urban and rural development; updated floodplain and wetland 

mapping; natural changes in wetland, woodland, and other natural resource feature boundaries; and field surveys 

that precisely identify the boundaries of environmentally sensitive areas. Adjacent areas that are not developed for 

urban or recreational uses may also revert to natural conditions and eventually be added to the environmental 

corridor network. Therefore, it is recommended that public acquisition or conservancy zoning of wetlands and 

environmental corridors/isolated natural resource areas should be based on site specific conditions and a field 

delineation. 

 

Open Space Preservation Recommendations 
Existing and recommended open space preservation areas within the Village planning area are shown on Map 5.1 

and described in Table 5.1 Approximately 4,197 acres have been identified as open space preservation areas within 

the Village. About 1,350 acres, or 32 percent, of these areas are publicly owned, including lands owned by the Village 

of Caledonia, Milwaukee County, Racine County, the City of Racine, the Racine Unified School District, the State of 

Wisconsin, and the United States Federal Government. All publicly-owned open space preservation areas should be 

maintained in public ownership and preserved in open space. About 270 acres of existing open space preservation 

areas are privately owned, including lands owned by nonprofit conservation organizations and lands within private 

parks, a driving range, and common open space areas in conservation subdivisions. Conservation easements 

currently protect about 86 acres of existing open space preservation areas. 

 

The plan recommends that the Village acquire about 32 acres of open space preservation areas associated with the 

Nicholson Wildlife Refuge and with the acquisition of parklands for new park sites or for natural resource protection. 

It is recommended that Racine County acquire about 346 acres, mainly located along the Root River, including 196 

acres associated with three natural areas, four critical species habitat sites, and a geological area. The plan also 

recommends that nonprofit conservation organizations such as the Caledonia Conservancy acquire about 169 acres 

of open space preservation areas, including 157 acres associated with six natural areas. Acquiring the recommended 

open space preservation areas could be accomplished through fee-simple purchase, dedication, or through 

conservation easements. The use of conservancy zoning, deed restrictions, or conservation easements should be 

considered to preserve identified open space lands where public acquisition is not possible or practical.  

 

The plan recommends that approximately 1,934 acres of open space preservation areas not recommended for public 

ownership or acquisition by a private conservancy organization be protected by the appropriate Village conservancy 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 87 

zoning. Conservancy zoning regulations will limit development in wetland and floodplain areas to open space uses, 

and in upland wooded areas to very low density residential use (minimum of five acres of upland areas per dwelling 

unit) or compatible recreational uses. 

 

Table 5.1 
Existing and Proposed Ownership of Open Space Landa in the Village of Caledonia: 2050 
 

Ownership Existingb (Acres) Plan (Acres) Planned Change (Acres) 
Village of Caledonia 238 270 32 
State of Wisconsin 141 151 10 
Racine County 920 1,266 346 
Other Publicc 51 51 -- 
Nonprofit Conservation Organization 153 322 169 
Private Recreationd 87 87 -- 
Private – Common Open Space Land 
in Conservation Subdivisions 30 30 -- 

Private – Protect Through Zoninge -- 1,934 1,934 
Conservation Easement 86 86 -- 

Total 1,706 4,197 2,491 

a Includes land and water associated with primary environmental corridors, secondary environmental corridors, and isolated natural resource areas. 
b Existing ownership as of 2024. 
c Includes lands owned by Milwaukee County (32 acres), the Racine Unified School District (less than one acre), and the United States Federal Government 
(19 acres). 

d Includes private open space lands held in private ownership for recreational use (for example, shooting ranges, private parks, and driving ranges). 
e Includes private open space lands proposed to be protected through Village zoning. 

Source: Village of Caledonia and Southeastern Wisconsin Regional Planning Commission 
  



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 88 

 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 89 

Primary Environmental Corridors 
The primary environmental corridors (PECs), shown on Map 5.1, encompass approximately 1,881 acres of land 

primarily along the Lake Michigan shoreline, the Root River, and portions of Hoods Creek and Husher Creek within 

the Village. The plan recommends preserving all remaining primary environmental corridors in essentially natural, 

open uses. Approximately 834 acres, or 44%, of PECs are currently in public ownership, including 519 acres of PEC 

adjacent to the Root River, and should remain in public ownership for resource protection purposes. Approximately 

146 acres, or 8% of PECs, are located within private recreational areas, resource protection areas, or common open 

space areas within conservation subdivisions. 

 

The plan recommends that the Village acquire about three acres of primary environmental corridor associated for 

a proposed new Village park and that Racine County acquire about 346 acres of PEC associated with the proposed 

expansion of the Root River Parkway and with the acquisition of natural areas, critical species habitat sites, and a 

geological area. It is also recommended that the State of Wisconsin acquire about ten acres associated with the 

Renak-Polak Maple-Beech Woods and that nonprofit conservation organizations acquire about 89 acres of natural 

areas. Conservancy zoning or zoning for compatible recreational uses is recommended for the remaining 529 acres 

of privately owned PECs within the Village. 

 

Secondary Environmental Corridors 
The secondary environmental corridors (SECs), shown on Map 5.1, encompass approximately 406 acres of land, 

predominantly along a portion of Hoods Creek, along an intermittent stream in the eastern portion of the Village, 

and within and near the Nicholson Wildlife Refuge within the Village. The Village of Caledonia currently owns about 

105 acres of SEC within the Nicholson Wildlife Refuge. An additional 70 acres are within existing privately owned 

outdoor recreation or resource protection areas. The plan recommends that the Village acquire about 24 acres of 

SEC, including 21 additional acres associated with the Nicholson Wildlife Refuge and three acres for a proposed 

new Village park. The use of conservancy zoning or zoning for compatible recreational uses should be considered 

to protect the remaining 207 acres of SECs. 

 

Isolated Natural Resource Areas 
The isolated natural resource areas (INRAs), shown on Map 5.1, encompass about 1,505 acres of land. INRAs are 

scattered throughout the Village, with a significant amount located in the northern and western portions of 

Caledonia. 105 acres of INRAs are currently in public ownership, including 52 acres owned by the Village and six 

acres owned by Racine County, and are proposed to remain in public ownership for resource protection purposes. 

Privately owned outdoor recreation areas, lands with conservation easements, lands owned by nonprofit 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 90 

conservation organizations, and common open space lands within conservation subdivisions encompass about 117 

acres of isolated natural resource areas. 

 

The plan recommends that the Village acquire about four acres of INRAs for the development of new Village parks 

and that a nonprofit conservation organization acquire 80 acres associated with four natural areas. To the extent 

practicable, the plan recommends considering the use of conservancy zoning and maintaining the remaining 1,199 

acres of isolated natural resource areas in essentially natural, open uses. 

 

Natural Areas, Critical Species Habitat Sites, Aquatic Areas, and Geological Sites 
The regional natural areas and critical species habitat protection and management plan47 identifies natural areas, 

critical species habitat sites, aquatic areas, and geological sites within the Village of Caledonia and provides a 

number of recommendations related to preserving these areas. As noted in Chapter 2, there are 14 natural areas, 

14 critical species habitat sites, two aquatic areas, and two geological sites partially or wholly located in the Village. 

Recommendations for protecting approximately 1,227 acres associated with these areas within the Village are 

included on Map 5.1 and summarized in Table 5.2. 

 

The regional natural areas plan and this plan recommend that the Village of Caledonia continue to protect the 

Nicholson Wildlife Refuge and further recommends that the Village acquire the remaining 16 acres of the natural 

area, primarily wetlands within a secondary environmental corridor, by fee-simple purchase, dedication, or through 

a conservation easement. It also recommends that the Village continue to retain other Village parks, open space 

sites, or conservancy areas that encompass natural areas or geological sites for resource protection purposes. The 

plan recommends that the State of Wisconsin/UW-Parkside continue to protect the Renak-Polak Maple-Beech 

Woods State Natural Area and acquire the remaining nine acres associated with the site for resource protection 

purposes. 

 

The plans further recommend that Racine County continue to retain and maintain lands associated with five natural 

areas and acquire the remaining lands associated with four natural areas within the Village. Racine County should 

also continue to retain and maintain lands associated with six critical species habitat sites and acquire the remaining 

 
47 SEWRPC Planning Report No. 42, A Natural Areas and Critical Species Habitat Protection and Management Plan for 

Southeastern Wisconsin, September 1997. The most recent update to the regional natural areas and critical species habitat plan, 

SEWRPC 2nd Amendment to Planning Report No. 42, was in progress as this park plan update was under preparation. Updated 2020 

inventory data from the draft regional plan update was incorporated into the Village park plan update. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 91 

lands associated with four critical species habitat sites within the Village. The plan also recommends that the County 

continue to retain and maintain lands associated with the Cliffside Park Clay Banks and Root River Outcrops 

geological sites and acquire the remaining lands associated with the Root River Outcrops site within the Village. 

Because aquatic habitat areas are under the direct management authority of the WDNR, the natural areas planning 

effort did not develop specific recommendations for these areas. The natural areas plan update recommends that 

the WDNR implement management and regulatory efforts necessary to ensure the long-term viability of the aquatic 

habitats and their critical species.  



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 92 

Table 5.2 
Recommended Protection of Natural Areas, Critical Species Habitat, Aquatic Habitat, and Geological Sites in the Village of Caledonia 

 
Site Identification Site Area (acres)  

Number on 
Map 2.9 Site Typea Area Name 

Existing 
Protective 
Ownership 

Proposed to Be 
Acquired Total Proposed Acquisition Agency 

1 NA-1 (SNA) Renak-Polak Maple-Beech Woods State Natural Area 128b 9 137 State of Wisconsin/UW-Parkside 
2 NA-2 Cliffside Park Woods and Clay Banks 55c -- 55 Racine County 
3 NA-2 Hunts Woods 4 30d 34 Racine County 
4 NA-2 Root River Wet-Mesic Woods – East 2 -- 2e Racine County 
5 NA-3 Caledonia Low Woods 72 35 107 Racine County 
6 NA-3 Dominican Ravine -- 18 18 Nonprofit Conservation Organization 
7 NA-3 Foley Road Woods – East -- 24 24 Nonprofit Conservation Organization 
8 NA-3 Foley Road Woods – West -- 19 19 Nonprofit Conservation Organization 
9 NA-3 Nicholson Wildlife Refuge 127 16 143 Village of Caledonia 
10 NA-3 Power Plant Ravine Woods -- -- --f --k 
11 NA-3 Root River Riverine Forest 152 33 185g Racine County 
12 NA-3 Seven Mile Road Woods -- 20 20 Nonprofit Conservation Organization 
13 NA-3 Tabor Woods 36h 63 99 Caledonia Conservancy 
14 NA-3 Zirbes Woods -- 13 13 Nonprofit Conservation Organization 
15 CSH Caledonia Low Woods – South 27i  3 30 Racine County 
16 CSH Caledonia Sanitary Sewer Right-of-Way 22 52 74j Nonprofit Conservation Organization 
17 CSH Cliffside Park Old Field 55 -- 55 Caledonia Conservancy 
18 CSH Forked Aster Site 1 17 18 Racine County 
19 CSH Four Mile Road Woods 2 29 31 Racine County 
20 CSH Lakeside Woods -- -- --e --k 
21 CSH River Bend Upland Woods 14 -- 14 Racine County 
22 CSH Riverpark Bluff Woods -- -- -- --k 
23 CSH Root River Bluff 2 37 39l Racine County 
24 CSH Root River Ravine Woods -- -- -- --k 
25 CSH Root River Strip Woods 2m -- 2 Racine County 
26 CSH Sherwood Property -- -- -- --k 
27 CSH WEPCO Oak Woods -- -- --n --k 
28 CSH WEPCO Woods -- -- --e --k 
29 GA-3 Cliffside Park Clay Banks 14 -- 14 Racine County 
30 GA-3 Root River Outcrops 7 12 19o Racine County 
31 AQ-3 (RSH) Root River downstream from County Line Road 

to Nicholson Road 
-- -- 1.9 milesq State of Wisconsinp 

32 AQ-3 (RSH) Root River downstream from Nicholson Road to 
STH 38 

-- -- 10.0 milesq State of Wisconsinp 

Total – 32 Sites 722 430 1,154 -- 

Table continued on next page. 
 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 93 

Table 5.2 (Continued) 
a Site types are classified as follows: 
NA-1 indicates Natural Areas of statewide or greater significance 
NA-2 indicates Natural Areas of countywide or regional significance  
NA-3 indicates Natural Areas of local significance 
CSH indicates Critical Species Habitat sites 
GA-3 indicates Geological Areas of local significance 
AQ-3 indicates Aquatic Areas of local significance. 
SNA, or State Natural Area, indicates those sites designated as State Natural Areas by the State of Wisconsin Natural Areas Preservation Council 
RSH, or Rare Species Habitat, indicates those Aquatic Areas which support habitat for endangered, threatened, or “special concern” species designated by the Wisconsin Department of Natural 
Resources  

b Currently, 110 acres are owned by UW-Parkside and 18 acres are owned by the Caledonia Conservancy. 
c Currently, 54 acres are owned by Racine County (Cliffside Park) and one acre is owned by the Village of Caledonia (Chapla Park). 
d Two acres previously owned by Racine County were sold in 2018 and are now in private ownership. 
e Includes only the area located in the Village. Total area is 52 acres. The two acres located within the Village are owned by Racine County. The remaining 50 acres are located in the City of Oak Creek 
in Milwaukee County and are owned by Milwaukee County. 

f Currently, the entire site is located on WE Energies property. 
g Includes only the area located in the Village. Total area is 331 acres. Of the 185 acres located within the Village, 123 acres are owned by Racine County; 31 acres are owned by Milwaukee County; 
one acre is owned by the Caddy Vista Sanitary District; and 30 acres are located on private property. The remaining 146 acres of the entire site are located in the City of Oak Creek in Milwaukee 
County, and of those lands located in Milwaukee County, 143 acres are owned by Milwaukee County, two acres are owned by the Wisconsin Department of Transportation, and one acre is located 
on private property. 

h Currently, 29 acres are owned by the Caledonia Conservancy and seven acres are located on Wooded Valley Estates South subdivision outlots or residential lots. 
i Currently, 21 acres are owned by Racine County and six acres are located on a Quarry Springs subdivision outlot. 
j Includes only the area located in the Village. Total area is 94 acres. Of the 74 acres located within the Village, five acres are owned by Racine County; 17 acres are owned by the Caledonia Conservancy; 
and 52 acres are located on private property. The remaining 20 acres of the entire site are located in the City of Racine as part of the City-owned Johnson Park and Golf Course. 

k This site is not proposed to be acquired for protective ownership and is recommended to be protected through appropriate zoning.  
l Includes only the area located in the Village. Total area is 50 acres. Of the 39 acres located within the Village, two acres are owned by Racine County and 37 acres are located on private property. 
The remaining 11 acres of the entire site are located in the City of Racine as part of two City-owned parks, Johnson Park and Golf Course and Johnson Park Dog Run. 

m The majority of the site is located on lands owned by Racine County. One-quarter of an acre of the site is located on private property. 
n Currently, 10 acres are located within the Racine County Line Rifle Club Range and four acres are located on WE Energies property. 
o Includes only the area located in the Village. Total area is 25 acres. Of the 19 acres located within the Village, seven acres are owned by Racine County and 12 acres are located on private property. 
The remaining six acres of the entire site is located in the City of Racine as part of the Johnson Park Dog Run. 

p Navigable waterway owned by the State and managed by the Department of Natural Resources. 
q A portion of the site extends outside of the Village and the length given is entirely within the Village. 

Source: Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources and Southeastern Wisconsin Regional Planning Commission 
 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 94 

Root River Watershed 
The Root River Watershed Restoration Plan, summarized in Chapter 4, recommends expanding and/or continuing 

to protect riparian buffers along all streams and tributaries within the Root River watershed, which includes portions 

of the Root River, Hoods Creek, Husher Creek, Crayfish Creek, and the Kilbournville tributary that are located in the 

Village. The plan recommends establishing a riparian buffer of natural vegetation with a minimum 75-foot stream 

setback to reduce pollution entering the stream and provide quality in-stream habitats. When development or 

redevelopment proposals are submitted to the Village for review, consideration should be given to establishing an 

optimal riparian buffer of up to 1,000 feet from the ordinary high water mark of streams, rivers, ponds, and lakes. 

Establishing a larger setback would enhance the in-stream benefits while also providing essential habitats for a 

variety of wildlife populations. 

 

Table C.1 in Appendix C lists site-specific recommendations for improvements on portions of the Root River within 

the Village that are intended to promote water quality, improve habitat, and provide opportunities and access for 

recreational use. The watershed plan further recommends evaluating the use of various green infrastructure 

methods in the urban portions of the Village, including green roofs, rain barrels, rain gardens, cisterns, and porous 

pavement in areas not subject to the application of salt. In addition to the site-specific recommendations, the 

watershed plan recommends more detailed floodplain mitigation planning for the Village with a focus on non-

structural flood mitigation such as elevating, floodproofing, or demolishing flood-prone buildings. 

 

The Root River Watershed Restoration Plan also recommends efforts to restore farmland and other open space land 

to more natural conditions, including a recommendation from the regional water quality management plan that 10 

percent of existing marginally productive farmland and pasture48 be converted to either wetland or prairie 

conditions. Areas no longer being utilized for agricultural production or considered for urban development should 

also be considered if they would revert to resource features. Restoring these areas would reduce fecal coliform 

bacteria, total suspended solids, total nitrogen, and total phosphorus loads delivered to streams, and to a limited 

degree, reduce peak stormwater runoff rates. Map 5.2 shows the candidate areas within Root River watershed in the 

Village49 to be given first consideration for potential restoration to wetlands or prairies. The areas selected are within 

 
48 Marginally productive lands are defined as agricultural lands that have not been identified as having Class I or Class II soils by 

the U.S. Natural Resources Conservation Service. 

49 Potential restoration areas shown on Map 5.2 have soils that indicate that they may be suitable for restoration as wetlands. An 

on-site evaluation of site and soil conditions would be necessary prior to any restoration efforts. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 95 

or adjacent to planned environmental corridors, isolated natural resource areas, or farmed wetlands larger than five 

acres, which would meet the criteria for designation as an isolated natural resource area if farming activities cease 

and the wetland reverts to natural conditions.  



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 96 

 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 97 

5.3 AREAWIDE PARK RECOMMENDATIONS 

Areawide park and open space recommendations which pertain to the Village planning area have been incorporated 

into this Village plan as appropriate. Many of these recommendations are from the Racine County Park and Open 

Space Plan, summarized in Chapter 4. Recommendations concerning major parks, which provide opportunities for 

resource-oriented outdoor recreation activities, and recreation corridors, which provide opportunities for various 

trail-oriented activities, are included. In addition, the plan includes recommendations for protecting and preserving 

open space lands, including natural resource features such as woodlands, wetlands, and floodplains, located within 

environmental corridors and isolated natural resource areas. In addition, pertinent recommendations from the 

areawide Root River Watershed Restoration Plan,50 also summarized in Chapter 4, are included in the “Open Space 

Preservation” section of this chapter. 

 

Racine County Park and Open Space Plan Recommendations 
 

Existing Parks 
Map 4.3 in Chapter 4 summarizes the outdoor recreation element of the Racine County Park and Open Space Plan. 

The plan recommends ten major public outdoor recreation sites in the County and includes the following 

recommendations pertaining to sites within the Village planning area: 

 

• The plan recommends that the County continue to maintain Cliffside Park, a major park within the 

Village, and that the County develop additional picnic facilities, trails, and a nature study center at the 

park. The plan also recommends that the County consider establishing a public-private partnership to 

develop a disc golf course at the park. 

 

• The plan recommends that the County continue to maintain County-owned sites within the Village,51 

including the River Bend Nature Center, Tabor Sokol Memorial Park, and Root River Parkway lands. 

 

 
50 SEWRPC Community Assistance Planning Report No. 316, A Restoration Plan for the Root River Watershed, July 2014. 

51 The County acquired Franksville Memorial Park from the Village in 2021. Although not included in the County’s 2013 Park and 

Open Space Plan, it is recommended that the County continue to maintain the park and its facilities. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 98 

• The plan recommends that the City of Racine continue to maintain and provide additional facilities for 

resource-oriented activities at Johnson Park and Golf Course, a 335-acre major park located in the City 

of Racine but surrounded by the Village. 

 

• The plan recommends that Racine County continue to maintain and provide additional facilities at other 

County parks located near the Village, including the 39-acre Quarry Lake Park and the 15-acre Horlick 

Park, both located just south of the Village. 

 

In 2021, the 52-acre Caledonia-Mt. Pleasant Memorial Park was transferred to Racine County and renamed 

Franksville Memorial Park. Recommendations for this site are not included in the County park and open space plan 

as the most recent plan update predates the County’s acquisition of the park from the Village, however pertinent 

recommendations from the prior edition of the Village’s Park and Open Space Plan are included in this report. 

 

As noted in Chapter 2, the County established a public-private partnership to develop the Racine County Ice Center 

at Franksville Memorial Park in 2023. At the time this plan update was under preparation, fundraising and 

development planning for the facility was underway. It is recommended that the County develop a comprehensive 

plan for Franksville Memorial Park that incorporates the proposed facility within the site and supports the 

development and enhancement of new and existing recreation facilities in the surrounding areas of the park. Should 

the existing recreational facilities remain, this plan recommends that Racine County resurface the tennis courts at 

the park, expand the basketball court to a full court, and perform regrading to mitigate flooding of the tennis courts 

and access road. 

 

Bicycle and Pedestrian Facilities 
The County plan recommends that about 88 miles of bicycle and pedestrian trails be provided in the County as part 

of the regionwide trail system (of which about 18 miles are located within the Village of Caledonia), including trails 

within the Pike River, Root River, Fox River, and Lake Michigan corridors and a trail along a railway right-of-way, 

which has been partially abandoned, extending from the City of Racine to Walworth County. Recommended bicycle 

and pedestrian trails within or adjacent to the Village include: 

 
• A trail within the Root River corridor. The County plan recommends that the County continue to acquire 

lands associated with the Root River Parkway system for a proposed trail extending northward from the 

City of Racine to the Racine-Milwaukee County line. The plan recommends that the County develop 

those portions of the Root River trail within the Village (approximately 11 miles). Currently, the City of 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 99 

Racine has developed the Root River Pathway on the portion of the trail route within the City. Root River 

Pathway on-street connections are also provided to the County’s Milwaukee-Racine-Kenosha (MRK) 

Trail, which also traverses the Village. 

 

• A trail along the Lake Michigan shoreline, which has been substantially completed within Racine County. 

The MRK Trail, the portion of the Lake Michigan Trail located in the Village (approximately four miles), 

exists on a combination of off-street and on-street segments with the majority of the trail located within 

a WE Energies utility corridor or on WE Energies property. The MRK Trail runs from Layard Avenue in the 

City of Racine north to Elm Road in the City of Oak Creek in Milwaukee County. A gap currently exists 

within the Village between Six Mile Road and Seven Mile Road.52 The City of Racine maintains the Lake 

Michigan Pathway along the trail route within the City. The plan recommends that Racine County 

continue to maintain the MRK Trail outside the City of Racine, including within the Village. 

 

• The County park plan recommends the County continue to maintain signage and other route amenities 

associated with the Racine County Bicycle Route, which includes about ten miles within the Village’s 

planning area. 

 

Water Trails 
The County plan recommends developing water trails for canoeing and kayaking that would connect with those in 

adjacent counties, including on the Root River and along the Lake Michigan shoreline within and adjacent to the 

Village. In July 2017, the WDNR designated the Lake Michigan Water Trail53 as a State trail. The plan recommends 

that the Village work with the WDNR, Racine County, and the City of Racine to provide accessibility to Lake Michigan 

by maintaining all existing access sites and developing new access sites along the Lake Michigan. Existing access 

sites are located in the City of Racine and the City of Oak Creek in Milwaukee County; currently, there are no access 

sites located along Lake Michigan within the Village. 

 

Two areawide plans provide recommendations related to providing formal public canoe/kayak access points along 

the Root River within the Village. Existing public canoe access sites are located along the Root River at River Bend 

Nature Center in the Village of Caledonia and at Horlick Park in the Village of Mount Pleasant. The County plan 

 
52 Map 5.4 shows the gap in the off-road trail between Six Mile Road and Seven Mile Road as an on-street trail segment. 
53 Information is located at http://dnr.wi.gov/topic/parks/name/lakemichigan/ 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 100 

recommends providing access points with parking at 10-mile intervals on major streams in Racine County. The Root 

River Watershed Restoration Plan recommends specific locations such as County land on the west side of STH 31 

and south of Four Mile Road, Linwood Park, and at Four Mile Road east of STH 38. The STH 31 site is identified as 

the most practicable location, although the other sites should be thoroughly reviewed as additional or alternative 

access points. 

 

5.4 VILLAGE PARK AND OPEN SPACE RECOMMENDATIONS 

In alignment with the objectives of the broader areawide and regional plans, the recommendations in this section 

relate specifically to sites and facilities within the Village’s jurisdiction. As noted in Chapter 4, the analysis of outdoor 

recreation needs based on the regional park and open space standards indicates a need for an additional community 

park, additional neighborhood parks, and additional recreational facilities to meet the outdoor recreation needs of 

Village residents. All proposed facility development must comply with Federal Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) 

accessibility requirements, and any existing facilities which do not meet ADA accessibility requirements should be 

brought into compliance in a timely fashion. Although the Village does not currently offer recreational 

programming, many comparable peer communities do. It is therefore recommended that the Village consider 

opportunities for establishing recreational programming at Village park and open space sites. 

 

Map 5.3 shows the recommended park and open space plan for the Village as described in this and the preceding 

sections of Chapter 5. Full implementation of this plan by the Village would provide a variety of parks and related 

outdoor recreation sites and facilities, an interconnected system of recreation trails and on-street bikeways, and 

would help protect and enhance the underlying natural resource base.  

 

The park and open space plan for the Village includes three community parks (Crawford Park, Gorney Park, and a 

proposed new community park); 13 neighborhood parks (Chapla Park, Linwood Park, Maple Park, and ten proposed 

new neighborhood parks); four conservancy/nature areas (5 ½ Mile Park, County Line Park, Waters Edge Park, and 

the Nicholson Wildlife Refuge); and six Village-owned lands (three stormwater detention basins and three open 

space sites). 

 

It is also recommended that the Village develop on-street bikeways and off-street trails for bicycle and pedestrian 

use to provide residents a connection to Village and County parks, City of Racine parks, regional trails, local schools, 

and other local destinations. Under the recommended plan, the Village would further provide five miles of 

recreational trails consisting of off-street trails that can be utilized for jogging, walking, biking, rollerblading, and 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 101 

related activities. This plan also recommends that the Village develop about 32 miles of on-street bikeways that 

would consist of bike lanes, bike paths, and bike routes.  

 

As previously noted, the Multi-Jurisdictional Comprehensive Plan for Racine County and the Racine County Park and 

Open Space Plan recommend that the Village, in cooperation with Racine County, develop access sites with 

appropriate support facilities associated with the existing Lake Michigan Water Trail and develop a water trail with 

appropriate support facilities on the Root River. These recommendations are also supported by the Root River 

Watershed Restoration Plan, which is discussed earlier in this chapter. 

 

Parks and Related Recreational Facilities 
The recommendations presented in this section relate to existing and proposed Village parks, including the 

acquisition and development of new parks and the development of recreational facilities at existing parks. Table 5.3 

lists parks-related development and improvement projects recommended to be implemented between 2025 and 

2030. Projects included in the five-year plan are based on input from the Village’s Park and Recreation Advisory 

Committee. The cost of implementing each project will vary from park to park, current economic conditions, and 

specific details. The plan therefore recommends that estimated costs for these five-year projects be included within 

the next available capital improvement plan (CIP), and a more detailed cost analysis be completed for each project 

as opportunities to complete them arise, with community, staff, and public official input determining the specific 

scope and timing of a given project. Estimated costs for longer-term projects are recommended to be developed 

as part of future capital improvements programming efforts. It is important to note that the CIP is updated on an 

annual basis, and currently identified projects may be removed or reprioritized and new projects may be added 

during each annual update. Table 5.4 lists proposed longer-term Village park improvements and additional land 

acquisitions from 2031 to 2050.  



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 102 

 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 103 

Proposed New Parks 
This plan recommends that the Village acquire additional land to expand the Nicholson Wildlife Refuge should 

adjacent parcels become available. In addition, the plan recommends that the Village acquire land for a new 

community park and ten new neighborhood parks and develop recreational facilities at these sites to address areas 

of the Village that are currently underserved and those identified by the land use plan for future residential 

development. Map 5.3 shows the generalized locations of the proposed new parks and Table 5.4 describes the 

general characteristics and types of facilities that are recommended for each site. Acquisition and development of 

these proposed new park sites may occur over the course of many years, and it is recommended that sites are 

prioritized for acquisition as suitable land becomes available or if there is proposed or anticipated residential 

development in an area. It is recommended that the Village acquire a 30-40 acre site for the proposed community 

park between 2025 and 2030, while acquisition of the ten proposed neighborhood park sites is anticipated to occur 

from 2031-2050. Should any suitable sites become available, or new residential development support acquisition of 

a site earlier than anticipated, acquisition may be appropriate during this five-year period. If so, it is recommended 

that the acquisition move forward. 

 

Development and Improvement at Existing Village Parks: 2025-2030 
It is recommended that the Village develop additional recreational facilities or make improvements to existing 

facilities at parks and conservancy areas during the five-year period from 2025 through 2030, as described below 

and listed in Table 5.3.  

 

• 5 ½ Mile Park:  5 ½ Mile Park is a 21-acre undeveloped neighborhood park located in the eastern portion 

of the Village encompassing forested wetlands within an isolated natural resource area. The plan 

recommends developing a trail within the Village’s right-of-way along the Klema Ditch, adjacent to 5 ½ 

Mile Park, extending from 5 Mile Road to Olympia Brown Elementary School. It is recommended that 

the Village preserve the majority of the site as a natural area and install benches along the Klema Ditch 

trail once it has been developed. 

 

• Chapla Park: Chapla Park is a nine-acre neighborhood park located in the northeastern portion of the 

Village along the Lake Michigan shoreline. The Park is a passive use site that provides a scenic view of 

Lake Michigan. It is recommended that the Village develop a walking path with a scenic overlook point 

at the site. It is also recommended that the Village install permanent benches and picnic tables at the 

park. 

 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 104 

• County Line Park: County Line Park is an 18-acre undeveloped neighborhood park located in the 

northeastern portion of the Village. It is recommended that a hiking trail be developed and that the 

wetlands at the site be preserved as a natural area. Most of the site is set back nearly 500 feet from 

County Line Road, and the Village owns only a 16.5-foot road frontage, which poses access challenges 

for the site. The plan recommends that the Village pursue an easement on the adjacent We Energies 

property to enable the development of parking. 

 

• Crawford Park: Crawford Park is a 35-acre community park located in the southeastern portion of the 

Village. Existing facilities include two baseball diamonds, two tennis courts, two basketball hoops, a 

playfield, a playground, sand volleyball courts, restrooms, concessions, pathways, and picnic shelters. 

The plan recommends that the Village continue implementing the Crawford Park Master Plan, including 

developing an additional shelter with restrooms and dugouts at both ball diamonds, improving the 

playground, developing a service road and parking area(s), completing the sledding hill, developing 

multi-use fields/winter skating area, developing a splash pad, and developing basketball and 

tennis/pickleball courts. It is also recommended that the Village consider developing a beer garden or 

explore the creation of a private-public partnership to operate a beer garden at the pavilion. 

 

• Gorney Park: Gorney Park is a 41-acre community park located in the north-central portion of the Village. 

Existing facilities include two ball diamonds, two soccer fields, a playfield, two playgrounds, a hiking trail, 

shelters, picnic areas, and restrooms. The Park also has a pond with a pier that provides opportunities 

for fishing and launching nonmotorized watercraft. It is recommended that the Village restore native 

prairie vegetation in unutilized open spaces and around the pond. The plan also recommends leveling 

and grading the existing playfield and soccer fields to improve the quality and evenness of the turf. In 

addition, repairing and relocating portions of the access road, seal coating54 the access road and the 

parking lot, and restriping the parking lot are recommended. 

 

• Linwood Park: Linwood Park is a 12-acre neighborhood park centrally located in the Village along the 

Root River. Existing facilities include a playfield, a playground, horseshoe pits, a shelter, picnic areas, 

fishing, and an informal canoe launch. The plan recommends updating the playground equipment. 

 
54 It is recommended that any pavement resealing be accomplished using a non-coal tar-based sealant. Studies have identified coal-

tar-based pavement sealcoat as a major source of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon (PAH) contamination which is damaging to 

aquatic life and poses significant environmental and human health hazards. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 105 

 

• Maple Park: Maple Park is a two-acre neighborhood park located in the southeastern portion of the 

Village. Existing facilities include a playfield, a playground, and a picnic area with a shelter. The plan 

recommends updating the playground equipment to make the playground more accessible for children 

of all ages. 

 

• Nicholson Wildlife Refuge: Nicholson Wildlife Refuge is a 127-acre conservancy area centrally located in 

the Village which is classified as a natural area of local significance and serves as an educational site. 

Existing facilities include nature trails and a boardwalk. The plan recommends repairing the existing 

boardwalk and extending the boardwalk further into the site. 

 

• Waters Edge Park: Waters Edge Park is a three-acre undeveloped neighborhood park located in the 

eastern portion of the Village near the terminus of 5 Mile Road which consists of woodlands within a 

primary environmental corridor. The plan recommends maintaining and expanding trails within the park 

while retaining the woodlands in a natural state. 

 

  



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 106 

Table 5.3 
Proposed Acquisition, Development, and Improvements at Existing Parks in the Village of Caledonia: 2025-
2030 
 

Site Name Proposed Developments and Improvements 
5 ½ Mile Park Develop Klema Ditch Trail 
 Install Benches 
Chapla Park Develop Walking Path with Scenic Overlook 
 Install Benches and Picnic Tables 
County Line Park Develop Hiking Trail 
 Pursue Easement for Parking Area 
Crawford Park Develop Additional Shelter with Restrooms 
 Develop Dugouts at Both Ball Diamonds 
 Improve Playground 
 Develop Beer Garden 
 Develop Service Road and Parking Area(s) 
 Complete Sledding Hill 
 Develop Multi-Use Fields/Ice Skating Area 
 Develop Splash Pad 
 Develop Basketball Courts 
 Develop Tennis/Pickleball Courts 
Gorney Park Level, Grade, and Improve Turf on Playfield 
 Level, Grade, and Improve Turf on Soccer Fields 
 Install Prairie Plantings 
 Repair/Relocate Portions of Access Road Through Park, Seal Coat Road and Parking Lot, 

and Re-Stripe Parking Lot 
Linwood Park Update Playground Equipment 
Maple Park Update Playground Equipment 
Nicholson Wildlife Refuge Repair Existing Boardwalk  
 Extend Boardwalk 
Waters Edge Park Maintain/Expand Trail 
New Village Park Acquire 30-40 Acres of Land for a Park in the Western Portion of the Villagea 

Total – 10 Sites 

Note: “General Development” is recommended at all Village-owned park sites and includes such activities and facilities as grading, landscaping, signs, 
lighting, picnic tables, benches, parking lots, access drives, and walkways. “General Development” items that relate to a specific proposed 
development or improvement, or are considered a capital expense, are specifically listed in this table and in Table 5.4. 

Although not included in this table, this plan also recommends that the Village continue routine maintenance activities at all existing Village-
owned park and open space sites and recreational facilities.  

a Areas planned for residential development west of CTH V are currently unserved by Village parks. The plan recommends acquiring a site between 30 and 
40 acres in this area of the Village for longer-term development as a new community park prior to significant development in this area. The total cost to 
the Village may be reduced through donations and grants for park facilities.  

Source: Village of Caledonia and Southeastern Wisconsin Regional Planning Commission 
  



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 107 

Table 5.4 
Recommended Acquisition, Development, and Improvements at Existing and Proposed Village of 
Caledonia Park Sites: 2031-2050 
 

Site Name 
Proposed 

Acquisition (acres) Proposed Facility Developmentsa and Improvements 
Proposed Site 1 

(Community Park) 
 

--b Ball Diamonds 
Soccer Fields/Playfields 
Full Court Basketball Court 
Tennis/Pickleball Court 
Playground 
Hiking Trail 
Picnic Areas with Shelters 
Dog Park 
Sand Volleyball Courts 

Proposed Site 2 
(Neighborhood Park) 

 

15c Ball Diamond 
Basketball Hoops 
Playground 
Playfield 
Picnic Shelter with Restrooms 

Proposed Site 3  
(Neighborhood Park) 

 

 5c Ball Diamond 
Playground 
Playfield 

Proposed Site 4 
(Neighborhood Park) 

 

15c Ball Diamond 
Basketball Hoops 
Tennis/Pickleball Court 
Playground 
Playfield 

Proposed Site 5 
(Neighborhood Park) 

 

10c Ball Diamond 
Basketball Court 
Tennis/Pickleball Court 
Playground 
Playfield 
Picnic Shelter with Restrooms 

Proposed Site 6 
(Neighborhood Park) 

 

5c Ball Diamond 
Basketball Hoops 
Playground 
Playfield 

Proposed Site 7 
(Neighborhood Park) 

 

5c Ball Diamond 
Basketball Hoops 
Tennis/Pickleball Court 
Playground 
Playfield 

Proposed Site 8 
(Neighborhood Park) 

 

 5c Ball Diamond 
Basketball Hoops 
Playground 
Playfield 

Proposed Site 9 
(Neighborhood Park) 

 

10c Ball Diamond 
Basketball Hoops 
Tennis/Pickleball Court 
Playground 
Playfield 

Proposed Site 10 
(Neighborhood Park) 

 

10c Ball Diamond 
Basketball Hoops 
Tennis/Pickleball Court 
Playground 
Playfield 

Table continued on next page. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 108 

Table 5.4 (Continued) 
 

Site Name 
Proposed 

Acquisition (acres) Proposed Facility Developmentsa and Improvements 
Proposed Site 11 

(Neighborhood Park) 
 

10c Ball Diamond 
Basketball Hoops 
Tennis/Pickleball Court 
Playground 
Playfield 

5 ½ Mile Park -- Develop Boardwalk with Overlook 
Maintain and Extend Klema Ditch Trail 

Chapla Park -- Develop Shelter/Gazebo 
Develop Path with Access to Lake 

County Line Park -- Develop Rest Area with Overlook 
Crawford Park -- Continue Implementation of Crawford Park Master Pland 

Gorney Park -- Develop Concessions Building with Restrooms 
Develop Sand Volleyball Courts 
Develop Full-Court Basketball Court 
Develop Fishing Areas/Piers around Pond 
Develop Disc Golf Course 
Develop Nature Walk 
Continue Prairie Planting 

Linwood Park -- Develop Canoe/Kayak Launch 
Develop Restrooms 
Develop Hiking Trails 

Maple Park -- Develop Half Court Basketball Court 
Nicholson Wildlife Refuge 16 Expand Parking Areae 

Implement Water Control 
Extend Boardwalk to Back of Site 
Develop Observation Area 

Village Land – Markay Stormwater Basin -- Develop Walking Trail 
Village Trails -- Multi-Use Trail System 

Total 106 -- 

 

Notes: “General Development” is recommended at all Village-owned park sites and includes such activities and facilities as grading, landscaping, signs, 
lighting, picnic tables, benches, parking lots, access drives, and walkways. “General Development” items that relate to a specific proposed 
development or improvement, or are considered a capital expense, are specifically listed in this table and in Table 5.3. 

Although not included in this table, this plan also recommends that the Village continue routine maintenance activities at all existing Village-
owned park and open space sites and recreational facilities.  

a For proposed new park sites, the proposed facilities are recommendations for the types of facilities that may be suitable for the proposed park classification 
and are consistent with the results of the needs assessment. Consideration of site characteristics and public input will be necessary to determine the specific 
facilities to be developed at each site. For existing Village park sites, the plan recommends development of the facilities as proposed. 

b The plan recommends acquiring 30-40 acres of land for the new Village community park between 2025 and 2030. 
c Proposed land acquisitions represent the approximate acreages needed to support the proposed facilities recommended for each new park site. The actual 
acreage to be acquired will depend upon the available lands and the specific facilities that the Village anticipates developing at the site at the time of 
acquisition. 

d It is anticipated that full implementation of the Crawford Park Master Plan, which identifies specific improvements and priorities for development at the site, 
will continue into the 2031-2050 timeframe. The timeline for implementing specific projects included in the plan is anticipated to change based on cost feasibility 
and public input; therefore, improvements listed in Table 5.3 may be implemented over the course of this park and open space plan. 

e To be completed after water control methods have been implemented and the boardwalk is fully developed at the site. 

Source: Village of Caledonia and Southeastern Wisconsin Regional Planning Commission 
  



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 109 

Development at Existing Village Parks: 2031-2050 
The recommended facility development at existing Village parks described in this portion of section 5.4 are longer-

term priorities, which are likely to occur after 2030. The recommendations for each park listed in Table 5.4 may be 

reviewed and revised, as the Village’s needs and public preferences change over time. Implementing the 

recommendations is subject to the availability of funding for land acquisition and facility development, operation, 

and maintenance. 

 

• 5 ½ Mile Park:  It is recommended that the Village develop an overlook and a boardwalk which extends 

into the wetlands from the western edge of the site. The plan also recommends maintaining the Klema 

Ditch trail, proposed for development from 2025-2030, and extending the trail south to Crawford Park. 

 

• Chapla Park: The plan recommends developing an open-air shelter or gazebo, in addition to the 

improvements recommended during 2025-2030. Although the site’s topography and the need for ADA 

compliance pose challenges, developing a path with direct access to the lake is also recommended 

should it be deemed feasible. 

 

• County Line Park: The plan recommends developing a rest area with an overlook, in addition to the 

improvements recommended during 2025-2030. 

 

• Crawford Park: The plan anticipates that full implementation of the Crawford Park Master Plan will 

continue into the 2031-2050 timeframe and that some of the improvements recommended during 2025-

2030 will occur during this time. The plan recommends continuing to refine the details of improvements 

which are implemented in the later phases to ensure that residents’ current needs and desires are 

reflected and that the Village maintain the existing facilities which have already been developed at 

Crawford Park. 

 

• Gorney Park: The plan recommends developing a concessions building with restrooms, sand volleyball 

courts, a full court basketball court, and fishing areas/piers around the pond, in addition to the 

improvements recommended during 2025-2030. The plan also recommends developing a disc golf 

course and a nature walk as well as continuing with native prairie restoration in open areas. 

 

• Linwood Park: The plan recommends developing a canoe/kayak launch, restrooms, and hiking trails, in 

addition to the improvements recommended during 2025-2030. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 110 

 

• Maple Park: The plan recommends developing a half-court basketball court in addition to the 

improvements recommended during 2025-2030. 

 

• Nicholson Wildlife Area: The plan recommends expanding and replacing the parking area and improving 

access to the site, in addition to the improvements recommended during 2025-2030. It is also 

recommended that the Village acquire about 16 acres of adjacent land for resource protection purposes 

and park expansion. The plan further recommends assessing alternative routes or water control methods 

to enable extending the boardwalk to the back of the site and developing an observation area, as 

described below.  

 

o Based on recommendations from the Nicholson Wildlife Area Management Plan,55 water control 

methods should be used at the site to enhance and diversify wildlife habitat features, especially 

for migratory waterfowl and other wetland species, and to improve wetland function. Other 

habitat enhancements include creating a variety of potholes or ponds, which would allow the 

site to potentially store permanent areas of water for a sustained wildlife area; prairie 

restorations in upland areas; developing native vegetative buffers around the site; providing 

brushpiles; and constructing nesting platforms for birds. 

 

o Potential recreational opportunities at the site should include hiking trails and wildlife 

observation. If water control levels are applied and effective, there may be opportunities to 

expand or enhance the existing trail network at the site. 

 

• Village Land – Markay Stormwater Basin: The stormwater detention basin is a 22-acre open space site 

located in the southeastern portion of the Village. It is recommended that the Village develop a walking 

path around the perimeter of the site. The path should not be constructed with materials that can float, 

such as wood chips, as these materials may block or clog the basin outlet or downstream storm sewers. 

Recognizing that residents often utilize this space for dog walking, the plan recommends that the Village 

implement measures to avoid potential pet waste runoff, including posting signage encouraging the 

 
55 Hey and Associates, Inc., Nicholson Wildlife Area Management Plan, Town of Caledonia, Racine County, Wisconsin, March 2005. 

This plan is an update to SEWRPC Community Assistance Planning Report No. 146, A Wildlife Habitat Management Plan for the 

Nicholson Wildlife Center, Town of Caledonia, Racine County, Wisconsin, May 1986. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 111 

public to pick up pet waste, providing pet waste bags and anchored waste bins, and providing anchored 

seating on the upper slope of the basin.  

 

• Village Trails: Map 5.4 shows the recommended trail network for the Village planning area. It is 

recommended that the Village develop approximately 37 miles of the proposed multi-use trail network, 

providing connections between existing and proposed parks, other notable sites, and existing trails.  

 

Maintenance of Other Existing Village Parks 
This plan also recommends that the Village continue to maintain all existing Village-owned park and open space 

sites and outdoor recreation facilities. Maintenance activities may include providing, paving, and resurfacing parking 

lots, trails, and walkways; resurfacing athletic court areas; improving existing facilities’ accessibility to people with 

disabilities; providing, repairing, or replacing support facilities such as lighting, benches, picnic tables, drinking 

fountains, foot bridges, restroom facilities, water supply facilities, maintenance buildings, and picnic shelters; and 

maintaining lawns, gardens, and other landscape plantings. They may also include replacing or providing additional 

playground equipment, playfield areas, and passive recreational areas. 

 

Open Space Preservation 
The Village currently owns 238 acres of open space preservation areas. It is recommended that the Village acquire 

32 acres of open space preservation areas for the development of parks or trails or for resource-protection purposes, 

as shown on Map 5.1. The plan recommends that these lands be maintained in Village ownership and preserved in 

essentially natural, open space uses. Preserving these lands will help serve to maintain the Village’s environmental 

quality and natural beauty, as well as help to avoid serious and costly environmental and developmental problems. 

It is also recommended that the Village continue to identify privately owned open space preservation areas and 

work with developers to preserve these areas as common open space or dedicate them for park use. 

 

Bicycle and Pedestrian Facilities 
The plan recommends continued development of a Village-wide system of recreation trails and bicycle routes in 

cooperation with Racine County, the Wisconsin Department of Transportation (WisDOT), and adjoining local 

governments. Recommended bike and pedestrian facilities for the Village and environs, shown on Map 5.4, would 

connect existing parks to adjacent regional, county, and local government trail systems and provide access to other 

parks and destination points.  



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 112 

 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 113 

As described in Chapter 2, Racine County has developed about 14 miles of trails or bike routes within the Village of 

Caledonia planning area, including four linear miles of the County-owned MRK and We Energies Trails and ten miles 

of the Racine County signed, on-street bike route. The plan recommends that the Village work with the County to 

improve the on-street segments of the MRK Trail between Six Mile Road and Seven Mile Road or, if feasible, to 

develop an off-street trail which would replace this segment. Potential routes for an off-street trail segment include 

along Michna and Seven Mile Roads or west of and parallel to the Union Pacific Railroad. Developing a trail along 

Michna and Seven Mile Roads would require a trail crossing or underpass of the railroad tracks at Seven Mile Road, 

while a trail west of the Union Pacific Railroad could utilize the existing underpass at Six Mile Road. The plan 

recommends evaluating the acquisition of land or of easements to develop one of these trail segments; if this is not 

feasible, then the addition of enhanced bicycle facilities to the existing on-street segments should be considered. 

 

It is also recommended that the Village work with the City of Oak Creek, Milwaukee County, and/or Racine County 

to develop approximately one mile of off-street trail within the right-of-way of County Line Road on the Village’s 

northern boundary. Currently, the southern terminus of Milwaukee County’s Oak Leaf Trail at the county line is 

approximately 6,000 feet west of the We Energies Trail, which extends south to 7 Mile Road. No bicycle facilities 

currently exist on this section of County Line Road, creating a gap in the regional trail network. Developing this trail 

segment in conjunction with the off-street segment proposed in the previous paragraph would provide an off-street 

trail extending north from Layard Avenue in the City of Racine to Ryan Road in the City of Oak Creek. 

 

The proposed system of publicly owned bike and pedestrian facilities within the Village includes nearly 80 miles of 

bike routes within street rights-of-way and approximately 26 miles of trails associated with environmentally 

significant areas, utility corridors, or other open space lands. The development of on-street bikeways would be 

undertaken by WisDOT (portions of Douglas Avenue (STH 32), Northwestern Avenue (STH 38), and CTH K); Racine 

County (portions of CTH G, CTH H, and Four Mile Road, Seven Mile Road, and Three Mile Road); and the Village of 

Caledonia (streets under Village jurisdiction). The development of off-street trails would be accomplished by Racine 

County (Root River Recreation Corridor) and the Village (Hoods Creek Trail, Klema Ditch, a linear corridor between 

STH 38 and the Union Pacific Railroad between CTH K and Five Mile Road, and trails providing links to other Village 

or County trails or parks). Developing the segment of the MRK trail proposed above may be undertaken by Racine 

County or the Village, together or separately, depending on which alternative is pursued. Similarly, the proposed 

County Line Road segment may be undertaken by Milwaukee County or Racine County, depending on whether the 

trail runs in the north or south right-of-way. 

 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 114 

The year 2035 regional transportation plan56 recommended a network of on- and off-street bicycle ways within 

Racine County, which were refined through the Multi-Jurisdictional Comprehensive Plan for Racine County.57 Map 

5.4 shows existing and planned bikeways within the Village planning area, including those recommended by the 

multi-jurisdictional comprehensive plan. The Regional Planning Commission adopted an update to the regional land 

use and transportation plan (VISION 2050) in 201658 which may be incorporated into future updates to the Racine 

County multi-jurisdictional plan. 

 

VISION 2050 recommends developing a network of enhanced bicycle facility corridors in urbanized areas of Racine 

County, including the Villages of Caledonia and Mount Pleasant and the City of Racine, which would connect the 

communities, serve important regional destination points, and link segments of the off-street bicycle path system. 

Enhanced bicycle facilities are protected, buffered, or raised bike lanes and separate paths within a road’s right-of-

way. These facilities are located on or along an arterial street and go beyond the standard bike lane to improve 

safety and comfort. Enhanced bicycle facilities clearly define bicycle space on roadways and provide clear corridors 

for bicycle usage. If an enhanced bicycle facility is not feasible on an arterial street, a parallel local road could be 

utilized for bicycle traffic.  

 

The Caledonia Conservancy also provides trails at numerous privately-owned sites within the Village, some of which 

are open to the public. These sites typically provide horse trails which support the Village’s active equestrian 

community and often can also be used as hiking or cross-country skiing trails. The plan recommends that the 

Conservancy continue to develop additional trails, where feasible, and maintain the existing trails. The Village should 

look for opportunities to partner with and continue to support the Conservancy when the organization acquires 

lands for resource protection purposes and develops multi-use trails that are accessible for public use. 

 

 
56 SEWPRC Planning Report No. 49, A Regional Transportation System Plan for Southeastern Wisconsin: 2035, June 2006. A 

reaffirmation and amendment of the plan was adopted in April 2010 and is documented in SEWRPC Memorandum Report No. 197, 

Review, Update, and Reaffirmation of the Year 2035 Regional Transportation Plan, June 2010.  

57 SEWPRC Community Assistance Planning Report No. 301, A Multi-Jurisdictional Comprehensive Plan for Racine County: 2035, 

November 2009. 

58 SEWRPC Planning Report No. 55, A Regional Land Use and Transportation Plan for Southeastern Wisconsin: 2050, July 2017. 

The second edition of the plan was adopted in June 2020 and the 2024 review and update of the plan is documented in SEWRPC 

Memorandum Report No. 268, 2024 Review & Update of VISION 2050, June 2024. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 115 

Water Trails 
Water trails,59 sometimes referred to as paddling trails or canoe/kayaking trails, identify surface water areas that can 

accommodate low-impact, non-motorized watercraft such as canoes and kayaks. Important factors for establishing 

water trails include safe and convenient access to a waterway with unobstructed passageways, adequate support 

facilities, and safe portaging areas. Scenic, historic, and natural viewpoints along the waterway are often identified 

and indicated with signage and/or rest areas. 

 

The Multi-Jurisdictional Comprehensive Plan for Racine County, the County Park and Open Space Plan, and the Root 

River Watershed Restoration Plan recommend that the Village of Caledonia and Racine County work together to 

develop a water trail on the Root River. The Lake Michigan State Water Trail, also recommended in the County plans, 

was designated by the WDNR in 2017. The establishment of a Root River water trail would promote the responsible 

use and enjoyment of the Root River and would provide educational and recreational opportunities for outdoor 

enthusiasts. The forthcoming removal of the Horlick Dam, located just south of the Village in the City of Racine, is 

anticipated to improve the navigability of the Root River within the Village and would enable paddlers on the 

proposed water trail to more easily connect with destinations in the City of Racine, as well as with the Lake Michigan 

State Water Trail. 

 

The proposed Root River Water Trail would be approximately 12 miles within the Village and environs. The plan 

recommends that canoe access and support facilities be maintained and/or developed at regular intervals along the 

Root River. Currently, informal canoe/kayak launches are located at the County-owned River Bend Nature Center, 

the Village-owned Linwood Park, and along some street rights-of-way that intersect the River within the Village. A 

formal boat/canoe launch along the Root River is located at the Racine County-owned Horlick Park, just south of 

the Village in the Village of Mount Pleasant. Additional launches are also located downstream in the City of Racine 

at the City-owned 6th Street Park South, Clayton Park, Island Park, and Lincoln Park.  

 

Approximately eight linear miles of the Lake Michigan State Water Trail are within the Village and environs. Existing 

public access sites along the Lake Michigan shoreline are located in the Village of North Bay at Park Way Beach, in 

the City of Racine at North Beach Park, Pugh/Rooney Park, Pershing Park, and Samuel Myers Park; and in the Village 

of Wind Point at Shoop Park. Currently, there are no public access sites within the Village of Caledonia. The majority 

 
59 A “water trail” is a designated trail on a lake or stream that regularly contains sufficient water level to navigate small watercraft 

such as a canoe or kayak with unobstructed passageways while providing safe and convenient access points, and may contain 

support facilities such as parking areas, restrooms, and picnic areas. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 116 

of the Lake Michigan shoreline within the Village consists of topography which is not well suited to the development 

of access points or lands that are privately owned. The plan recommends that the Village consider developing a 

public access site on the narrow Village-owned right-of-way extending from the eastern terminus of 5 ½ Mile Road 

to the Lake Michigan shore, while recognizing that the capacity of this site would be limited. 

 

Racine County and local governments which the water features traverse or abut should consider preparing user-

friendly maps for water trail users to identify support facilities and points of interest along the water trail. Nonprofit 

conservation organizations, such as the Root-Pike Watershed Initiative Network or the Lake Michigan Water Trail 

Association, may consider assisting with these efforts. 

 

Village Impact Fees 
Public Facilities Needs Assessment and Impact Fee Ordinance 
In accordance with Section 66.0617 of the Wisconsin Statutes, a public facilities needs assessment60 for Caledonia 

was prepared in May 2002 to demonstrate a need for and determine the amount of impact fees that may be placed 

on new development to cover the cost of providing public sites and facilities to serve that development. While 

facilities such as fire and rescue, law enforcement, and transportation are used by all developments, parks facilities 

are generally only used by the residential portion of the Village. Therefore, impact fees for Village park facilities are 

only assessed for residential developments. 

 

Currently, the Village assesses a parks-related impact fee of $1,000.00 for each residential dwelling unit constructed, 

created, or relocated within Caledonia. These impact fees help offset the costs associated with acquiring parklands, 

developing additional park facilities, and acquiring and developing trails and bicycle routes to serve new residential 

development. Wisconsin Act 44, enacted by the State legislature in 2007, further regulates the collection, 

disbursement, and management of municipal impact fees. 

 
Public Input 
Village staff developed an online survey to gather public input on the Village Park and Open Space Plan  update, 

which was available from April through September 2024. The survey received 534 unique responses and was 

promoted on the Village website as well as via QR codes posted at the Village Hall and Village parks. The results of 

the public input survey, particularly those pertaining to demand for specific park amenities and bicycle and 

pedestrian facilities, were incorporated into the recommended plan and considered in the prioritization of short- 

 
60 The impact fee ordinance is documented in Title 15 (Building Code), Section 15-1-26 of the Village Code of Ordinances. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 117 

and long-term recommendations. A summary of survey responses is included in Chapter 4, and more detailed 

information is provided in Appendix D. In February 2025, the Village held a public open house/informational 

meeting to allow the public to review and comment on the Village park plan. The following comments were 

submitted as part of the public open house/informational meeting: 

 

(To be completed subsequent to the Open House) 

 

5.5 PLAN IMPLEMENTATION 

Successfully implementing this park and open space plan requires action by and coordination between several 

different government units and agencies. The Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (WDNR), Wisconsin 

Department of Transportation (WisDOT), Racine County, and the Village of Caledonia are each responsible for 

actions to implement the recommended park and open space plan for the Village. Additionally, the Racine Unified 

School District, adjacent counties and municipalities, and non-profit organizations such as the Caledonia 

Conservancy may be involved in the implementation of pertinent recommendations. 

 

The plan anticipates that recommendations related to open space preservation will primarily be undertaken by State 

agencies, Racine County, the Village of Caledonia, and the Caledonia Conservancy. Recommendations related to 

developing new facilities, improving existing facilities, or acquiring additional land at existing park sites is generally 

the responsibility of each site’s respective owner, while acquiring land for proposed new parks will be undertaken 

by the Village. Similarly, developing or enhancing on-street bicycle and pedestrian facilities will generally be 

undertaken by the government unit with jurisdictional authority over the roadway. Recommendations for off-street 

trail facilities and the development of water trails are anticipated to be implemented by the State, County, and 

Village. 

 

In addition to implementing specific plan recommendations, the Wisconsin Departments of Natural Resources and 

Transportation have broader authorities which are relevant to successful implementation. WDNR has the authority 

to administer, within the State, the Federal Land and Water Conservation Fund (LWCF) program and the Wisconsin 

Stewardship Program, both of which are intended to assist in acquiring and developing local parks and urban green 

spaces. WDNR endorsement of the Village Park and Open Space Plan qualifies the Village to apply for available 

State and Federal outdoor recreation grants to support plan implementation. WisDOT administers transportation 

grant funding which may be available to support the construction of the recommended bikeways, including off-

street trails and those located on County and local streets, for those projects which meet eligibility requirements. In 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 118 

the event of a proposed railway abandonment within the Village, it is recommended that WisDOT work with local 

agencies to evaluate the feasibility of acquiring the railway right-of-way for trail development and/or other 

recreational purposes. 

 

Plan Costs 
Full implementation of the five-year 2025-2030 plan, summarized in Table 5.3, and the longer term 2031-2050 plan, 

summarized in Table 5.4, represents a substantial investment in acquiring sites and developing or improving facilities 

to support the current and future needs of Village residents. The park-related improvements included in each table 

are based on input and prioritization from the Village’s Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee. Due to continually 

changing economic conditions, changing public preferences, and varied conditions from park to park, cost estimates 

prepared far in advance of implementation tend to be inaccurate. 

 

As noted earlier in this chapter, the plan recommends preparing estimated costs for the proposed five-year projects 

to be included in the next available capital improvement plan (CIP). It is recommended that Village staff determine 

the specific scope and timing of a given project with community, staff, and public official input and conduct a more 

detailed cost analysis as implementation opportunities arise. Future capital improvements programming efforts 

should include developing estimated costs for longer-term projects. Currently identified projects may be removed 

or reprioritized during each annual update of the CIP as the Village’s priorities and implementation opportunities 

change over time.  

 

Several options are available which can assist the Village in reducing the cost of implementation. Alternative 

methods of land acquisition, such as dedication and conservation easements, could reduce the cost to the Village 

for acquiring parks and open spaces. The plan recommends that the Village work with developers to identify open 

space that can be preserved as common open space and dedicated for public park and recreation use. It is 

recommended that the Village pursue applicable State, Federal, and private grants for park or open space acquisition 

and facility development. Donations from the public and/or private businesses or organizations may also be used 

to develop park facilities. The Village should also consider the establishment of public-private partnerships to 

support the development or operations of facilities and amenities within Village park and open space sites. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 119 

WD 272044-2 – V. Caledonia POSP Appendix A Text 
110-1262 
BMW/KJM/BRM/JED/RLR 
2/6/2025; 08/24/20 
 
 

Community Assistance Planning Report No. 179 (4th Edition) 

 
A PARK AND OPEN SPACE PLAN FOR THE VILLAGE OF CALEDONIA: 2050 

 
 

Appendix A 
 
 

REGIONAL OUTDOOR RECREATION AND 
OPEN SPACE PLANNING OBJECTIVES, 

PRINCIPLES, AND STANDARDS 
 
 

Objective 1: To provide an integrated system of public general-use outdoor recreation sites and related 
open space areas that provide residents of the Region with adequate opportunities to participate in a wide 
range of outdoor recreation and outdoor education activities. 
 
PRINCIPLE 1 

Good physical and mental health is an inherent right of all residents of the Region. Providing public general use 

outdoor recreation sites and related open space areas contributes to physical and mental health by providing 

opportunities to participate in a wide range of outdoor recreation activities. Moreover, an integrated park and 

related open space system properly related to the natural resource base, such as the existing surface water network, 

can provide the dual benefits of satisfying recreational demands in an appropriate setting while protecting and 

preserving valuable natural resource amenities. Finally, an integrated system of public general use outdoor 

recreation sites and related open space areas can contribute to the orderly growth of the Region by lending form 

and structure to urban development patterns. 

 
A. Public Outdoor Recreation Sites 
 
Principle 1.1 
 
Public general use outdoor recreation sites promote good physical and mental health both by providing 

opportunities to participate in such athletic recreational activities as baseball, swimming, tennis, and ice-skating—



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 120 

activities that help maintain physical health because of the exercise involved—as well as opportunities to participate 

in more leisurely activities such as walking, picnicking, or just rest and relaxation. These activities tend to reduce 

stress and thereby help maintain physical and mental well-being. Well designed and properly located public 

general-use outdoor recreation sites also provide a sense of community, bringing people together for social and 

cultural as well as recreational activities. This contributes to desirable and stable residential neighborhoods and 

therefore benefits the communities in which such facilities are provided. 

 
Standard 1.1.1 
 
The public sector should provide general use outdoor recreation sites sufficient in size and number to meet the 

recreation demands of the resident population. These sites should be spatially distributed in a manner that provides 

ready access by the resident population to natural resource or man-made amenities. To achieve this standard, the 

public general use outdoor recreation site requirements should be met as indicated in the following table: 

 

Site Type Size (gross acres) 

Publicly-Owned Park and School Sites 
Parks Schoolsa 

Minimum per 
Capita Public 
Requirements 

(acres per 1,000 
persons)d Typical Facilities 

Maximum Service 
Radius (miles)b 

Minimum per 
Capita Public 
Requirements 

(acres per 1,000 
persons)f 

Typical 
Facilities 

Maximum Service 
Radium (miles)c 

Urbane Rural Urbane Rural 
Ig Regional 250 or more 5.3 Campsites, swimming 

beach, picnic areas, golf 
course, ski hill, ski-touring 
trail, boat launch, nature 
study area, playfield, 
softball diamond, or 
passive-activity areah 

10.0 10.0 - - - - - - - - 

III Multi-Community 100-249 2.6 Campsites, swimming pool 
or beach, picnic areas, 
golf course, ski hill, ski-
touring trail, boat launch, 
nature study area, 
playfield, softball and/or 
baseball diamond, or 
passive-activity areah 

4.0j 10.0j - - - - - - - - 

IIIk Community 25-99 2.2 Swimming pool or beach, 
picnic areas, boat launch, 
nature study area, softball 
and/or baseball 
diamonds, soccer fields 
and other playfields, 
tennis courts, or passive- 
activity areah 

2.0l - - 0.9 Playfield, 
baseball 
diamond, 
softball 
diamond, or 
tennis court
 
other 
playfield, 
baseball 
diamond, 
softball 
diamond, 
tennis court 

0.5-1.0m - - 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 121 

Site Type Size (gross acres) 

Publicly-Owned Park and School Sites 
Parks Schoolsa 

Minimum per 
Capita Public 
Requirements 

(acres per 1,000 
persons)d Typical Facilities 

Maximum Service 
Radius (miles)b 

Minimum per 
Capita Public 
Requirements 

(acres per 1,000 
persons)f 

Typical 
Facilities 

Maximum Service 
Radium (miles)c 

Urbane Rural Urbane Rural 
IVn Neighborhood Less than 25 1.7 Wading pool, picnic areas, 

softball and/or baseball 
diamonds, soccer fields 
and other playfields, 
tennis court, playground, 
basketball goal, ice-
skating rink, or passive-
activity areah 

0.5-1.0o - - 1.6 Playfield, 
playground, 
baseball 
diamond, 
softball 
diamond, 
basketball 
goal, or 
tennis court
 
other 
playfield, 
playground, 
baseball 
diamond, 
softball 
diamond, 
tennis court, 
basketball 
goal 

0.5-1.0m - - 

 
Standard 1.1.2 
 
Public general use outdoor recreation sites should, as much as possible, be located within the designated primary 

environmental corridors of the Region. 

 
B. Recreation Related Open Space 
 
Principle 1.2 

 
Meeting the recreation demands of the Region’s residents cannot be accomplished solely by providing public 

general use outdoor recreation sites. Certain recreational activities such as hiking, biking, scenic driving, and cross-

country skiing are best provided through a system of trails and recreation corridors located on or adjacent to linear 

resource-oriented open space lands. A well-designed system of recreation following linear open space lands can 

also serve to physically connect existing and proposed public parks, thus forming a truly integrated park and 

recreation related open space system. Such open space lands also satisfy the need for natural surroundings, serve 

to protect the natural resource base, and ensure that many scenic areas and areas of natural, cultural, or historic 

interest are properly considered in determining existing and future land use patterns.  

Standard 1.2 
 
The public sector should provide sufficient open space lands to accommodate a system of resource-oriented 

recreation corridors to meet the resident demand for trail-oriented recreation activities. To fulfill this 

recommendation, the following recreation-related open space standards should be met:  

 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 122 

1. A minimum of 0.16 linear miles of recreation related open space consisting of linear recreation 

corridorsp should be provided for each 1,000 people in the Region. 

 

2. Recreation corridors should have a minimum length of 15 miles and a minimum width of 200 feet. 

 

3. The maximum travel distance to recreation corridors should be five miles in urban areas and 10 

miles in rural areas. 

 

4. Resource-orientated recreation corridors should maximize the use of: 

 

a. Primary environmental corridors as locations for trail-oriented recreation activities. 

 

b. Outdoor recreation facilities provided at existing public park sites. 

 

c. Existing trail-type facilities within the Region. 

 
Objective 2: To provide sufficient outdoor recreation facilities to allow the resident population of the 
Region adequate opportunities to participate in intensive nonresource-oriented outdoor recreation 
activities. 
 
PRINCIPLE 2 

Participating in intensive nonresource-oriented outdoor recreation activities including basketball, baseball, ice-

skating, soccer, playfield and playground activities, softball, swimming, and tennis provides an individual with both 

the opportunity for physical exercise and an opportunity to improve their physical fitness. These activities also 

provide an outlet for stress and an opportunity to share recreational experiences, participate in team play, and 

interact with other people in the community. 

 
Standard 2 
 
A sufficient number of facilities for participating in intensive nonresource-oriented outdoor recreation activities 

should be provided throughout the Region. To achieve this standard, the per capita requirements and design criteria 

for various facilities should be met as indicated in the following table: 

 
  



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 123 

 
Minimum Per Capita Facility Requirementsq 

 
Design Standards 

Service 
Radius 

of 
Facility 
(miles)r Activity Facility Owner 

Facility per 
1,000 
Urban 

Residents 
Typical Location of 

Facility 
Facility 

Requirements 
Additional Suggested  

Support Facilities 
Support Facility 
Requirements 

Total Land 
Requiremen 
(acres per 

facility) 

Baseball Diamond Public 
Nonpublic 
Total 

0.09 
0.01 
0.10s 

Multi-community, 
community, and 
neighborhood 
parks  

2.8 acres per 
diamond 

Parking (30 spaces per diamond) 
Night lightingt 
Concessions and bleacherst 
Buffer and landscape 

0.28 acre per diamond 
- - 

0.02 acre minimum 
1.40 acres per diamond 

4.5 2.0 

Basketball Goal Public 
Nonpublic 
Total 

0.91 
0.22 
1.13 

Neighborhood 
parks 

0.07 acre per 
goal 

- - - - 0.07 0.5 

Ice-Skating Rink Public 
Nonpublic 
Total 

0.15u 
- - 
0.15 

Neighborhood 
parks 

0.30 acre per 
rink minimum 

Warming house 0.05 acre 
- - 

0.35 
minimum 

0.5 

Playfield  
 Activities 

Playfield Public 
Nonpublic 
Total 

0.39 
0.11 
0.50 

Neighborhood 
parks 

1.0 acre per 
playfield 
minimum 

Buffer area 0.65 acre minimum 1.65 
minimum 

0.5 

Playground 
 Activities 

Playground Public 
Nonpublic 
Total 

0.35 
0.07 
0.42 

Neighborhood 
parks 

0.25 acre per 
playground 
minimum 

Buffer and landscape 0.37 acre 0.62 
minimum 

0.5 

Soccer Field Public 
Nonpublic 
Total 

0.69 
0.17 
0.86 

Multi-community, 
community, and 
neighborhood 
parks 

1.0 acre per 
field minimum 

Buffer 0.65 acre 1.65 1.0 

Softball Diamond Public 
Nonpublic 
Total 

0.53 
0.07 
0.60 

Multi-community, 
community, and 
neighborhood 
parks 

1.70 acre per 
diamond 

Parking (20 spaces per diamond) 
Nighttime lightingt 
Buffer 

0.18 acre per diamond 
- - 

0.80 acre per diamond 

2.68 1.0 

Swimming Pool Public 
Nonpublic 
Total 

0.015v 
- - 
0.015 

Multi-community 
and community 
parks 

0.13 acre per 
pool minimum 

Bathhouse and concessions 
Parking (400 square feet per 
space) 

   

0.13 acre minimum 
0.26 acre minimum 
0.70 acre minimum 

1.22 
minimum 

3.0 
3.0 

Tennis Court Public 
Nonpublic 
Total 

0.50 
0.10 
0.60 

Multi-community, 
community, and 
neighborhood 
parks 

0.15 acre per 
court 

Parking (2.0 spaces per court)  
Nighttime lightingt 
Buffer 

0.02 acre per court 
- - 

0.15 acre per court 

0.32 1.0 
 

 
Objective 3: To provide sufficient outdoor recreation facilities to allow the resident population of the 
Region adequate opportunities to participate in resource-oriented outdoor recreation activities. 
 
PRINCIPLE 3 

Participating in resource-oriented outdoor recreation activities including camping, golf, picnicking, downhill skiing, 

and swimming provides an opportunity for recreational activity in natural surroundings as well as an opportunity 

for physical exercise. In addition, family members can participate together in activities such as camping, picnicking, 

and swimming. 

 
Standard 3 
 
A sufficient number of facilities for participating in intensive resource-oriented outdoor recreation activities should 

be provided throughout the Region. To meet this standard, the per capita requirements and design criteria for 

various facilities should be met as follows: 

 
  



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 124 

Minimum Per Capita Facility Requirementw Design Standards Service 
Radius 

of 
Facility 
(miles)x Activity Facility Owner 

Per Capita 
Requirements 

(facility per 1,000 
residents) 

Typical Location 
of Facility 

Facility 
Requirements 

Additional Suggested 
Support Facilities 

Support 
Facility 

Requirements 

Total Land 
Requirements 

(acres per 
facility) 

Resource 
Requirements 

Camping Campsite Public 
Nonpublic 
Total 

0.35 
1.47 
1.82 

Regional and 
multi-
community 
parks 

0.33 acre per 
campsite 

Restrooms - showers 
Utility hookups  
Natural area backup   

lands 

- - 
- - 

1.5 acres per    
campsite 

1.83 Ungrazed wooded 
area 

Presence of surface 
water 

Suitable topography 
and soils 

25.0 

Golf Regulation 
18-hole 
course 

Public 
Nonpublic 
Total 

0.013 
0.027 
0.040 

Regional and 
multi-
community 
parks 

135 acres per 
course 

Clubhouse, parking, 
and maintenance 

Practice area 
 
Woodland or water 

areas 
Buffer  

8.0 acres per 
course 

5.0 acres per 
course 

35.0 acres per 
course 

2.0 acres per 
course 

185.00 Suitable topography 
and soils 

Presence of surface 
water 

Form-giving 
vegetation desirable 

10.0 

Picnicking Tables Public 
Nonpublic 
Total 

6.35y 
2.39 
8.74 

Regional, multi-
community, 
community, 
and 
neighborhood 
parks 

0.07 acre per 
table 
minimum 

Parking 
 
 
 
Shelters and grills 
Buffer and parking          

overflow 

0.02 acre per     
table (1.5 
space per 
table) 

- - 
0.02 acre per     

table 

0.11 Topography with 
scenic views 

Shade trees 
Presence of surface 

water desirable 
Suitable soils 

10.0 

Skiing Developed 
slope 
(acres) 

Public 
Nonpublic 
Total 

0.010 
0.090 
0.100 

Regional, multi-
community, 
and 
community 
parks 

1.0 acre per 
acre of 
developed 
slope 

Chalet 
 
Parking 
 
 
Ski tows (and lights) 
 
Buffer and 

maintenance 
 
Landscape 

0.13 acre 
minimum 

0.25 acre per 
acre of 
slope 

0.40 acre per 
acre of 
slope 

0.40 acre per 
acre of 
slope 

0.35 acre per 
acre of 
slope 

2.10 Suitable topography 
and soils 

(20 percent slope 
minimum) 

North or northeast 
exposure 

25.0 

Swimming 
 
 
 
 
 

Beach 
(linear  
feet) 

 
 
 
 

 
 
Public 
Nonpublic 
Total 
 

Major 
Inland 
Lakes 

 
Lake 

Michigan 

Regional, multi-
community, 
and 
community 
parks 

 
 
 

40 square feet 
per linear 
foot 
(average) 

 
 
 

Parking 
 
 
Bathhouse-

concessions 
Buffer areas 
 

0.2 acre per 
acre of 
beach 

0.10 acre 
minimum 

10 square feet 
per linear 
foot 

- -z 

 

 

 

 

 

Natural beach 
Good water quality 

 
 
 
 

10.0 
 
 
 
 
 

 

6 
12 
18 

 

16 
- - 
16 
 

 
Objective 4: To provide sufficient outdoor recreation facilities to allow the resident population of the 
Region adequate opportunities to participate in trail-related and other extensive land-based outdoor 
recreation activities. 
 
PRINCIPLE 4 

Participating in extensive land-based outdoor recreation activities including biking, hiking, horseback riding, nature 

study, scenic driving, cross country skiing, and snowmobiling provides opportunities for contact with natural, 

cultural, historic, and scenic features. In addition, these activities can increase an individual’s understanding of the 

environment and potential pressures on the environment. Similar to intensive resource-orientated activity, family 

members can participate together in extensive land-based recreation activities, which serves to strengthen 

relationships within the family. Participating in activities like biking, hiking, and nature study provides an opportunity 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 125 

to educate younger members of the family in the importance of environmental issues that may become of greater 

concern as they approach adulthood. 

Standard 4 
 
A sufficient number of facilities for participating in land-based outdoor recreation activities should be provided 

throughout the Region. Public facilities provided for these activities should be located within the linear resource-

orientated recreation corridors identified in Objective 1. The following per capita standards and design criteria 

should be met to achieve this standard: 
Minimum Per Capita Public 

Facility Requirementsaa Design Standards 

Activity Facility 

Per Capita 
Requirements 
(linear mile per 
1,000 residents) 

Typical 
Location 
of Facility 

Minimum Facility 
Requirements 

(acres per 
linear mile) 

Suggested 
Support 

Facilities and 
Backup Lands 

Minimum 
Support Facility 
Requirements 

(acres per linear 
mile) 

Resource 
Requirements 

Biking Route 
Trail 

- - bb 
0.16 

Scenic roadways 
Recreation corridor 

 

- - 
1.45 

Route markers 
Backup lands with 

resource amenities 

- - 
24.2 

- - 
Diversity of scenic, historic, natural, 

and cultural features  
Suitable topography (5 percent slope     

average maximum) and soils 
Hiking Trail 0.16 Recreation corridor 0.73 Backup lands with 

resource amenities 
24.2 Diversity of scenic, historic, natural, 

and cultural features 
Suitable topography and soils 

Horseback Riding Trail 0.05 Recreation corridor 
Regional Park 

1.21 Backup lands with 
resource amenities 

24.2 Diversity of scenic, historic, natural, 
and cultural features 

Suitable topography and soils 
Nature Study Center 

 
 
 
Trail 

One per County 
 
 
 

0.02 

Regional, multi-
community, and 
community parks 
Recreation corridor 
Regional, multi-

community, and 
community parks 

- - 
 
 
 

0.73 

Interpretive center 
building 

Parking 
 
Backup lands with 

resource amenities 

- - 
 
 
 

24.2 

Diversity of natural features, including 
a variety of plant and animal species 

Suitable topography and soils 
 
Diversity of natural features, including 

a variety of plant and animal species 
Suitable topography and soils 

Scenic  Driving Route - -cc Scenic roadways 
Recreation corridor 

- - Route markers - - - - 

Cross Country 
Skiing 

Trail 0.02 Recreation corridor 
Regional and multi-

community parks 

0.97 Backup lands with 
resource amenities 

24.2 Suitable natural and open areas 
Rolling topography 

Snowmobiling Trail 0.11 Private lands 
(leased for public use) 

1.45 Backup lands, including 
resource amenities and 
open lands 

24.2 Suitable natural and open areas 
Suitable topography (8 percent slope 

average maximum) and soils 

 
Objective 5: To provide sufficient surface water access areas to allow the resident population of the 
Region adequate opportunities to participate in water-based outdoor recreation activities on major inland 
lakes and rivers and on Lake Michigan, consistent with safe and enjoyable surface water use and the 
maintenance of good water quality. 
 

 
PRINCIPLE 5 

The major inland lakes and rivers of the Region and Lake Michigan provide opportunities for water-based recreation 

activities, including canoeing, fishing, ice fishing, motorboating, sailing, and water-skiing, which may involve unique 

forms of physical exercise or simply provide opportunities for rest and relaxation within an attractive natural setting. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 126 

Participating in such activities requires the general public to have access to major inland lakes and rivers and Lake 

Michigan. 

 
Standard 5.1 
 
Access sites available for use by the general public on streams and major lakes (50 acres or larger) should be 

provided in accordance with the requirements established by the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources in 

Sections NR 1.90 and NR 1.91 of the Wisconsin Administrative Code. 

 
Standard 5.2 

 
Access sites with parking should be provided on major streams throughout the Region. The maximum interval 

between access points on major canoeable streamsdd should be 10 miles. 

 
Objective 6: To preserve sufficient high-quality open space land to protect the underlying and sustaining 
natural resource base and enhance the social and economic well-being, environmental quality, and 
biodiversityee of the Region. 
 
PRINCIPLE 6 

Ecological balance and natural beauty are primary elements to sustaining a healthy environment and maintaining 

the social and economic well-being of the Region. Preserving the most significant aspects of the natural resource 

base, that is, primary environmental corridors, natural areas and critical species habitat sites, and prime agricultural 

lands, contributes to sustaining the ecological balance, natural beauty, and economic well-being of the Region. 

 
A. PRIMARY ENVIRONMENTAL CORRIDORS 

 
PRINCIPLE 6.1 

The primary environmental corridors are a composite of the best individual elements of the natural resource base 

including lakes, streams, rivers, and their associated floodplains and riparian buffers; woodlands, wetlands, plant 

and wildlife habitat; areas of groundwater discharge and recharge; organic soils, rugged terrain, and high relief 

topography; and significant geological formations and physiographic features. Protecting these elements of the 

natural resource base reduces flood damage, abates soil erosion, protects water supplies, cleans the air, enhances 

wildlife population, preserves biological diversity, and provides continued opportunities for scientific, educational, 

and recreational activities. 

 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 127 

Standard 6 
 
All remaining nonurban lands within the designated primary environmental corridors in the Region should be 
preserved in essentially natural open uses. 
 
B. NATURAL AREAS AND CRITICAL SPECIES HABITATS 

 
PRINCIPLE 6.2 

Natural areas and critical species habitats are important in a number of ways - including economically, because they 

support advances in agriculture and medicine; functionally, because they enhance surface water and groundwater 

quality, minimize erosion, and enhance air quality; educationally; recreationally; aesthetically; in basic scientific 

research; and in maintaining biological and genetic diversity. In a less tangible but equally important way, natural 

areas and critical species habitats contribute to the overall quality of life for the Region’s residents. 

 
Standard 6.1 
 
The remaining natural areas and critical species habitat areas should be preserved. 

 

C. PRIME AGRICULTURAL LANDS 

 
PRINCIPLE 6.3 

Prime agricultural lands, in addition to providing food and fiber, can supply significant wildlife habitat; contribute 

to maintaining an ecological balance between plants and animals; offer locations close to urban centers for 

producing certain food commodities that may require nearby population concentrations for efficient distribution; 

provide opportunities for agricultural and agriculture-related employment; provide open spaces that give form and 

structure to urban development; and serve to maintain the natural beauty and unique cultural heritage of the 

Region. 

 
Standard 6.1.1 
 
Prime agricultural lands should be preserved for agricultural use. 

 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 128 

Standard 6.1.2 
 

Agricultural lands surrounding adjacent areas with high-value natural resource, educational, or recreational 

attributes should be considered for preservation to provide a buffer between such resources and urban 

development. 

 
Objective 7: To satisfy outdoor recreation and related open space needs efficiently and economically while 
meeting all other objectives at the lowest possible cost. 
 
PRINCIPLE 7 

The total resources of the Region are limited and any undue investment in park and open space lands must occur 

at the expense of other public investment. 

 
Standard 7 
 
The sum total of all expenditures required to meet park demands and open space needs should be minimized.  
 
 
FOOTNOTES 

a Facilities for intensive nonresource-oriented recreational activities in urban areas are commonly located in community or neighborhood 
school outdoor recreation sites. These facilities often provide a substitute for facilities usually located in parks by providing opportunities 
for participating in intensive nonresource-orientated activities. It is important to note, however, that school outdoor recreation sites do 
not generally contain natural resource areas, which provide space for passive recreational use. 

b Identifying a maximum service radius for each park type is intended to provide another guideline to assist in determining park needs and 
to assure that each resident of the Region has ready access to the variety of outdoor recreation facilities commonly located in parks, 
including space and facilities for both active and passive outdoor recreational use. 

c Identifying a maximum service radius for each school site is intended to assist in determining active outdoor recreation facility 
requirements and to assure that each urban resident has ready access to the types of active intensive nonresource-oriented facilities 
commonly located in school recreation areas. 

d For regional and multi-community parks, which generally provide facilities for resource-orientated outdoor recreation activities for the 
total population of the Region, the minimum per capita acreage requirements apply to the total resident population of the Region. For 
community and neighborhood parks, which generally provide facilities for intensive nonresource-oriented outdoor recreation activities 
primarily in urban areas, the minimum per capita acreage requirements apply to the resident population of the Region residing in urban 
areas. 

e Urban areas are defined as areas containing a closely spaced network of minor streets that include concentrations of residential, 
commercial, industrial, governmental, or institutional land uses having a minimum total area of 160 acres and a minimum population 
of 500 people. These areas are usually incorporated and served by sanitary sewerage systems. These areas have been further classified 
into the following categories:  Mixed-Use City Center (urban land with at least 18.0 dwelling units per net residential acre), Mixed-Use 
Traditional Neighborhood (urban land with at least 7.0 to 17.9 dwelling units per net residential acre), Small Lot Traditional Neighborhood 
(urban land with at least 4.4 to 6.9 dwelling units per net residential acre), Medium Lot Neighborhood (urban land with at least 2.3 to 4.3 
dwelling units per net residential acre), and Large Lot Neighborhood (urban land with at least 0.7 to 2.2 dwelling units per net residential 
acre). 

f For public school sites, which generally provide facilities for intensive nonresource-orientated outdoor recreation activities, the minimum 
per capita acreage requirements apply to the resident population of the Region residing in urban areas. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 129 

g Regional parks are defined as large outdoor recreation sites with a multi-county service area. Such parks rely heavily on natural resources 
for their recreational value and character, and provide opportunities for participating in a wide variety of resource-oriented outdoor 
recreation activities. 

h A passive activity area is defined as an area within an outdoor recreation site that provides an opportunity for such  leisurely recreational 
activities as walking, rest and relaxation, and informal picnicking. These areas are generally located in parks or in urban open space sites, 
and usually consist of a landscaped area with mowed lawn, shade trees, and benches. 

i Multi-community parks are defined as intermediate size sites having a Countywide or multi-community service area. Similar to regional 
parks, these sites rely on natural resources for their recreational value and character.  Multi-community parks, however, usually provide 
a smaller variety of recreational facilities and have smaller areas devoted to any given activity. 

j In general, each resident of the Region should reside within 10 miles of a regional or multi-community park. It should be noted, however, 
that within urban areas (population of 40,000 or greater) each urban resident should reside within four miles of a regional or multi-
community park. 

k Community parks are defined as intermediate size parks having a multi-neighborhood service area. These parks rely more on the 
development characteristics of the service area than on natural resource amenities for location.  

l The need for a community park in urban areas can be met by the presence of a regional or multi-community park. Each resident of an 
urban area with a population of 7,500 or greater should be within two miles of a community, multi-community, or regional park. 

m The service radius of school outdoor recreation sites, for park and open space planning purposes, is governed primarily by individual 
outdoor recreation facilities within the school site. For example, school outdoor recreation sites that provide facilities such as playfields, 
playgrounds, and basketball goals typically have a service radius of 0.5 mile, which is the maximum service radius assigned to such 
facilities (see Standard 2 presented under Objective 2). As another example, school outdoor recreation sites that provide tennis courts and 
softball diamonds typically have a service radius of one mile, which is the maximum service radius assigned to such facilities (see Standard 
2 presented under Objective 2). It is important to note that areas that offer space for passive recreational use are generally not provided 
at school outdoor recreation sites and therefore community and neighborhood school sites generally are not used when applying 
community and neighborhood park accessibility standards.  

n Neighborhood parks are defined as small sites that have a neighborhood as the service area. These sites usually provide facilities for 
intensive nonresource-oriented outdoor recreation activities and are generally located in urban areas. Recreation lands at the 
neighborhood level should ideally be provided through a joint community-school district venture, with the facilities and recreational land 
area required to be provided on one site available to serve the recreation demands of both the school student and resident neighborhood 
populations. Using the neighborhood park standard of 1.7 acres per 1,000 residents and the school standard of 1.6 acres per 1,000 
residents, a total of 3.3 acres per 1,000 residents or approximately 21 acres of recreation lands in a typical small lot traditional or medium 
lot (medium-density) neighborhood would be provided. These acreage standards relate to lands required to provide recreation facilities 
typically located in a neighborhood and are exclusive of the school building site and associated parking area and any additional natural 
resource areas that may be incorporated into the design of the park site such as drainageways and associated stormwater retention 
basins, areas of poor soils, and floodplains. 

o The maximum service radius of neighborhood parks is governed primarily by the population density in the vicinity of the park. In Mixed-
use City Center and Mixed-Use Traditional Neighborhood (high-density) urban areas, each resident should reside within 0.5 mile of a 
neighborhood park; in Small Lot Traditional Neighborhood and Medium Lot Neighborhood (medium density) urban areas, each resident 
should reside within 0.75 mile of a neighborhood park; and in Large Lot Neighborhood (low-density) urban areas, each resident should 
reside within 1.0 mile of a neighborhood park. It should be noted that the need for a neighborhood park can also be met by a regional, 
multi-community, or community park within the 0.5, 0.75, or 1.0 mile service radii in these areas. Further, it should be noted that in 
applying the service radius criterion for neighborhood parks, only multi-use parks five acres or greater in area should be considered as 
satisfying the maximum service radius standard. Such park sites generally provide areas that offer space for passive recreational uses, as 
well as facilities that provide opportunities for active recreational uses. 

p A recreation corridor is defined as a publicly owned continuous linear expanse of land that is generally located within scenic areas or 
areas of natural, cultural, or historical interest and provides opportunities for participation in trail-oriented outdoor recreational activities 
especially through trails designated for activities such as biking, hiking, horseback riding, nature study, and cross country skiing. 

q Facilities for intensive nonresource-oriented outdoor recreation activities generally serve urban areas. The minimum per capita standards 
for facilities offering these activities, therefore, apply to the total resident population in each urban area of the Region. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 130 

r For each facility offering an intensive nonresource-oriented activity, the service radius indicates the maximum distance a participant 
should have to travel from their home to participate in the corresponding activity. 

s Each urban area having a population of 2,500 or greater should have at least one baseball diamond. 
t Support facilities such as lighting, concessions, and bleachers generally should not be provided in neighborhood parks. These sites typically 
do not contain sufficient acreage to allow an adequate buffer between such support facilities and surrounding residences. 

u Each urban area should have at least one ice-skating rink. 
v Each urban area having a population of 7,500 or greater should have one public swimming pool or beach. 
w Facilities for intensive resource-orientated activities serve both rural and urban residents of the Region. The minimum per capita 
requirements for facilities for intensive resource-oriented activities, therefore, apply to the total resident population of the Region. 

x Participants in intensive resource-oriented recreational activities travel relatively long distances from their homes. The approximate service 
radius indicates the normal maximum distance a participant in the respective resource-oriented activity should have to travel from their 
home to participate in the corresponding activity. 

y The allocation of the 6.35 picnic tables per 1,000 residents to publicly owned parks is as follows: 3.80 tables per 1,000 residents of the 
Region to be located in regional and multi-community parks to meet the resource-oriented picnicking standard for the Region and 2.55 
tables per 1,000 residents of urban areas in the Region to be located in community and neighborhood parks to meet local picnicking 
standard for urban areas of the Region. 

z A picnic area is commonly provided adjacent to a swimming beach as a support facility. Thus, the total amount of acreage required for 
support facilities must be determined on a site-by-site basis. 

aa Both urban and rural residents of the Region participate in trail-related activities. Thus, minimum per capita requirements for trails apply 
to the total resident population of the Region. 

bb Bike routes are located on existing public roadways; therefore, no requirement is indicated. 
cc Scenic driving routes are located on existing public roadways; therefore, no requirement is provided. However, a recreation corridor may 
provide a uniquely suitable area for the development of a system of scenic driving routes. 

dd Major canoeable streams are defined as those streams that have a minimum width of 50 feet over a distance of at least 10 miles. 
ee Biodiversity refers to the number and abundance of animal and plant species, their genetic composition and variability, and the ecological 
connection between and among species. 

Source: SEWRPC 
  



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 131 

WD 276105 – V. Caledonia POSP Appendix B Text 
110-1262 
BMW 
2/6/2025 
 
 

Community Assistance Planning Report No. 179 (4th Edition) 

 
A PARK AND OPEN SPACE PLAN FOR THE VILLAGE OF CALEDONIA: 2050 

 
 

Appendix B 
 
 

PERFORMANCE BENCHMARKING 
PEER COMMUNITY METRICS 

  



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 132 

Table B.1 
NRPA Park Metrics for Peer Communities: 2023 
 

Metric 
Lower 

Quartile Median 
Upper 

Quartile 
Agency Summary Effectiveness Ratios 

Operating expenditures per capita  $230 $284 $391 

Revenue per capita  $91 $155 $353 

Total revenue to total operating expenditures  35.0% 54.2% 79.1% 

Total tax expenditures per capita  $38 $127 $137 

Park operating expenditures per acre of parkland  $2,279 $3,824 $5,607 

Operating expenditures per acre of parkland  $8,934 $17,076 $29,443 

Operating expenditures per acres of parks and non-park sites  $8,558 $16,590 $28,036 

Operating expenditures per FTE  $65,110 $82,713 $99,390 

FTEs per 10,000 population  33.2 34.5 40.1 

Acres of parks per 1,000 residents  14.3 16.1 20.0 

Number of residents per park  1186.3 1311.4 1431.9 

Number of acres per park  19.6 23.3 27.0 

Number of participants per program  9.5 11.8 12.7 

Ratio of fee programs to all programs  92.3% 96.4% 98.7% 

Ratio of building attendance to park attendance  38.8% 62.1% 85.4% 

Jurisdiction Information 

Current year jurisdiction total operating budget $10,208,379 $20,276,999 $45,117,480 

Current year jurisdiction annual capital budget $2,042,944 $7,802,282 $15,119,489 

Square mileage of incorporated jurisdiction 13.0 14.5 15.6 

Population of jurisdiction 31515.5 33882.0 35099.5 

Jurisdiction Population per Facility or Amenity 

Recreation centers  10505.2 14132.2 22327.8 

Community centers  14718.4 25455.5 35099.5 

Senior centers  29501.0 34058.0 36141.0 

Indoor ice rink  17029.0 17029.0 17029.0 

Arena  24944.0 24944.0 24944.0 

Performance amphitheater  34835.5 35965.0 37094.5 

Permanent and semi-permanent restrooms 4680.5 6741.2 8148.6 

Facilities with restrooms available free of use to public, not included above  14812.4 21110.3 27408.1 

Playgrounds or play structures 1323.0 1620.2 2374.7 

Playgrounds primarily dedicated for kids aged 5-12 1809.4 2270.5 4320.6 

Tot lots primarily dedicated for kids aged 2-5 1675.8 2003.4 5779.7 

Playgrounds with Inclusive plays structures 10230.1 19112.0 26585.0 

Community gardens 22028.0 24944.0 29325.0 

Basketball courts, standalone (outdoor) 1925.4 3877.5 7442.6 

Basketball courts , standalone (indoor) 34058.0 34058.0 34058.0 

Multiuse courts -basketball, volleyball, etc. (outdoor) 22848.5 26585.0 30321.5 

Table continued on next page. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 133 

Table B.1 (Continued) 
 

Metric 
Lower 

Quartile Median 
Upper 

Quartile 
Multiuse courts -basketball, volleyball, etc. (indoor) 22646.7 34058.0 36141.0 

Volleyball, standalone (outdoor) 10621.1 17029.0 27626.5 

Diamond fields: total 1927.1 2592.8 3685.4 

Skateboard Parks 18089.7 24944.0 29501.0 

Dog park 35099.5 36141.0 37182.5 

Ice rink (outdoor only) 12683.7 14132.2 15580.6 

Rectangular fields: total 1309.9 1309.9 1309.9 

Synthetic rectangular fields 17029.0 17029.0 17029.0 

Walking loops / running tracks (outdoor) 7616.2 8861.7 10107.2 

Walking loops / running tracks (indoor) 33794.0 33882.0 33970.0 

Splashpads, spraygrounds or spray showers 34835.5 35965.0 37094.5 

Fitness zones / exercise stations (Outdoor) 2270.5 2270.5 2270.5 

Driving range stations  1216.4 1216.4 1216.4 

Regulation 18-hole courses  27222.5 29501.0 31779.5 

Regulation 9-hole courses  19007.8 20986.5 22965.3 

Disc golf courses 38224.0 38224.0 38224.0 

Aquatics centers  33882.0 34058.0 36141.0 

Swimming pools (outdoor only)  13292.5 17029.0 20986.5 

Indoor pool designated exclusively for leisure (i.e. non-competitive) 33706.0 33706.0 33706.0 

Waterpark 38224.0 38224.0 38224.0 

Tennis courts (outdoor only)  3566.1 5449.3 9833.9 

Pickleball (outdoor)  3961.7 5676.3 12394.2 

Pickleball (indoor)  22760.5 26409.0 30057.5 

Multiuse courts- Tennis, Pickleball (outdoor)  7100.1 11104.1 15108.0 

Multiuse courts- Tennis, Pickleball (indoor)  13204.5 15173.7 17142.8 

Note:  

Peer communities summarized in this table are jurisdictions having populations between 20,000 and 40,000 with 20 to 40 park sites and located in the 
states of Wisconsin, Illinois, Indiana, Michigan, and Ohio. 

Source: National Recreation and Parks Association and Southeastern Wisconsin Regional Planning Commission 
  



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 134 

WD 274817 – V. Caledonia POSP Table C.1 
110-1262 
BMW 
2/6/2025 
 
 

Community Assistance Planning Report No. 179 (4th Edition) 

 
A PARK AND OPEN SPACE PLAN FOR THE VILLAGE OF CALEDONIA: 2050 

 
 

Appendix C 
 
 

SITE-SPECIFIC MANAGEMENT MEASURES FOR THE ROOT 
RIVER WATERSHED IN THE VILLAGE OF CALEDONIA: 2014 

  



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 135 

Table C.1 
Site-Specific Management Measures for the Root River Watershed in the Village of Caledonia: 2014a 

 

Focus Areas Addressed Location Management Action Priorityb 
Habitat Nicholson Wildlife Refuge Remove invasive plants species, restore site High 
Water Quality Husher Creek south of 5 Mile Road Add water quality monitoring station  Medium 
Habitat, Water Quality, 
Recreational Use and Access 

Husher Creek south of 7 Mile Road Stream rehabilitation, naturalization, or bank 
stabilization project to address eroding 
streambanks. Remeandering of channelized 
reaches including addition of buffer and canopy 
cover 

Low 

Water Quality Husher Creek at 5 Mile Road Investigate to determine cause of low dissolved 
oxygen concentrations at this site during summer 

Medium 

Habitat Tabor Woods Removal and management of invasive plant 
species 

High 

Recreational Use and Access Root River at STH 31 Install canoe landing on west side of the road 
and north side of the River 

Medium 

Recreational Use and Access Green Bay Road and Kennedy 
Avenue 

Access to public land could be provided for foot 
and snowmobile by a mowed path through an 
area between apartment buildings that is 
overrun with invasive species 

Low 

Recreational Use and Access Linwood Park Install canoe landing Medium 
Recreational Use and Access Root River at upstream crossing of 

4 Mile Road at Blue River Reserves 
Install canoe landing Medium 

Habitat Property west of Holy Cross 
Cemetery and west of STH 32 at 
4 1/2 Mile Road (extended) 

Currently under conservation easement, acquire 
for protective ownership when owner wants to 
sell or donate 

Medium 

Water Quality Husher Creek at 7 Mile Road Investigation to find and remedy source of 
human Bacteroides in water quality samples 
upstream from sampling station 

Medium 

Water Quality Husher Creek at 7 Mile Road Investigate agricultural drain tiles that may 
benefit from a filtration system 

Low 

Habitat, Water Quality A 120 foot section of the south 
bank in tax parcel 104-04-22-26-
025-030 and 150 foot section of 
the northeast bank of Hoods Creek 
in tax parcel 104-4-22-26-025-024 

Bank stabilization to address bank erosion along 
120 feet of Hoods Creek. Erosion height is 
estimated at an average of four feet 

Low 

Habitat, Water Quality Four erosion sites of varying 
severity on both banks of tax parcel 
104-04-22-26-029-000. 

Bank stabilization to address bank erosion along 
both banks of Hoods Creek of 30 feet, 120 feet, 
100 feet, and 45 feet in length, respectively. 
Erosion height is estimated to be three feet, four 
feet, 3.5 feet, and five feet, respectively 

Low 

Habitat, Water Quality A 50 foot section of erosion on the 
west bank of Hoods Creek in tax 
parcel 104-04-22-26-060-000 

Bank stabilization to address bank erosion along 
about 50 feet of Hoods Creek. Removal of old 
bridge footings should be considered to 
prevent continued scour. Erosion height is 
estimated at an average of five feet 

Medium 

Habitat, Water Quality A 120 foot section of severe 
erosion on the west bank of Hoods 
Creek in tax parcel 104-04-22-26-
039-010 

Bank stabilization to address severe bank 
erosion along about 120 feet of Hoods Creek. 
Erosion height is estimated at an average of 
nine feet 

Medium 

Habitat, Water Quality A 175 foot section of erosion on 
the east bank of Hoods Creek in tax 
parcel 104-04-22-350-540-00 

Bank stabilization to address bank erosion along 
175 feet of Hoods Creek in close proximity to 
the Hoods Creek Road crossing. Erosion height 
is estimated at an average of three feet 

Low 

Table continued on next page. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 136 

Focus Areas Addressed Location Management Action Priorityb 
Habitat, Water Quality Two erosion sites on the west bank 

of Hoods Creek in tax parcel 104-
04-22-350-620-00 

Bank stabilization to address bank erosion along 
40 feet of Hoods Creek in close proximity to the 
Hoods Creek Road crossing with an erosion 
height estimated at four feet; bank stabilization 
to address erosion along 80 feet of Hoods 
Creek, with an erosion height estimated at an 
average of 3.5 feet  

Low 

Habitat, Water Quality A 200 foot section of erosion on 
the west bank of Hoods Creek in 
tax parcel 104-04-22-350-850-00 

Bank stabilization to address bank erosion along 
200 feet of Hoods Creek. Erosion height is 
estimated at an average of 3.5 feet 

Medium 

Habitat, Water Quality Five erosion sites of varying 
severity on both banks of Hoods 
Creek of tax parcels 104-04-22-
350-190-00 and 104-04-22-350-
200-00 (same owner) 

Bank stabilization to address bank erosion along 
both banks of Hoods Creek of 300 feet, 250 
feet, 50 feet, 40 feet, and 200 feet in length, 
respectively. Erosion height is estimated at an 
average of seven feet, four feet, six feet, six feet, 
and six feet, respectively. Site HE26 has a high 
priority due to its proximity to a private 
driveway crossing; site HE30 has a high priority 
due to its proximity to a private dam 

High 

Habitat, Water Quality Three erosion sites all on the 
southern bank of Hoods Creek on 
tax parcels 104-04-22-353-009-51 

Bank stabilization to address bank erosion along 
Hoods Creek of 40 feet, 125 feet, and 60 feet in 
length, respectively. Erosion height is estimated 
at an average of six feet, 5.5 feet, and 10 feet, 
respectively 

High 

Habitat, Water Quality A 90 foot section of severe erosion 
on the south bank of Hoods Creek 
in tax parcel 104-04-22-350-360-00 

Bank stabilization to address bank erosion along 
90 feet of Hoods Creek. Erosion height is 
estimated at an average of nine feet. Erosion is 
in close proximity to stormwater detention basin 
outflow channel located on Jamestown Limited 
property 

Medium 

Habitat, Water Quality A 100 foot section of erosion on 
the west bank of Hoods Creek in 
tax parcels 104-04-22-351-700-00 
and 151-03-22-020-52-000 

Bank stabilization to address bank erosion along 
100 feet of Hoods Creek. Erosion height is 
estimated at an average of six feet. Erosion is in 
close proximity to a residential garage 

Low 

Habitat, Water Quality A 60 foot section of erosion on the 
southeast bank of the mainstem of 
the Root River in tax parcel 104-04-
22-250-950-00 

Bank stabilization to address bank erosion along 
60 feet of the mainstem of the Root River. 
Erosion height is estimated at an average of six 
feet 

Medium 

Habitat, Water Quality A 50 foot section of erosion on the 
north bank of the mainstem of the 
Root River in tax parcel 104-04-22-
250-410-00 

Bank stabilization to address bank erosion along 
50 feet of the mainstem of the Root River. 
Erosion height is estimated at an average of 
four feet 

Low 

Habitat, Water Quality, 
Recreational Use and Access 

A 600 foot section of erosion on 
the west bank of the mainstem of 
the Root River in Linwood Park, tax 
parcel 104-04-22-140-650-00 

Bank stabilization to address bank erosion along 
600 feet of the mainstem of the Root River. 
Erosion height is estimated at an average of 
four feet. Adjust mowing protocol to leave 
unmowed area along streambank. Add 
designated fishing area 

Low 

Habitat, Water Quality A 500 foot section of erosion on 
the west bank of the mainstem of 
the Root River in tax parcels 104-
04-22-140-640-01 and 104-04-22-
140-610-00 

Bank stabilization to address bank erosion 
along 500 feet of the mainstem of the Root 
River. Erosion height is estimated at an 
average of six feet 

High 

Table continued on next page. 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 137 

Focus Areas Addressed Location Management Action Priorityb 
Habitat, Water Quality A 50 foot section of erosion on the 

east bank of the mainstem of the 
Root River in tax parcel 104-04-22-
140-550-01 

Bank stabilization and extension of existing 
rock toe downstream to address bank erosion 
along 50 feet of the mainstem of the Root 
River. Erosion height is estimated at an 
average of 12 feet 

Medium 

Habitat, Water Quality A 245 foot section of erosion on 
the east bank of the mainstem of 
the Root River in tax parcel 104-04-
22-110-350-00 

Bank stabilization to address bank erosion 
along 245 feet of the mainstem of the Root 
River. Erosion height is estimated at an 
average of five feet 

Medium 

Habitat, Water Quality A 240 foot section of erosion on 
the south bank of the mainstem of 
the Root River in tax parcel 104-04-
22-110-240-00 

Bank stabilization to address bank erosion 
along 240 feet of the mainstem of the Root 
River. Erosion height is estimated at an 
average of five feet 

Medium 

Habitat, Water Quality A 150 foot section of erosion on 
the west bank of the mainstem of 
the Root River in tax parcel 104-04-
22-100-220-00 

Bank stabilization to address bank erosion 
along 150 feet of the mainstem of the Root 
River. Erosion height is estimated at an 
average of five feet 

Medium 

Habitat, Water Quality A 590 foot section of erosion on 
the west bank of the mainstem of 
the Root River in tax parcel 104-04-
22-03-036-000 

Bank stabilization to address bank erosion 
along 590 feet of the mainstem of the Root 
River. Erosion height is estimated at an 
average of five feet 

Medium 

Habitat, Water Quality A 250 foot section of erosion on 
the northeast bank of the 
mainstem of the Root River in tax 
parcels 104-04-22-03-011-000, 
104-04-22-03-009-001, and 971-
9992-001 

Bank stabilization to address bank erosion along 
250 feet of the mainstem of the Root River in 
close proximity to County Line Road. Erosion 
height is estimated at an average of four feet 

Low 

Habitat, Water Quality Two erosion sites on both banks of 
the mainstem of the Root River 
within tax parcels 9729997000 and 
104-04-22-04-002-000 

Bank stabilization to address bank erosion along 
20 feet and 160 feet of the mainstem of the 
Root River. Erosion height is estimated at an 
average of eight feet and seven feet, 
respectively  

Medium 

Habitat, Water Quality Five erosion sites of varying 
severity on both banks of the 
mainstem of the Root River within 
tax parcels 9739994000 and 104-
04-22-04-012-000 

Bank stabilization to address bank erosion along 
400 feet, 80 feet, 80 feet, 100 feet, and 120 feet 
of the mainstem of the Root River. Erosion 
height is estimated at an average of five feet, six 
feet, four feet, six feet, and five feet, respectively  

Low 

Habitat, Water Quality Two erosion sites on the south bank 
of the mainstem of the Root River in 
tax parcels 104-04-22-05-010-000 
and 104-04-22-05-014-000 

Bank stabilization to address bank erosion along 
80 feet and 200 feet of the mainstem of the 
Root River. Erosion height is estimated at an 
average of six feet for both sites  

Medium 

Habitat, Water Quality Four erosion sites of varying 
severity on both banks of the 
mainstem of the Root River within 
tax parcels 104-04-22-05-016-000 
and 104-04-22-05-024-000 

Bank stabilization to address bank erosion along 
80 feet, 200 feet, 240 feet, and 160 feet of the 
mainstem of the Root River. Erosion height is 
estimated at an average of five feet, 10 feet, five 
feet, and five feet, respectively  

High 

Habitat, Water Quality Farm field draining to Husher Creek 
in tax key 104-04-22-160-23-030 

Installation of 650-foot long grassed waterway Medium 

Habitat, Water Quality Farm field draining into Husher 
Creek west of S. Howell Avenue 
and south of 5 Mile Road in tax key 
104-04-22-20-00-10-00 

Installation of agricultural BMPs including: 
Grassed waterways 1,050 feet long; subsurface 
drain 1,050 feet long 

Medium 

Habitat, Water Quality Farm field along Husher Creek 
south of 5 Mile Road and east of S. 
Howell Avenue in tax keys 104-04-
22-21-00-8000 and 104-04-22-21-
00-7000 

Conversion of 0.8 acre of agricultural land to 
grass buffer to increase riparian buffer along 
Husher Creek 

High 

Habitat, Water Quality Dam located on Hoods Creek in tax 
key 104-04-22-35-02-0000 

Explore dam abandonment and removal options Low 



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 138 

a Recommendations are excerpted from Table 79 in SEWRPC Community Assistance Planning Report No. 316, A Watershed Restoration Plan for the Root 
River Watershed, July 2014. 

b It is anticipated that most high-priority projects will be implemented over the 10-year period from 2014 through 2023, most medium-priority projects will 
be implemented over the period from 2024 through 2038, and most low-priority projects will be implemented after 2038. It is recognized that some priority 
rankings may change during refinement and preliminary engineering of projects. 

Source: 1000 Friends of Wisconsin; AECOM; City of Racine; City of Greenfield; Milwaukee County Department of Parks, Recreation and Culture; Root River 
Watershed Restoration Plan Advisory Group; Root River Restoration Planning Group; Racine County Land Conservation Division; Racine Health 
Department; and SEWRPC 

  



 PRELIMINARY DRAFT 139 

 
 
 
 
 

Community Assistance Planning Report No. 179 (4th Edition) 

 
A PARK AND OPEN SPACE PLAN FOR THE VILLAGE OF CALEDONIA: 2050 

 
 

Appendix D 
 
 

VILLAGE OF CALEDONIA PARKS SURVEY 
SUMMARY OF RESPONSES 

 



POSP Survey

What is your age range?

Answered: 534  Skipped: 0

0

100

150

50

Und
er 

18
 ye

ars
...

18
-24

 ye
ars

 o.
..

25
-34

 ye
ars

 ol
...

35
-44

 ye
ars

 ol
...

45
-54

 ye
ars

 ol
...

55
-64

 ye
ars

 ol
...

65
 ye

ars
 ol

d a
...

Under 18 years old 11 2.06%

18-24 years old 7 1.31%

25-34 years old 86 16.1%

35-44 years old 149 27.9%

45-54 years old 105 19.66%

55-64 years old 94 17.6%

65 years old and over 82 15.36%

Do you have children under the age of 18 living in your household?

Answers Count Percentage



Answered: 534  Skipped: 0

Yes

No

Yes 275 51.5%

No 259 48.5%

How many people live in your household?

2-3

4-5

1

More than 5

Answers Count Percentage



Answered: 534  Skipped: 0

2-3 261 48.88%

4-5 197 36.89%

1 45 8.43%

More than 5 31 5.81%

In which part of Caledonia do you live?

Answered: 534  Skipped: 0

East of Douglas Ave (STH 32)

West of Douglas Ave (STH

32) & South of 4 Mile Rd

West of Douglas Ave (STH

32) & North of 4 Mile Rd

I don't live in Caledonia

East of Douglas Ave (STH 32) 330 61.8%

West of Douglas Ave (STH 32) & South of 4 Mile Rd 102 19.1%

West of Douglas Ave (STH 32) & North of 4 Mile Rd 85 15.92%

I don't live in Caledonia 17 3.18%

Answers Count Percentage

Answers Count Percentage



How often do you visit parks in the Village of Caledonia?

Answered: 534  Skipped: 0

More than 3 times a month

Once a month

2-3 times a month

Never

More than 3 times a month 201 37.64%

Once a month 160 29.96%

2-3 times a month 122 22.85%

Never 51 9.55%

What activities do you participate in at parks in the Village of Caledonia? (Select all tha…

Answers Count Percentage



0

100

200

300

400

W
alk

ing
/jo

gg
in.

..
Hiki

ng

Enjo
yin

g n
atu

r...

Biki
ng

Hors
eb

ac
k r

idi
...

Play
ing

 ba
se

ba
...

Play
ing

 te
nn

is.
..

Play
ing

 ba
sk

et.
..

Play
ing

 a 
fie

l...

San
d v

oll
ey

ba
l...

Rela
xin

g/s
un

ba
...

Dog
 w

alk
ing

Play
ing

 on
 th

e..
.

Picn
ick

ing

Visi
tin

g a
 be

e..
.

Can
oe

ing
/ka

ya
k..

.

Fis
hin

g

Othe
r (

ple
as

e .
..

Walking/jogging 365 68.35%

Hiking 139 26.03%

Enjoying nature 290 54.31%

Biking 140 26.22%

Horseback riding 10 1.87%

Playing baseball/softball 88 16.48%

Playing tennis or pickle ball 73 13.67%

Playing basketball 43 8.05%

Playing a field sport (i.e. soccer, football, or lacrosse) 30 5.62%

Sand volleyball 24 4.49%

Relaxing/sunbathing 72 13.48%

Dog walking 178 33.33%

Playing on the playground 228 42.7%

Picnicking 108 20.22%

Answers Count Percentage



Answered: 534  Skipped: 0

Visiting a beer garden 189 35.39%

Canoeing/kayaking 64 11.99%

Fishing 75 14.04%

Other (please specify) 37 6.93%

The parks currently in the Village of Caledonia meet your needs.

Answered: 533  Skipped: 1

0

50

100

150

200

250

Strongly disag... Disagree Neutral Agree Strongly agree

Strongly disagree 41 7.68%

Disagree 127 23.78%

Neutral 213 39.89%

Agree 132 24.72%

Strongly agree 20 3.75%

What are the biggest needs for parks in the Village of Caledonia? (Select all that apply)

Answers Count Percentage



Answered: 534  Skipped: 0

0

100

200

400

300

More
 ne

igh
bo

rh.
..

More
 di

ve
rse

 t..
.

Im
pro

ve
d a

cc
es

...

More
 am

en
itie

s..
.

Bett
er 

main
ten

...

Othe
r (

Plea
se

 ...

More neighborhood parks 164 30.71%

More diverse types of parks 144 26.97%

Improved access to existing parks 94 17.6%

More amenities or features in existing parks 322 60.3%

Better maintenance of existing parks 222 41.57%

Other (Please specify) 80 14.98%

What are the most important features or amenities you look for in a park?…

Answers Count Percentage



Answered: 534  Skipped: 0

0

1

2

3

4

Safety and cle... Variety of act... Natural beauty... Proximity to y... Accessibility ...

1 Safety and cleanliness

2
Variety of

activities/amenities

3
Natural

beauty/landscaping

4 Proximity to your home

5
Accessibility (e.g.,

sidewalks, benches)

39.89%

213

22.47%

120

16.29%

87

13.11%

70

8.24%

44

19.85%

106

21.16%

113

21.91%

117

16.85%

90

20.22%

108

17.42%

93

21.16%

113

22.47%

120

20.97%

112

17.98%

96

14.79%

79

18.16%

97

18.91%

101

18.54%

99

29.59%

158

8.05%

43

17.04%

91

20.41%

109

30.52%

163

23.97%

128

3.73

3.04

2.99

2.70

2.55

What additional activities/amenities would you like to see offered, or there to be more …

Rank Answers 1 2 3 4 5Average
score



Disc golf courses

Multi-use sports fields for soccer, football, and lacrosse

Fishing

Outdoor fitness stations with exercise equipment

Sledding

Ice skating

Community gardens

Open lawns for community events and festivals

Tennis or pickleball courts

Natural areas/wildlife habitat

Fenced areas for off-leash dog play

Swimming pools

Amphitheaters for concerts and performances

Inclusive play equipment for children of all abilities

Covered pavilions for gatherings and picnics

Hiking trails

Traditional play structures for children

Splash pads/water play areas

More walking/running/biking trails

Beer gardens



Horseback riding trails

BMX biking tracks

Other

Cross-country skiing

Water-craft rentals

Public art installations

Skate parks - For skateboarding, BMX, scootering, and
aggressive inline skating

Camping areas

Sand volleyball courts

Water-craft launches

Baseball diamonds

Basketball courts

0 100 200 300



Beer gardens 254 47.57%

More walking/running/biking trails 238 44.57%

Splash pads/water play areas 232 43.45%

Traditional play structures for children 193 36.14%

Hiking trails 193 36.14%

Covered pavilions for gatherings and picnics 178 33.33%

Inclusive play equipment for children of all abilities 167 31.27%

Amphitheaters for concerts and performances 165 30.9%

Swimming pools 165 30.9%

Fenced areas for off-leash dog play 156 29.21%

Natural areas/wildlife habitat 154 28.84%

Tennis or pickleball courts 150 28.09%

Open lawns for community events and festivals 130 24.34%

Community gardens 128 23.97%

Ice skating 127 23.78%

Sledding 120 22.47%

Outdoor fitness stations with exercise equipment 119 22.28%

Fishing 98 18.35%

Multi-use sports fields for soccer, football, and lacrosse 95 17.79%

Disc golf courses 94 17.6%

Basketball courts 80 14.98%

Baseball diamonds 68 12.73%

Answers Count Percentage



Answered: 534  Skipped: 0

Water-craft launches 55 10.3%

Sand volleyball courts 53 9.93%

Camping areas 52 9.74%

Skate parks - For skateboarding, BMX, scootering, and aggres

sive inline skating

50 9.36%

Public art installations 50 9.36%

Water-craft rentals 49 9.18%

Cross-country skiing 40 7.49%

Other 38 7.12%

BMX biking tracks 25 4.68%

Horseback riding trails 18 3.37%

How would you rate the current state of bicycle and pedestrian facilities in…

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

Very high qual... High quality Neither high n... Low quality Very low quali...

Very high quality 11 2.06%

Answers Count Percentage



Answered: 534  Skipped: 0

High quality 58 10.86%

Neither high nor low quality 289 54.12%

Low quality 133 24.91%

Very low quality 43 8.05%

What improvements would you like to see in the Village of Caledonia's bicycle and…

Answered: 534  Skipped: 0

0

100

200

300

More
 bi

ke
 la

ne
...

Side
walk

 en
ha

n..
.

Cros
sw

alk
 im

pr.
..

Bike
 ra

ck
s

Ped
es

tria
n-f

ri..
.

Othe
r

More bike lanes 210 39.33%

Sidewalk enhancements 233 43.63%

Crosswalk improvements 141 26.4%

Bike racks 72 13.48%

Pedestrian-friendly intersections 254 47.57%

Other 78 14.61%

Answers Count Percentage



How important is it to you to preserve natural areas within the Village of…

Answered: 534  Skipped: 0

0

50

100

150

200

300

350

250

Very important Somewhat impor... Neutral Somewhat unimp... Not important

Very important 329 61.61%

Somewhat important 127 23.78%

Neutral 60 11.24%

Somewhat unimportant 12 2.25%

Not important 6 1.12%

Answers Count Percentage



WHAT IS THE SCOPE OF WORK?
2025
•	 Herbicide 1.5 acres of turf except trail areas
•	 Seed area with native vegetation
•	 Spot treat invasive vegetation
2026 -2028
•	 Two maintenance mowings per year
•	 Spot treat invasive species
2029 and beyond
•	 Mow trails, treat invasives, optional burn

WHY IS THIS PROJECT NEEDED?
•	 Chapla Park consists of 8 acres of primary environmental corridor according to the Park and Open Space 

Plan for the Village of Caledonia: 2035 and the Southeastern Wisconsin Regional Planning Commission. The 
conversion of turf grass to deep-rooted native prairie plants will infiltrate more stormwater runoff, support 
stabilization of Lake Michigan’s shoreline bluffs, reduce turf mowing costs, provide habitat for declining 
pollinator and bird populations, and improve passive recreational opportunities within the park. 

WHAT ARE THE ESTIMATED OUTCOMES?
•	 The conversion of turf grass to a deep-rooted native prairie will infiltrate more than 26,000 gallons of 

stormwater, reduce erosion and sediment loading in Cliffside Park, and boost pollinators and bird habitat. The 
estimated cost to mow the acre and a half area is about $105 per mowing or about $3,150 per year based on 
20 mowings. Reducing the mowing to just the 2,000-foot trail could save the Village ~$26,000 over ten years.

CHAPLA PARK
TURF TO PRAIRIE CONVERSION

WHERE IS THIS WORK TAKING PLACE?

HOW MUCH DOES THE PROJECT COST?
Planning & Restoration (year one)
•	 Village of Caledonia	 $0
•	 Root-Pike WIN	 $10,000	
Short-term Maintenance (next three years)
•	 Village of Caledonia	 $0
•	 Root-Pike WIN	 $5,000
TOTAL	 $15,000	

Long-term Maintenance (every year after)
•	 Village of Caledonia	 $500 

trail mowing (~.23 acres)	

P R O J E C T  P R O F I L E

Kristine Heuser
Program Manager
kristine@rootpikewin.org 
262-883-4018

Stormwater flowing off Chapla Park and into the 
Cliffside Park ravine is exaccerbating erosion,which  

adds excessive sediment to Lake Michigan.

CLIFFSIDE PARK - RACINE COUNTY

CHAPLA PARK & RESTORATION AREA

CRESTVIEW NEIGHBORHOOD

LAKE 
MICHIGAN



Sense of Place
• Flowers blooming May-October
• Adds character to neighborhood 

More Infiltration
• Reduces erosion of shoreline
• Less standing water on grass
• Better coastal water quality

More Pollinators
• Habitat for endangered 

bees, butterflies, and birds 

Less Mowing
• Reduced cost to village as 

less mowing will be required 

Passive Recreation
• Mowed edge separates prairie 

and gives a neat appearance
• Tidy trail loop for residents


	Agenda
	Minutes
	5A - V. Caledonia POSP - Review Draft.pdf
	Chapter 1
	1.1 Introduction
	1.2 Planning Framework
	Regional and County Park and Open Space Planning
	Village Plans
	Village Comprehensive Plan
	Village Park and Open Space Plans


	1.3 Advisory Committee
	1.4 Public Participation and Plan Adoption
	1.5 Planning Area
	1.6 Report Format
	Chapter 2
	2.1 Introduction
	2.2 Resident Population
	2.3 Land Use Base
	2.4 Park and Open Space Sites
	Existing Park and Open Space Sites
	Conservation Easements
	Village of Caledonia Park System
	5 ½ Mile Park
	Chapla Park
	County Line Park
	Crawford Park
	Gorney Park
	Linwood Park
	Maple Park
	Nicholson Wildlife Refuge
	Waters Edge Park
	Village Land (Markay Stormwater Basin)
	Village Land (SCORe Stormwater Basin)
	Village Land (Caddy Vista Stormwater Basin)
	Village Land (East Side of Terrace High and North of Richmond Drive)
	Village Land (South Side of Four Mile Road and West of Green Bay Road)
	Village Land (Southwest Quadrant of Six Mile Road and Union Pacific Railroad)

	Racine County Parks
	City of Racine Parks
	Trail Facilities

	2.5 Natural Resource Features
	Surface Water Resources
	Wetlands
	Woodlands
	Environmental Corridors and Isolated Natural Resource Areas
	Primary Environmental Corridors
	Secondary Environmental Corridors
	Isolated Natural Resource Areas

	Natural Areas, Critical Species Habitat Sites, Aquatic Areas, and Geological Sites

	Chapter 3
	3.1 Introduction
	3.2 Status of Park Plan Recommendations to be Implemented by the Village of Caledonia
	Outdoor Recreation
	Parks Recommendations
	Trails Recommendations

	Open Space Preservation

	3.3 Status of Plan Recommendations to be Implemented by Other units of Government
	Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources
	Wisconsin Department of Transportation
	Racine County
	County Parks Recommendations
	County Trails Recommendations


	Chapter 4
	4.1 Village Plans Affecting the Park and Open Space Plan
	Village of Caledonia Park and Open Space Plans
	Crawford Park Master Plan
	Village of Caledonia Land Use Plan and Multi-Jurisdictional Comprehensive Plan for Racine County
	Goals, Objectives, Policies, and Programs
	Goals
	Objectives
	Policies and Programs

	Population Projections


	4.2 County and Regional Plans Affecting the Park and Open Space Plan
	Regional and County Park and Open Space Plans
	Regional Natural Areas Plan
	Root River Watershed Restoration Plan

	4.3 Regional Park and Open Space Objectives, Principles, and Standards
	4.4 Park and Open Space Needs
	Needs Analysis
	Community and Neighborhood Parks
	Site Needs Based on Per Capita Standards
	Site Needs Based on Service Area Standards
	Facility Needs Based on Per Capita Standards
	Facility Needs Based on Service Area Standards
	Ball Diamonds
	Basketball Hoops
	Playfields
	Playgrounds
	Soccer Fields
	Tennis/Pickleball Courts
	Swimming Pool or Beach

	Community-Specific Site and Facility Needs
	Village of Caledonia Parks Survey


	Chapter 5
	5.1 Introduction
	5.2 Open Space Preservation
	Open Space Preservation Recommendations
	Primary Environmental Corridors
	Secondary Environmental Corridors
	Isolated Natural Resource Areas
	Natural Areas, Critical Species Habitat Sites, Aquatic Areas, and Geological Sites
	Root River Watershed


	5.3 Areawide Park Recommendations
	Racine County Park and Open Space Plan Recommendations
	Existing Parks
	Bicycle and Pedestrian Facilities
	Water Trails


	5.4 Village Park and Open Space Recommendations
	Parks and Related Recreational Facilities
	Proposed New Parks
	Development and Improvement at Existing Village Parks: 2025-2030
	Development at Existing Village Parks: 2031-2050
	Maintenance of Other Existing Village Parks

	Open Space Preservation
	Bicycle and Pedestrian Facilities
	Water Trails
	Village Impact Fees
	Public Facilities Needs Assessment and Impact Fee Ordinance

	Public Input

	5.5 Plan Implementation
	Plan Costs

	Appendix A
	Objective 1: To provide an integrated system of public general-use outdoor recreation sites and related open space areas that provide residents of the Region with adequate opportunities to participate in a wide range of outdoor recreation and outdoor ...
	Principle 1
	A. Public Outdoor Recreation Sites
	Principle 1.1
	Standard 1.1.1
	Standard 1.1.2

	B. Recreation Related Open Space
	Principle 1.2
	Standard 1.2


	Objective 2: To provide sufficient outdoor recreation facilities to allow the resident population of the Region adequate opportunities to participate in intensive nonresource-oriented outdoor recreation activities.
	Principle 2
	Standard 2
	Objective 3: To provide sufficient outdoor recreation facilities to allow the resident population of the Region adequate opportunities to participate in resource-oriented outdoor recreation activities.

	Principle 3
	Standard 3
	Objective 4: To provide sufficient outdoor recreation facilities to allow the resident population of the Region adequate opportunities to participate in trail-related and other extensive land-based outdoor recreation activities.

	Principle 4
	Standard 4

	Objective 5: To provide sufficient surface water access areas to allow the resident population of the Region adequate opportunities to participate in water-based outdoor recreation activities on major inland lakes and rivers and on Lake Michigan, cons...
	Principle 5
	Standard 5.1
	Standard 5.2

	Objective 6: To preserve sufficient high-quality open space land to protect the underlying and sustaining natural resource base and enhance the social and economic well-being, environmental quality, and biodiversityee of the Region.
	Principle 6
	A. Primary Environmental Corridors
	Principle 6.1
	Standard 6

	B. Natural Areas and Critical Species Habitats
	Principle 6.2
	Standard 6.1

	C. Prime Agricultural Lands
	Principle 6.3
	Standard 6.1.1
	Standard 6.1.2

	Objective 7: To satisfy outdoor recreation and related open space needs efficiently and economically while meeting all other objectives at the lowest possible cost.
	Principle 7
	Standard 7

	Footnotes
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix D

	5B - Chapla Park
	Chapla 1 Slide DG.pdf
	Slide 1




